Experimental comparisons among very rare to widespread plant species of Switzerland

Inauguraldissertation der Philosophisch-naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Bern

vorgelegt von

Hugo Vincent

aus Frankreich

Leiter der Arbeit:

Prof. Dr. Markus Fischer

Institute of Plant Sciences, Botanical Garden and Oeschger Centre

University of Bern

und

Dr. Anne Kempel

Institute of Plant Sciences, University of Bern

Institute of Forest Ecology and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Experimental comparisons among very rare to widespread plant species of Switzerland

Inauguraldissertation der Philosophisch-naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Universität Bern

vorgelegt von

Hugo Vincent

aus Frankreich

Leiter der Arbeit:

Prof. Dr. Markus Fischer

Institute of Plant Sciences, Botanical Garden and Oeschger Centre

University of Bern

und

Dr. Anne Kempel

Institute of Plant Sciences, University of Bern

Institute of Forest Ecology and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Von der Philosophisch-naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät angenommen

Der Dekan:

Bern, 07.06.2017

Prof. Dr. G. Colangelo

Public defense at the Institute of Plant Sciences, University of Bern June 7, 2017

Promotion committee

Prof. Dr. Markus Fischer Institute of Plant Sciences, Botanical Garden and Oeschger Centre University of Bern

> Prof. Dr. Mark van Kleunen Institute of Ecology University of Konstanz

Chairman

Prof. Dr. Willy Tinner Institute of Plant Sciences University of Bern

"Much to learn, you still have."

Master Yoda

Table of contents

Chapter 1	
General introduction	1
Chapter 2	
Experimental germination of 71 rare and widespread species of Switzerland	
suggests poorer germination of rarer species	11
Chapter 3	
Experimentally assessed heritabilities of plant traits do not indicate reduced	
evolutionary potential of 31 rare and endangered species of Switzerland, regardless	
of their degree of rarity	39
Chapter 4	
Rare species perform worse than widespread species under changed climate	61
Chapter 5	
Experimental introductions of eight rare and endangered plant species to the wild	
and the importance of genetic diversity for their success	79
Chapter 6	
Summary and general conclusions	95
References	101
Acknowledgements	117
Curriculum vitae	123

Chapter 1

General Introduction

Most species are rare, i.e. have low abundance or small ranges, and only few are widespread (Gaston 1994, Brown et al. 1996, McGill et al. 2007). This pattern appears to be a general rule for the frequency distributions of the geographic ranges of species, probably first pointed out by Willis in his book *Age and Area* (1922), where he termed it the "hollow curve of distribution". Decades earlier, however, the question had already emerged: "A species exists on a very small territory, another extends over vast areas, why?" (de Candolle, 1855). From the earliest biogeographers of the 19th century onward, generations of ecologists and evolutionary biologists have been fascinated by this question and it has led to a large body of theoretical and empirical work on rarity.

In addition to its fundamental interest, the understanding of drivers of species rarity or commonness is also of major concern for conservation. Caused by global changes, the current species extinction rate is estimated to be a thousand times greater than the ones estimated from the fossil record (MEA 2005), indicating that the world is experiencing its sixth mass extinction (Thomas et al. 2004a, Barnosky et al. 2011). Biodiversity loss in itself is a major driver of ecosystem change, and high species diversity has been shown to be essential to maintain ecosystem services within and across ecosystems (Isbell et al. 2011, Hooper et al. 2012, van der Plas et al. 2016). Thus, preserving high biodiversity is of utmost importance.

Understanding differences in species distributions and informing conservation both require to understand whether rare and more widespread species differ from each other in their population biology. This involves plant performance at various stages of their life cycles, including the earliest ones, phenotypic and genetic variation within species, the response of plants to environmental change, and the ability to establish at new sites.

Comparison of rare and widespread species and the study of seed and germination characteristics

Trait differences in the study of rarity

An important classical element of the study of plant rarity is to compare species environmental characteristics and life-history or functional traits between rare and widespread plant species, to reveal general patterns that could drive differences in abundance and distribution between species (Kunin & Gaston 1997, Gaston 1994, Bevill & Louda 1999). For instance, it has been shown that widespread species are generally larger (Murray et al. 2002, Lavergne et al. 2003, Cornwell & Ackerly

2010, Dawson et al. 2012), produce more and bigger flowers (Lavergne et al. 2004), are more competitive and grow faster (Murray et al. 2002), and respond more positively to increased nutrient availability (Dawson et al. 2012) than related rare species. These differences have important implications for rarity as they relate directly to the fitness of individuals and populations.

Differences in traits linked to dispersal and establishment

Traits related to the ability to disperse and establish, such as seed size or germination success, might also play a role in explaining species rarity (Kunin & Gaston 1997). However, while there are several comparisons between pairs of species or for larger sets of species (e.g. Murray et al. 2002), the evidence is not conclusive, possibly because these studies did not involve the rarest species of their study areas. Alternatively, it might be that different mechanisms lead to positive relationships between rarity and seed size in some cases and to negative ones in others. Widespread species may benefit from large seeds conveying them a competitive advantage, facilitating the establishment of new populations (Leishman et al. 2000, Moles & Westoby 2004, Baraloto et al. 2005, Metz et al. 2010). On the other hand, small-seeded species are expected to produce more seeds and disperse further, they are thus likely to expand their ranges further than species with larger seeds (Guo et al. 2000, Fenner & Thompson 2005). Studying variation in seed size in a single experiment involving multiple species, from very rare to very widespread ones, might reveal whether there is a general relationship between seed size and rarity.

Other traits related to establishment have received little attention. While some studies investigated a potential link between germination characteristics and rarity and found no general pattern, these studies were mostly limited to experiments comparing few species or pairs of rare and widespread species (e.g. Brown et al. 2003, Simon & Hay 2003, but see Luna & Moreno 2010). Thus it is not clear whether germination percentages, which directly relate to the fitness of individuals and populations, or the time of germination, which can increase performance and competitive ability through early germination (Verdú & Traverset 2005, Donohue et al. 2010), differ between rare and widespread species. It is also unclear whether very rare and more widespread species differ in seed dormancy and in their responses to seed stratification. In these contexts an experiment comparing germination characteristics for a large number of species, including very rare ones and related widespread species, is missing.

In addition to the fundamental interest in studying establishment traits of rare and widespread species, this is also essential for conservation as it informs ex-situ conservation programs and also matters largely for introductions of rare species to the wild.

Genetic diversity and evolutionary potential of rare and endangered species

Rare species may have lower genetic diversity than more widespread ones

Several studies have highlighted a generally reduced performance of rare species compared with more widespread ones (e.g. Murray et al. 2002, Lavergne et al. 2003, Dawson et al. 2012). While this may reflect important drivers of rarity, it might also be a consequence of rarity. Populations of the rarest and most endangered plant species are often smaller and more isolated than those of less rare and less endangered species, and thus might have reduced genetic diversity (Gaston 1994, Gaston 2003, Leimu et al. 2006). In small and isolated populations, limited gene flow, increased inbreeding depression and genetic drift (Fisher 1930, Ellstrand & Elam 1993) lead to reduced genetic variation and fitness (Leimu et al. 2006) and eventually contribute to the extinction of these populations (Charlesworth & Charlesworth 1987, Gilpin & Soulé 1986, Frankham 1995). Although environmental change and environmental stochasticity are major drivers of population extinctions (Lande 1993, Melbourne & Hastings 2008), most species are affected by genetic factors before they go extinct (Spielman et al. 2004). Understanding the relationship between rarity and genetic diversity is therefore of great importance for conservation biology.

Evolutionary potential of rare and endangered plant species

Studies based on molecular markers support the hypothesis that rarer species have lower genetic diversity (Karron 1987, Gitzendanner & Soltis 2000, He et al. 2000, Cole 2003, Edwards et al. 2014). Molecular markers can provide relevant information for the conservation of endangered species, e.g. on population structure, genotypic diversity, mating systems and inbreeding rates (Schaal et al. 1991, Storfer 1996, Frankham et al. 2014). However, most molecular markers are selectively neutral and therefore generally not well correlated with variation in ecologically important traits (Reed & Frankham 2011). In contrast, quantitative-genetic approaches combine information on the relatedness between individuals, inferred from markers or from pedigrees, with the study of phenotypic trait variation, often of traits that are directly relevant for plant functions or fitness (Schaal et al. 1991, Storfer 1996, Petit et al. 2001). Quantitative-genetic approaches also allow the estimation of narrowsense heritabilities of populations, which represent the amount of phenotypic variation between individuals that is due to additive genetic variation. As narrow-sense heritability reflects the proportion of variation that responds to selection, it indicates the evolutionary potential of populations (Fisher 1930, Falconer & Mackay 1996). If rare species have generally lower genetic diversity than more widespread ones, they might also have lower heritability, and might therefore be less able to adapt to potential changes in their environment.

In the context of global changes, populations of rare and endangered species may need to adapt to new environmental conditions to survive (Franks et al. 2013). Therefore knowledge on their evolutionary potential is crucial, and particularly important to inform both ex-situ and in-situ conservation measures (Cochrane et al. 2007, Menges 2008, Ensslin et al. 2015). Several studies have investigated quantitative trait variation and heritability in relation to rarity. However, these experimental studies used either only one or two rare species, e.g. Widén & Andersson (1993) and Petit et al. (2001), which does not inform on differences with more widespread species, or only a single pair of a rare and a related widespread species (Waldmann & Andersson 1998), which does not allow for general conclusions on the relationship between heritability and rarity. Whether the rarest and most endangered species generally have lower heritability, and thus lower evolutionary potential, than less rare and less endangered species, remains to be tested for a large number of species differing in their range size and threat of extinction, from very rare and threatened to widespread.

Rarity and tolerance to climate change

Adaptation and tolerance to climate change

Climate change, leading to the loss of climatically suitable area, is expected to become a major driver of species extinction (Thomas et al. 2004b, Thuiller et al. 2005, Pimm et al. 2014). To survive climate change, plant populations may migrate to keep track of favorable environmental conditions (Franks et al. 2013). However, plant migration may be limited, for instance by topographic boundaries or by habitat fragmentation (Jump & Peñuelas 2005). In addition, plant populations may also survive climate change by adapting to a new climate (Franks et al. 2013). However, to adapt in the long run populations must be able to persist for several generations, and thus they must initially be able to tolerate changes in climate. While many studies predict that species will shift their range in response to environmental modifications (e.g. Bakkenes et al. 2002, Thomas et al. 2004b), the fundamental climatic niche of species, which represents their initial ability to tolerate new climates, has rarely been taken into account in predictions of future species distributions under changed climate. To determine the fundamental climatic niche of species, experiments are needed where species are grown under a wide range of different climatic conditions.

Niche breadth hypothesis and tolerance to climate change

It is assumed that species with a greater range size, i.e. more widespread species, experience a larger range of ecological and climatic conditions, and thus are more able to tolerate different environmental conditions than species with a smaller range size, i.e. rarer species (Brown 1984, Gaston 2003). This

was already suggested by Darwin (1859) in the *Origin of species*, referring to earlier studies: "Alph. de Candolle and others have shown that plants which have very wide ranges generally present varieties; and this might have been expected, as they become exposed to diverse physical conditions [...]." Slatyer et al. (2013) showed in a meta-analysis that a smaller niche breadth of rare species than of widespread ones indeed seems to be a general pattern. If rare species have a smaller niche breadth than widespread ones, they are likely to be less tolerant to environmental changes than widespread species. However, the tolerance of individual populations to climate change is unknown, and we lack knowledge on whether populations of more widespread species are more tolerant to climatic variation, i.e. whether they have a larger fundamental climatic niche, than populations of more rare and endangered species do.

To our knowledge, experimental studies on the fundamental niche of rare, endangered species and widespread species are scarce (but see Brändle et al. 2003, Luna et al. 2012), and no study has linked plant rarity to the tolerance of plant populations to altered climates. This information is essential to predict the impact of the ongoing climate change on plant species extinction, and to develop relevant conservation measures focusing on species which are likely to be more affected by climate change.

Introductions of rare and endangered species to the wild

As many as half of the plant species may be threatened with extinction because of human-driven global changes (Pitman & Jørgensen 2002). To preserve endangered plant species, habitat protection and restoration are considered as the most important conservation measures (Maunder 1992). However, their efficiency may be strongly reduced by dispersal limitations due to habitat fragmentation. Thus, introductions, i.e. deliberate actions to release organisms into natural habitat, are an increasingly used conservation technique (Wolf et al. 1996, Vergeer et al. 2004, Menges 2008). Introductions aim to reinforce the size and genetic diversity of existing, often declining populations, or to establish self-sustaining populations having sufficient genetic diversity to allow adaptation to environmental changes (Wolf et al. 1996, Guerrant & Kaye 2007). They are, however, often considered as labour-intensive and unsuccessful (Maunder 1992, Guerrant & Kaye 2007, Godefroid et al. 2011, Maschinski & Haskins 2012).

Effect of genetic diversity on the success of endangered plant species introductions

Among the main factors considered to affect the success of rare and endangered plant species introductions is the genetic diversity of the introduced propagules (Vergeer et al. 2005, Menges 2008, Maschinski & Haskins 2012). High genetic diversity is likely to enhance fitness and survival of

populations, by increasing the probability of having genotypes pre-adapted to future perturbations (Gamfeldt & Källström 2007, Prati et al. 2016) or by preventing inbreeding depression in small and isolated populations (Charlesworth & Charlesworth 1987, Ellstrand & Elam 1993). Nevertheless, the evidence of a positive effect of increased genetic diversity on the success of rare species introductions remains limited. Forsman (2013) found a positive relationship between genetic diversity and establishment success in a meta-analysis including nine plant studies, none of which involved rare and endangered plant species, however. Vergeer et al. (2005) and Prati et al. (2016) conducted experimental introductions in natural habitats of the endangered plants *Arnica montana* and *Ranunculus reptans*, respectively, and showed increased persistence of introduced populations as experiments is crucial to understand factors leading to their failure or success (Guerrant & Kaye 2007, Godefroid et al. 2011). However, to our knowledge, the feasibility of introductions and the effect of increased genetic diversity on their success has not been tested yet in an experimental study in natural conditions involving several rare and endangered plant species.

This thesis

Rarity is a complex phenomenon and after nearly three centuries of scientific studies, it still appears difficult to disclose general patterns in differences between rare and widespread species. This may be due to most experimental studies investigating species differences in traits or responses to environmental factors defining rarity only coarsely as a two-level categorical variable, e.g. "rare" or "widespread", which may not address all the complexity of species abundances and distributions, as rarity is essentially continuous (Gaston 1994). Also, this may further be due to studies often being conducted with a single, or a few, pairs of rare and widespread species. While this approach is useful to inform conservation of the study species themselves, multi-species experiments are needed to provide answers at a general level (van Kleunen et al. 2014).

This thesis aims at contributing to our understanding of differences between rare and widespread species, and to provide scientific knowledge informing conservation in the context of global changes. With more than a third of its vascular plants being threatened with extinction (Bornand et al. 2016) and a high diversity of habitats (Landolt et al. 2010, Delarze et al. 2015), Switzerland offers a great opportunity to address these questions with native species in experimental and natural conditions. To do so, we performed multi-species experiments with a large number of species from 18 plant families, differing in their rarity and in their conservation status in Switzerland, also involving very rare and

critically endangered species. Further, our study species represented a great diversity of life forms, and covered a wide altitudinal gradient, thus a wide range of climates and habitat types, going for instance from low altitude marshlands to high alpine environments.

In Chapter 2, we tested whether plant species differing in their rarity, i.e. continuously distributed along a gradient of range sizes, also differ in their seed mass and germination characteristics. We weighed the seeds of 39 rare and 32 widespread species of Switzerland, germinated them and recorded seedling emergence to calculate germination percentages, time of germination and half-germination time. Additionally, seeds of the rare species received a stratification-by-cold treatment to test whether more or less rare and endangered species differ in seed dormancy and whether rarer and more endangered species benefit more from stratifying. As seed mass and germination characteristics are linked to plant fitness and establishment ability, they are relevant for understanding differences between rare and widespread species. Moreover, their study represents knowledge directly valuable for ex-situ and in-situ conservation.

In Chapter 3, we investigated the relationship between rarity and evolutionary potential of populations of 31 species differing in range size, IUCN category of threat (Moser et al. 2002) and priority for conservation in Switzerland (FOEN 2011). For each species we obtained seeds of known maternal origin and grew the plants in a common garden. We measured quantitative traits related to reproduction, resource use, size and performance, and calculated narrow-sense heritability for each species and trait. Narrow-sense heritability, i.e. the proportion of phenotypic variation that is due to additive genetic variance, represents the evolutionary potential of populations. Rare species often occur in small or isolated populations and are therefore expected to have lower genetic diversity. We thus hypothesized that the rarest and most endangered species have lower heritabilities than less rare and less endangered species, which may have important consequences for the future of populations and their conservation in the light of global changes.

In Chapter 4, we studied whether rarer species are able to tolerate climate change equally well than more widespread species. To simulate climate change, we transplanted 35 plant species, continuously distributed along a gradient of range sizes, to five botanical gardens in Switzerland differing in altitude and climatic conditions. For each species we calculated how different the climate, i.e. mean temperature and mean amount of precipitation, was between their natural habitats and the novel climate of the respective botanical garden. We investigated the relationship between rarity, climatic difference, and plant performance and survival. Rarer species are expected to have narrower niche breadth, i.e. to tolerate a narrower range of environmental conditions, than more widespread species.

Therefore rarer species might have reduced survival and performance than more widespread ones when the climatic conditions are different from their natural habitat, which would indicate a higher susceptibility and vulnerability to climate change for rare and endangered plant species.

In Chapter 5, we investigated the feasibility of introductions of rare and endangered plant species, and the effect of increased genetic diversity on their success. In the framework of the MSc thesis of Deborah Schäfer, we performed introductions of eight species threatened with extinction in Switzerland, in natural sites which were selected in collaboration with field botanists and conservation practitioners. Increased genetic diversity is expected to have a positive effect on the fitness of populations. To test whether increased genetic diversity has a positive effect on the success of the introductions, we established plots of higher genetic diversity and plots of lower genetic diversity in each introduced population. We monitored the introduced populations for two years to assess whether establishing viable new populations of endangered plant species was possible, and we studied the effect of genetic diversity on the success of the introductions.

Finally in Chapter 6, I present a summary of the most important findings of this thesis and draw general conclusions concerning differences among very rare to widespread species, highlighting threats to rare and endangered plant species in the context of global changes and information relevant for their successful conservation.

Chapter 2

Experimental germination of 71 rare and widespread species of Switzerland suggests poorer germination of rarer species

Hugo Vincent, Anne Kempel and Markus Fischer

Abstract

Little is known about potential differences in seed and germination characteristics between very rare and widespread plant species. However, seed and germination characteristics matter largely for fitness, population growth and ultimately species abundance and distribution. Moreover, scientific knowledge on the germination of rare and endangered species is essential for plant conservation, in particular for ex-situ living collections and for introductions of endangered plant species to the wild. In this study, we weighed and germinated seeds of 39 rare and 32 widespread species of Switzerland, continuously distributed along a gradient of range sizes. Additionally, seeds of the rare species received a stratification by cold treatment to test whether more or less rare species differ in seed dormancy and whether rarer species benefit more from stratifying. We monitored seedling emergence for two months, until no further seedlings emerged, and tested whether seed mass, germination percentage, time of germination and half-germination time are related to species range size. Rarer species did not have lower seed mass, time of germination and half-germination time, but they had a significantly lower germination percentage than more widespread ones (+0.05% of germinated seeds per unit of range size). While germination was enhanced by stratifying for all rare species, this was not related to their range size or their IUCN category of threat. We conclude that germination is reduced for rarer species, and that experimental germination is nevertheless possible even for very rare species, which indicates that successful ex-situ living collections and potential introductions to the wild are possible for these species.

Introduction

Investigating and understanding differences between rare and widespread species is a challenge of great interest for ecologists and evolutionary biologists, and it provides essential knowledge for the conservation of rare and endangered species in a changing world (Kunin & Gaston 1997, Gaston 2000). Many studies aimed to identify general patterns of differences between rare and widespread plant species that might drive plant rarity. It has for instance been shown that widespread species are generally larger (Murray et al. 2002, Lavergne et al. 2003, Cornwell & Ackerly 2010, Dawson et al. 2012), produce more and bigger flowers (Lavergne et al. 2004), are more competitive and grow faster (Murray et al. 2002), respond more positively to increased nutrient availability (Dawson et al. 2012) and have a broader climatic niche (Vincent et al., Chapter 4) than related rarer species.

One important question is whether rare species and widespread species differ in seed mass. Species with large seeds generally produce larger seedlings, giving them a competitive advantage (Leishman et al. 2000, Moles & Westoby 2004, Baraloto et al. 2005, Metz et al. 2010), and may allocate more resources to stress tolerance (Moles & Westoby 2004, Fenner & Thompson 2005, Muller-Landau 2010). Species with large seeds are also suggested to suffer less from conspecific negative density dependence during early recruitment (Lebrija-Trejos et al. 2016) than species with smaller seeds. On the other hand, small-seeded species are expected to produce more seeds, disperse further, persist longer in seed banks (Guo et al. 2000) and may have advantages in defense against seed predators (Fricke & Wright 2016). Differences in seed mass could therefore drive plant rarity, where widespread species might either benefit from larger seeds (conveying them a competitive advantage) or from smaller seeds (conveying them a dispersal advantage). Murray et al. (2002) reported results of 17 studies which mostly found no difference in seed size between rare and widespread species, and there was no consistent pattern between studies, possibly because these studies did not involve the rarest species of their study areas. Studying variation in seed size in a single experiment involving multiple species, from very rare to very widespread ones, might reveal whether there is a relationship between seed size and rarity.

Another important, but hardly investigated, question is whether seeds of rare species have lower germination percentages and germinate slower than seeds of more widespread species. As these traits are directly linked to the fitness of individuals and populations, they might well differ between rare and widespread plant species. Profuse germination might have positive effects on population growth, as more seedlings increase the probability of maintaining or even increasing population size, and colonizing new sites. A large germination niche, i.e. possible germination under a wide range of environmental conditions, might allow species to occupy many niches and to become more widespread than species with special germination requirements (Baker 1965). In turn, poor

germination might not only be a driver of plant rarity, but also a consequence of having restricted ranges with small and isolated populations, where negative effects on plant fitness due to low genetic diversity are more likely to occur than in large populations (Ellstrand & Elam 1993, Gaston 2003, Leimu et al. 2006). Fast germination is suggested to be particularly beneficial in competitive environments (Ross & Harper 1972, Weiner 1985, Dyer et al. 2000, Smith et al. 2000, Donohue et al. 2010) and to allow plants to accumulate more resources due to a longer growing period which might positively affect fitness (Verdú & Traverset 2005). Both germination percentages and time of germination might therefore be inversely related to the rarity of species. The presence or absence of seed dormancy might also differ between rare and widespread plant species. Seed dormancy aims to reduce the risk of germination at a time where the conditions for germination and establishment are not met (Fenner & Thompson 2005, Donohue et al. 2010, Hoyle et al. 2015). Another strategy to overcome such unfavorable germination conditions is efficient dispersal in space. Seed dormancy and dispersal ability have therefore been suggested to trade off with each other (Lokesha et al. 1992, Rees 1996). If rare species are dispersal limited (Hanski et al. 1993, Gaston 2003), they might show stronger seed dormancy than widespread species. However, only few studies addressed differences in germination characteristics in the context of rarity, and found no relationship with rarity, e.g. Brown et al. (2003) comparing five Australian Acacia tree species and Burmeier & Jensen (2008) on the temperate species Apium repens. To our knowledge, the relationship between germination characteristics and rarity has never been tested in a single experimental study involving multiple temperate species.

The study of seed and germination characteristics is essential for the conservation of rare and endangered plant species. Preserving at least 75% of the threatened plant species in ex-situ collections (i.e. outside of their natural environment, for instance in seed or living collections) is one of the goals of the Global Strategy for Plant Conservation (SCBD, 2010), and the use of botanical gardens in the conservation of endangered plant species is widely recognized (Donaldson 2009). To prevent ex-situ populations from suffering from the genetic consequences of growing in small and fragmented populations in botanical gardens (Ensslin et al. 2011), large and genetically diverse living collections are needed. Ex-situ material is also used in introductions of endangered plant species to natural habitats (Guerrant & Kaye 2007). Godefroid et al. (2011) suggest that the success of such introductions can be improved with an increased knowledge of the species' biology, by using larger numbers of propagules and they recommend using seedlings rather than seeds due to potentially low recruitment. The artificial use of stratification methods, mimicking natural germination triggers to break seed dormancy, might increase the germination success of rare and endangered plant species (Donohue et al. 2010, Hoyle et al. 2015). Thus, understanding whether and how rare and widespread species differ in their seed and germination characteristics is crucial to inform managers of living ex-situ collections and to increase the success of introductions to the wild.

We compared seed and germination characteristics of 71 species of differing rarity in Switzerland, also involving very rare and endangered species of high conservation priority in Switzerland (Moser et al. 2002, Bornand et al. 2016). More widespread species might benefit from larger or smaller seed masses, and higher germination success than rarer species, which might explain why they are widespread. Rarer species might be expected to germinate less well than more widespread species, and show more pronounced seed dormancy. We also tested whether stratification of seeds improves germination success of rare and endangered plant species, and whether this depends on their range size and their IUCN category of threat. By studying many rare and widespread species in a single experiment we aimed to address the links between germination traits and plant rarity at a general scale, with a view to inform the conservation of rare and endangered species.

Material & Methods

Study species

We acquired seeds of 71 plant species from 17 plant families (see Table S1). Thirty-nine of those species are of priority for conservation in Switzerland (Moser et al. 2002, List of Priority Species at the National Level FOEN 2011) and we classified them as 'rare' *a priori*. Thirty-two of them are rather widespread and are not of priority for conservation in Switzerland, and we classified them as 'widespread'. Seeds of the rare plant species were collected in the wild in 2011 (seeds of 10-20 mother plants of one population, hereafter called seed families), and seeds of the widespread species were obtained from commercial seed suppliers (Rieger-Hofmann GmbH, Germany and UFA Samen, Switzerland) or collected in the wild (seeds of *Sedum alpestre*). The rare and widespread species are congeneric or confamiliar pairs from similar habitats, and were selected with the help of botanists (Info Flora, hosted by the Botanical Gardens of Bern and Geneva, Switzerland) to represent a wide range of rarities and species habitat characteristics.

Rarity was assessed according to two categorical variables: rarity status, i.e. rare or widespread species, and IUCN category (Near Threatened (NT), Vulnerable (VU), Endangered (EN), and Critically Endangered (CR); Moser et al. 2002, FOEN 2011, Table S1). We also defined rarity as a continuous variable using the range size of the species in Switzerland. Range size was defined as the number of 10 x 10 km grid cells occupied by a given species in Switzerland (data provided by Info Flora, Bern and Geneva, Switzerland; also see Bornand 2014). We used range size in Switzerland because a continuous measure of European range sizes for our species is not yet available. However, for a subset of 48 species for which European range size is available, Swiss and European range sizes were positively correlated (r = 0.487, p < 0.001, see Text S1).

Experimental design

We assessed seed masses by weighing 25 seeds per species (and per seed family for the rare species) to the nearest 0.001g. If fewer than 25 seeds were available we weighed as many seeds as possible. We calculated the mean seed mass per species (referred to in the following as 'seed mass'). At the end of February 2012, we sowed two portions of 25 seeds for each seed family of the 39 rare species in two 0.8-L pots filled with standard potting soil (Ricoter, Aarberg, Switzerland). We watered the pots, covered them with plastic foil and placed them at 4°C for two months to receive a stratification treatment. At the beginning of April 2012 we sowed another two portions of 25 seeds for each seed family of the rare species in two pots which were not cold-stratified. For some species for which we could not obtain four times 25 seeds per seed family, we divided the number of available seeds in four equal portions. The stratification treatment allowed us to test whether species differ in their seed dormancies and whether this is related to the rarity of the species.

Additionally, for each of the 32 widespread species we sowed six portions of 25 seeds in six 0.8 L pots. We transported all pots to a greenhouse (Muri, close to Bern, Switzerland) and placed them randomly in six blocks (2 columns, 3 rows) spaced by approximately 40 centimeters. To account for spatial heterogeneity in our greenhouse, we recorded the position of the pots (defined by the number of the row and of the column). We watered the plants when needed.

We counted the number of emerged seedlings (with visible cotyledons) three times a week for a period of 57 days, until all seeds were germinated or new seedlings no longer emerged (Fig. S1). For each pot we then calculated the number of days until the first seedling emerged (time of germination), the day at which at least half of the seeds had germinated (half-germination time) and the total proportion of germinated seeds (germination percentage).

Statistical analysis

We tested whether there was a phylogenetic signal in seed mass, germination percentage, and time of germination for our 71 species using a dated phylogeny from the Daphne tree database (Durka & Michalski 2012). We used the function *phylosignal* from the package *picante* (version 1.6-2, see Blomberg et al. 2003). We found a low phylogenetic signal for seed mass (K = 0.3856, p < 0.001), germination percentage (K = 0.1505, p = 0.008) and time of germination (K = 0.1501, p = 0.015). Therefore we accounted for the relatedness between our species in our analysis. We did this by fitting species identity nested into plant family as random factor, because this allowed us to include further random terms in our statistical model, which would not have been possible with phylogenetically corrected models.

Habitat characteristics such as water availability, temperature and light availability have been shown to strongly affect seed and germination traits (Grime et al. 1981, Pons 2000, Fenner & Thompson 2005,

Pakeman et al. 2008, Baskin & Baskin 2014). Because our species come from different habitats which could have potentially selected for different traits and strategies, we considered abiotic habitat characteristics to account for variation in seed and germination traits not related to species rarity. For each species, we obtained three environmental indicator values (water, temperature and light availability) from the Flora Indicativa (in the following referred to as 'Landolt values', see Landolt et al. 2010). Landolt values describe the optima of occurrence along these environmental gradients on a five-point scale, with five indicating the wettest, warmest and brightest conditions, respectively. We included moisture, temperature and light Landolt values as covariates in our statistical models.

To test whether rare and widespread plant species differ in their seed masses (log-transformed to approximate a normal distribution), germination percentages, times of germination, and half germination times, we first compared them with linear mixed models (*Imer*, Ime4 package, version 1.1-6, Bates & Maechler 2014), including Landolt values as covariates, rarity status (rare or widespread) as explanatory variable, and species identity nested into plant family and the position of the pots in the greenhouse as the random terms.

In a second analysis we tested whether plant species differ in their seed masses, germination percentages, times of germination and half-germination times, along a gradient of range sizes, i.e. with range size in Switzerland as a continuous measure of rarity. For each of the four response variables, we analyzed the data with *lmer* models including Landolt values as covariates, range size as explanatory variable, and species identity nested into plant family and the position of the pots in the greenhouse as random terms.

The status 'rare or widespread' of our plant species is confounded with the origin of the seeds (seeds of all rare species were collected in the wild and seeds of most of the widespread species were obtained from seed suppliers). Seeds obtained from commercial suppliers might show a higher germination percentage and faster germination (Chrobock et al. 2011) than seeds collected in wild populations, and long-term cultivation of species in gardens can affect germination characteristics (Ensslin et al. 2011). Therefore, in a third analysis we included the origin of the seeds (collected in natural populations or commercial seeds) as covariate in the *Imer* models to correct for a potential bias.

We also tested whether the stratification treatment in the subset of the rare species affected germination percentage, time of germination and half-germination time, and whether the effect of stratification was related to the rarity of the species. To describe the effect of stratification we calculated the log-response ratio (LRR) of the stratification treatment as $LRR = ln\left(\frac{\overline{x_1}}{\overline{x_2}}\right)$, where $\overline{x_1}$ is the mean germination percentage, time of germination or half-germination time, respectively, for the species that had been stratified, and $\overline{x_2}$ is the mean response value for the control pots (i.e. rare species without stratification treatment). A LRR > 0 indicates that the seeds of a species had a higher

germination percentage with the stratification treatment; LRR < 0 indicates that the seeds of a species had a higher germination percentage without stratification; LRR = 0 indicates that there was no difference between stratification treatment and control. We first compared mean germination percentage, time of germination and half-germination time between the pots that had received a germination treatment and control. To test whether the LRR, i.e. the strength of the stratification effect, was related to the rarity of the species, we used *Imer* models including the LRR of the stratification treatment as response variable, range size as explanatory variable, Landolt values as covariates, and plant family as random term. To test whether the LRR of the stratification treatment differed between IUCN categories (NT: n = 10 species; VU: n = 18; EN: n = 5; CR: n= 6), we compared the mean LRR values per IUCN category using post-hoc *TukeyHSD* tests in *aov* models, including the LRR of the stratification treatment as response variable and IUCN category as explanatory variable. For all statistical analyses, we used R (version 3.3.2, R Core Team, 2016). We simplified the full models by removing non-significant terms and we determined significances using likelihood-ratio tests comparing models with and without the factor of interest.

Results

Rare species germinated less abundantly than widespread species, and tended to have smaller seeds and to germinate more slowly than widespread species. Half-time of germination did not differ between rare and widespread species (Table 1a, Fig. 1).

When we considered rarity as a continuous variable, a significantly positive relationship between range size and germination percentage also indicated that more widespread species germinate better than rarer species (Table 1b, Fig. 2b). Seed mass, time of germination and half-germination time were not related to range size (Table 1b, Figure 2a, c, d).

Species whose seeds were collected in natural populations (i.e. rare species) had a lower seed mass than species whose seeds were obtained from commercial suppliers (Table 1c). When we accounted for the different origin of the seeds (collected in the wild or commercial seeds), the positive relationship between range size and germination percentage remained significant, suggesting that the relationship was not simply due to a confounding effect between plant rarity and seed origin. Time of germination and half-germination time were not related to range size (Table 1c).

Species originating from habitats with high light availability had higher germinated percentages, faster times of germination and half-germination times than species originating from habitats with low light

Table 1. Results summary of tests of the relationship between rarity and seed mass, germination percentage and time of germination. The linear mixed models in a) included rarity status (rare or
widespread) as explanatory variable and Landolt values as covariates; in b) included range size as explanatory variable and Landolt values as covariates; in c) included range size as explanatory
variable, Landolt values and origin of the seeds (collected in the wild or commercial seeds) as covariates. All models also included three random terms, species identity nested into plant family to
account for the taxonomic relatedness of our species, and the position of the pots in the greenhouse. We removed all non-significant terms and give estimates only for the significant and marginally
significant terms. Variances of the random terms are given for each model. Estimates related to seed mass are given x10 ⁻² .

		U)	sed mass		Germin	ation percei	ntage	Time	of germinati	ion	Half-g	ermination t	me
		estimate	p-value	Chi ²	estimate	p-value	Chi ²	estimate	p-value	Chi ²	estimate	p-value	Chi ²
a)	Moisture	I	0.676	0.17	I	0.561	0.34	·	0.349	0.87	ı	0.639	0.22
	Temperature	I	0.479	0.49	I	0.276	1.19	ı	0.166	1.19	-3.18	0.018^{*}	5.58
	Light	I	0.497	0.46	12.9	0.009**	6.74	-7.16	<0.001***	14.0	-10.7	<0.001***	14.8
	Rarity status	-0.09	0.052	3.77	-14.9	0.011^{*}	6.41	3.93	0.062	3.46	I	0.319	0.99
	Family/Species		<0.001			480.8			49.83			65.13	
	Family		<0.001			309.8			38.24			ı	
	Position of the pot		<0.001			3.643			0.481			ı	
q)	Moisture	ı	0.663	0.19	ı	0.587	0.29	ı	0.368	0.81	ı	0.650	0.21
	Temperature	I	0.451	0.57	ı	0.291	1.11	·	0.193	1.69	-3.18	0.018^{*}	5.55
	Light	ı	0.331	0.94	12.7	0.011^{*}	6.42	-6.19	<0.001***	12.59	-10.5	<0.001***	14.3
	Range size	I	0.407	0.69	0.05	0.016^{*}	5.75	ı	0.189	1.72	I	0.463	0.54
	Family/Species		<0.001			489.8			52.76			62.47	
	Family		<0.001			297.7			36.61				
	Position of the pot		<0.001			3.660			0.549				
c)	Moisture	1	0.698	0.15	ı	0.573	0.38	ı	0.327	0.96	ı	0.632	0.22
	Temperature	ı	0.433	0.61	I	0.283	1.15	ı	0.146	2.11	-3.22	0.018^{*}	5.60
	Light	I	0.399	0.71	12.7	0.008**	6.93	-6.18	<0.001***	14.1	-10.0	<0.001***	14.7
	Origin of the												
	seeds	-0.09	0.020*	5.40	I	0.33	0.95	I	0.161	1.96	I	0.486	0.48
	Range size	ı	0.128	2.31	0.05	0.016^{*}	5.75		0.189	1.72	·	0.463	0.54
	Family/Species		<0.001			489.8			52.75			64.08	
	Family		<0.001			297.7			36.61			ı	
	Position of the pot		<0.001			3.66			0.549			ı	

Figure 1. Differences between rare and widespread species in their a) mean seed mass, b) mean germination percentage, c) mean time of germination and d) half-germination time, with standard errors. Rare species had lower percentages of seeds germinating than widespread species, tended to have smaller seeds and to germinate slower than widespread species. Half-germination time did not vary between rare and widespread species (see Table 1a for summaries of the related statistical models).



Figure 2. Relationship of species range size with a) seed mass, b) germination percentage, c) time of germination and d) halftime of germination. Each point represents the mean value for an individual species. Species whose seeds were collected in the wild are indicated with black dots, species whose seeds where purchased from commercial supplied are indicated with grey dots. The dashed line in b) indicates the positive relationship between range size and germination percentage (Table 2b).



availability. Half-germination time was significantly shorter for species originating from habitats with warmer temperatures. Water availability in the species natural habitat did not affect any of the response variables (Table 1).

Seeds of the rare species that had received the stratification treatment had a higher germination percentage (t = 1.9, df = 78, p = 0.028, Fig. 3a) and germinated faster (time of germination: t = 3.0, df = 67, p = 0.002, Fig. 3b; half-germination time: t = 2.4, df = 78, p = 0.009, Fig. 3c) than control seeds, indicating a positive effect of stratification on the germination of rare species (Fig. S2). The effect of stratification on germination percentage and time of germination was not related to the range size of the rare species (Table 2, Fig. 3a, b). The effect of stratification on half-time of germination was marginally significantly affected by range size, i.e. stratification tended to shorten half-germination time more for the rare species (Table 2, Fig. 3c). Moisture, temperature and light availability in the original habitat of the rare species were not related to the response (LRR) of any of the germination variables to the stratification treatments.

Table 2. Results summary of tests of the relationship between the effect of the stratification treatment on germination percentage, time of germination and half-germination time, respectively, and range size. Landolt values were added to the models as covariates, and plant family was added as a random term to account for the taxonomic relatedness of our species. We removed all non-significant terms and we give estimates only for the marginally significant term. Variance of the random term is given for each model.

	LRR Germination percentage			LRR Tim	ne of germir	ation	LRR Half-germination time		
	estimate	p-value	Chi2	estimate	p-value	Chi2	estimate	p-value	Chi2
Moisture	-	0.769	0.08	-	0.331	0.94	-	0.410	0.68
Temperature	-	0.591	0.29	-	0.694	0.15	-	0.173	1.86
Light	-	0.769	0.09	-	0.674	0.18	-	0.451	0.57
Range size	-	0.998	0.00	-	0.139	2.19	0.004	0.062 [.]	3.48
Family		0.396			0.350			0.028	

Figure 3. Relationship of species range size with the effect of a cold-stratification treatment (Log Response Ratio, LRR) on a) germination percentage, b) time of germination and c) half-germination time. Each dot represents one of 39 rare species. Overall, stratification significantly increased germination percentage and decreased time of germination and half-germination time independently of range size (Table 2).



Species of the IUCN categories NT, VU and CR did not differ from each other in their response to stratification for any of the responses studied (Fig. 4). Species of the category EN showed a significantly higher germination percentage in response to stratification than species from all other categories, however (Fig. 4a) Further, species of the category EN tended to have shorter germination times and half-germination times in response to the stratification treatment than species from all other categories (Fig. 4b, c; see Table S2 for the statistics of the *TukeyHSD* tests). Overall, these results indicate that more rare or more threatened species do not benefit systematically more from stratification by cold treatment than less rare or less threatened species. However, across all rare species stratification significantly improved germination success.

Figure 4. Relationship between the IUCN status of a species and the mean effect of a cold-stratification treatment (Log Response Ratio, LRR) on a) germination percentage, b) time of germination and c) half-germination time. NT: Near Threatened, n = 10 species; VU: Vulnerable, n = 18; EN: Endangered, n = 5; CR: Critically Endangered, n = 6; different letters represent significant differences between the categories according to *TukeyHSD* tests (Table S2).



Discussion

Rare species germinate less abundantly than widespread species

Comparing seed mass and germination characteristics of 71 plant species (39 rare species and 32 widespread species in Switzerland) we found that rare species have a lower germination percentage than widespread species (Table 1a, Fig. 1b). Also, when we expressed rarity as a continuous variable, we found that species with larger range sizes germinated better than species with restricted ranges, and this relationship remained significant when we accounted for the possibly confounding origin of the seeds (Table 1b, c, Fig. 2b). Although many authors have suggested trait differences between widespread and rare species (e.g. Kunin & Gaston 1997, Murray et al. 2002), only few studies compared germination characteristics of related widespread and rare species. Of those, most found no difference in germination between rare and widespread species (Witkowski & Lamont 1997, Anderson 1980, Fiedler 1987, reviewed in Murray et al. 2002). In a data base survey, Thompson & Ceriani (2003) found no relationship between range size and the germination niche width of 175 plant species (defined as the temporal span in which these species can germinate) of the United Kingdom flora. Unfortunately, these authors did not provide the minimal and maximal range size spanned by the species in their study, leaving it open whether they also involved very rare and very widespread species. On the other hand, in an experimental study Brown et al. (2003) found lower germination for two rare species than for three related widespread species of the genus Acacia. The lower germination percentage of rare species in our study might reflect that rarer species often have a smaller germination niche breadth (Brown 1984, Slatyer et al. 2013, but see Thompson & Ceriani 2003) than more widespread species, i.e. special germination requirements, which might not have been met in our experiment. More widespread species, on the contrary, might be able to fulfill germination requirements in many environments. Accordingly, Brändle et al. (2003) found a positive correlation between range size and germination niche breadth of 31 weedy plant species. Another possible explanation for the overall lower germination of rare species in our study might be that rare species are more likely to carry a larger deleterious genetic load which could negatively affect their germination, as they are expected to occur in smaller and more isolated populations than more widespread species do (Charlesworth & Charlesworth 1987, Ellstrand & Elam 1993, Leimu et al. 2006).

Overall, our study, based on the large number of 71 species covering 17 plant families, suggests lower germination percentages of rare species than of widespread species as a general pattern. While we cannot disentangle whether the lower germination in rarer species reflects a cause or a consequence of plant rarity, this finding has important implications. A lower germination percentage of rarer species implies that particular attention should be paid to the germination conditions of rare plants in ex-situ cultivations, and therefore stresses the importance of studying the biology of rare plant species before

developing conservation measures. Also, to increase the success of introductions, more seeds should be used for rarer species than for more widespread ones to compensate for their lower germination percentage.

No difference in seed mass and time of germination along a gradient of range sizes

In our study rare species tended to have lower seed masses than widespread species, but this difference was only marginally significant (Table 1a, Fig. 1a). Large seeds generally represent an advantage in terms of competitive ability and stress tolerance (Leishman et al. 2000, Moles & Westoby 2004, Baraloto et al. 2005, Metz et al. 2010, Muller-Landau 2010, Lebrija-Trejos 2016). The origin of the seeds (collected in natural populations or purchased from a commercial supplier) was confounded with the rarity status of our species (rare or widespread), which may even have induced the marginally significant difference in seed mass, because of potential artificial selection exerted by the commercial supplier (Chrobock et al. 2011). However, recent studies using seeds from the same commercial supplier, which produces seeds for ecological restoration, found a substantial amount of genetic differentiation and regional adaptation among different seed origins (Bucharova et al. 2016, Durka et al. 2016), suggesting that seeds provided by this company are unlikely to differ from seeds directly collected in natural populations. Nevertheless, as we cannot fully disentangle the confounded effects of seed origin and rarity status, we suggest that further studies should use seeds of the same origin. When we expressed rarity as range size, seed mass was not related to plant rarity (Table 1b, c, Fig. 2a). Murray et al. (2002) reported results of 17 studies which mostly found no difference in seed size between rare and widespread species, concordant with our findings.

Fast germination can increase plant performance both at the seedling and reproductive stages (Fenner & Thompson 2005, Verdú & Traverset 2005, Donohue et al. 2010, Baskin & Baskin 2014). In our study, seeds of rare species tended to germinate more slowly than the ones of widespread species (Table 1a, Fig. 1c), which might suggest that they are at disadvantage under strong interspecific competition or habitat heterogeneity (Dyer et al. 2000, Turkington et al. 2005). However, when rarity was expressed in terms of range size, time of germination did not differ between species of different range sizes (Table 1b, c, Fig. 2c).

Thus our results of widespread species tending to have larger seed masses and faster germination than rare species were rather inconclusive and even disappeared when rarity was express as range size. Hence we suggest that variation in seed mass and time of germination are not of high relevance for explaining rarity, and that these traits are not the most important to consider for conservation of rare and endangered plant species.

Stratification increases germination success of the rare species

Importantly, over all rare species we found strong and significant effects of the stratification treatment increasing germination percentages, reducing times of germination and half-germination times (Fig. 3). This suggests that stratification by a simple cold treatment could be used to greatly increase the germination success of rare and endangered plant species in the context of ex-situ cultivations or introductions, even if their specific dormancy-breaking requirements are not known.

As rare plants are suggested to be more limited by dispersal than more widespread plants (Hanski et al. 1993, Gaston 2003) and as good dispersal ability has been suggested to select against seed dormancy (Lokesha et al. 1992, Rees 1996) we would have expected rarer species to respond more strongly to dormancy-breaking stratification. Although we studied effects of stratification for a subset of as many as 39 rare species differing in their degree of rarity, we did not find any relationship between range size and the effect of stratification on germination percentage, time of germination and half-germination time (Table 2, Fig. 3), suggesting that very rare species do not benefit more from dormancy-breaking stratification than less rare species.

Species listed as EN benefited more from the stratification treatment than species listed as NT, VU and CR (Table S2, Fig. 4). This was likely driven by three EN species which showed particularly strong responses to stratification and might therefore not reflect an effect associated to this particular IUCN category. *Juncus castaneus* grows in subalpine habitats, with very variable humidity conditions, *Nigella arvensis* and *Polycnemum majus* grow in early succession habitats and as weeds in cultivated fields (Landolt et al. 2010, Lauber et al. 2012). High environmental variation, and the necessity of a precise timing of germination to avoid frost or competition with other species are indeed especially likely to select for seed dormancy (Fenner & Thompson 2005). Based on these considerations we do not interpret our results on enhanced stratification effects for EN species, and these three species in particular, as indication that more threatened species benefit more from stratification by cold treatment than less threatened species.

Conclusion

Our study, based on 71 species largely differing in rarity, shows that rare species have a lower germination percentage than more widespread species and we suggest that this is a general pattern. Differences in germination percentages could partly drive plant species rarity, as they are likely to directly affect the probability of establishing successful individuals and populations. However, a lower germination percentage could also be a consequence of rarity, reflecting reduced performance of rare species which are more likely to occur in small and isolated populations. To understand this

relationship better, data on the size and the connectivity of the studied populations, and knowledge on the history of the species would be needed. The other germination characteristics studied here did not differ between species along a gradient of rarity. We suggest that the observed variation in these traits rather reflects adaptations to the species' habitats and their biotic and abiotic factors.

In terms of conservation our results indicate that particular attention should be paid to the germination of rare and endangered plant species, certainly by acquiring more information on their germination requirements before developing ex-situ collections and introduction strategies. We were still able to obtain a large number of seedlings even from the rarest species, and the absence of differences between rare and widespread species for the other seed and germination traits suggests that successful ex-situ cultivations and introductions from seedlings of rare plant species should very well be possible.

Acknowledgements

We thank Adrian Möhl and Christine Föhr for collecting the seeds in the natural populations; Giorgia Beffa for helping with monitoring the seedling emergence; Caterina Penone and Eric Allan for their advice on data analysis and their comments on an earlier draft of this manuscript. This study was supported by the Federal Office of the Environment, Switzerland.
Supplementary information

Text S1. To test whether species range sizes in Switzerland are correlated with the European range sizes of our study species, we used map-derived area estimates from the *Atlas Europeae* (Meusel *et al.* 1978) for all 48 of our species for which these maps were available. We assessed the number of pixels of a species for their European distribution and cross referenced these using islands, for which the exact surface values are known. Range size in Europe was significantly correlated with range size in Switzerland (r = 0.487, p < 0.001).

Meusel, H., Jäger, E.J., Rauschert, S. & Weinert, E. (1978). *Vergleichende Chorologie der zentraleuropäischen Flora*. Bd. 2, Text u. Karten. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena, Germany.

CR: critically endangered), range size in Switzerland, mean seed mass (in g.10⁻²), mean germination percentage, mean time of germination (in days), half-germination time (in days), and three Landolt environmental indicator values (T: temperature, L: light, M: moisture). Mean germination percentage, mean time of germination and half-germination time are given for the control treatment Table S1. List of the 39 rare and 32 widespread (indicated by *) species studied in this experiment, with their plant family, IUCN category (NT: nearly threatened, VU: vulnerable, EN: endangered, without stratification.

								Land	olt val	ues
Species	Family	IUCN	Range size	Seed mass	Germination percentage	Time of germination	Half- germination time	н	ب	Σ
Angelica sylvestris*	Apiaceae		343	0.186	1.3	24.5	12	ŝ	ŝ	4
Astrantia major*	Apiaceae	ı	190	0.503	0	NA	57	2.5	e	3.5
Eryngium alpinum	Apiaceae	١٧	29	0.403	1.3	27.8	24	2	4	£
Oenanthe lachenalii	Apiaceae	S	20	0.087	13.2	17.3	16	4.5	4	4.5
Oxytropis fetida	Apiaceae	١٧	14	0.198	16	29.3	28	1	4	£
Peucedanum cervaria *	Apiaceae	ı	133	0.404	5.3	36.6	35	4	e	2
Peucedanum palustre*	Apiaceae	ı	103	0.229	15.3	23.3	35	4	e	4.5
Pimpinella saxifraga*	Apiaceae	·	329	0.066	2.7	33.3	28	4	4	2
Seseli annuum	Apiaceae	١٧	47	0.082	20.2	23.7	31	4.5	4	1
Trochiscanthes nodiflora	Apiaceae	١٧	ŋ	0.489	1	52	50	3.5	2	2
Artemisia absinthium*	Asteraceae	ı	140	0.01	83.3	9	7	4	4	2
Artemisia glacialis	Asteraceae	NT	6	0.012	85.7	5.8	7	1	ഹ	1.5
Artemisia umbelliformis*	Asteraceae	ı	173	0.049	90.7	10	14	1	ഹ	æ
Artemisia vallesiaca	Asteraceae	ΝT	14	0.04	93.4	1.8	2	4.5	ഹ	1
Bidens cernua	Asteraceae	EN	76	0.124	25.8	20.9	28	3.5	4	4.5
Bidens radiata	Asteraceae	CR	æ	0.07	65	9.5	14	3.5	4	4.5
Bidens tripartita *	Asteraceae	·	118	0.221	51.3	12	14	4	4	4
Centaurea jacea*	Asteraceae	ı	324	0.137	36.7	9.7	14	£	4	2.5
Centaurea scabiosa *	Asteraceae	ı	320	0.565	30.7	6	14	4	4	2
Centaurea valesiaca	Asteraceae	NT	19	0.174	28.1	7.9	7	4.5	4	1
Inula conyzae*	Asteraceae	·	226	0.019	46	22.2	22	3.5	ŝ	2.5
Inula spiraeifolia	Asteraceae	١٧	4	0.021	20.4	21.8	22	4.5	ŝ	1.5
Senecio halleri	Asteraceae	NT	12	NA	55.6	11.8	14	1	ഹ	2
Campanula excisa	Campanulaceae	NT	21	0.002	21.4	22.9	18	1.5	4	2
Campanula rotundifolia*	Campanulaceae	·	358	0.005	64.7	14	14	3.5	4	2

Table S1 (continued).

							:	Lan	dolt val	ues
	Family	IUCN	Range size	Seed mass	Germination percentage	Time of germination	Half- germination time	F	-	Σ
*	Chenopodiaceae	ı	41	0.018	12.7	14	12	5	4	Ч
	Chenopodiaceae	EN	69	0.081	0.6	49	50	4.5	4	1
	Crassulaceae	·	186	0.002	62.1	3.9	2	1.5	ъ	2
	Crassulaceae	١٧	92	0.002	48	7.6	4	2	4	4
	Cyperaceae	ΝT	81	0.052	0.4	15	14	1.5	ъ	4
	Cyperaceae	CR	2	0.024	26.6	26.4	24	4.5	4	4.5
	Cyperaceae	·	379	0.106	0.7	52	50	ŝ	ŝ	2.5
	Cyperaceae	١٧	40	0.039	3.5	35.9	31	1.5	ŋ	4
	Cyperaceae	١٧	155	0.008	47.6	20.8	22	4	4	4
	Cyperaceae	١٧	151	0.006	10	27.7	31	4	4	4.5
	Ephedraceae	١٧	9	0.463	38.8	16.4	22	4.5	ъ	1
llos*	Fabaceae	·	279	NA	10	29.4	35	3.5	ŝ	2
S	Fabaceae	ΝT	32	0.119	40.2	19.5	38	2.5	ŝ	1
	Fabaceae	LΠ	11	0.147	15.4	14.5	14	1	4	ĉ
1	Fabaceae	N۷	123	0.097	13.1	9.7	14	4	4	ŝ
	Fabaceae	ı	390	0.175	97.3	Ω	7	3.5	4	ŝ
	Fabaceae	ı	386	0.067	89.3	Ω	4	ŝ	4	ŝ
	Fabaceae	N۷	∞	0.083	8.2	11.4	12	1.5	4	1
ea*	Gentianaceae	·	236	0.001	78	16	18	3.5	4	3.5
lum	Gentianaceae	١٧	148	0.001	1.2	43	35	3.5	4	£
-i	Gentianaceae	ΝT	20	0.008	0	NA	57	1	ъ	ŝ
	Gentianaceae	·	341	0.00	0	NA	57	2.5	4	ŝ
	Juncaceae	١٧	35	0.006	41.2	14.7	14	1.5	Ŋ	4
	Juncaceae	ı	344	0.002	9.3	24.2	28	£	4	4.5
	Juncaceae	·	309	0.002	41.3	13.2	14	3.5	4	4
	Juncaceae	EN	6	0.004	0.2	29	28	1.5	ъ	4
us	Juncaceae	CR	ŝ	0.001	1.6	20.7	16	4.5	4	4
	Lamiaceae	ī	330	0.163	7.3	21	22	3.5	4	2
	Lamiaceae	١٧	102	0.105	12	18.1	14	4	4	2.5
	Lamiaceae	ī	212	0.133	10.7	23.3	24	3.5	4	1.5

C Table S1 (continued).

t values	Σ	3 4	4 5	4 2	4 1	4 3.5	3 4.5	4 4	4 3.5	3	4 2	4 2.5	3	4 2	4 3	5 2.5	4 2
lobr	_						10			~			~		_		
Laı	⊢	3.5	4.	7	4.	с, Г	4.	7			4.	4.	,	1.1		2.5	Э.
	Half- germination time	12	14	14	18	14	38	14	57	57	22	7	35	16	7	38	14
	Time of germination	9.2	12.8	11.2	15	13.2	24.6	13.7	NA	NA	21.5	27	31	14.3	7.8	40.9	12.3
	Germination percentage	50	74	77.3	31.1	73.3	37.2	6.69	0	0	11.4	1.3	26.7	55.3	54	12.2	86
	Seed mass	0.006	0.004	0.518	NA	0.191	0.518	0.038	0.655	0.148	0.065	1.35	0.057	0.048	0.01	0.027	0.015
	Range size	280	21	345	11	274	30	ŋ	167	108	37	160	405	176	7	14	285
	IUCN		ß	·	٧U	'	EN	CR	·	NT	EN	·	·	·	١٧	٧U	·
	Family	Onagraceae	Onagraceae	Poaceae	Poaceae	Polygonaceae	Polygonaceae	Polygonaceae	Ranunculaceae	Ranunculaceae	Ranunculaceae	Ranunculaceae	Rosaceae	Rosaceae	Rosaceae	Scrophulariaceae	Scrophulariaceae
	Species	Epilobium parviflorum*	Ludwigia palustris	Bromus erectus*	Cleistogenes serotina	Rumex crispus*	Rumex hydrolapathum	Rumex maritimus	Anemone narcissiflora*	Aquilegia alpina	Nigella arvensis	Ranunculus arvensis*	Potentilla erecta*	Potentilla grandiflora*	Potentilla multifida	Linaria petraea	Linaria vulgaris*

Table S2. Relationship between the IUCN status of a species and the mean effect of a stratification treatment (Log Response Ratio, LRR) on germination percentage, time of germination and half-germination time. NT: Near Threatened, n = 10 species; VU: Vulnerable, n = 18; EN: Endangered, n = 5; CR: Critically Endangered, n= 6. Difference (diff), lower (lwr) and upper (upr) confidence intervals and the adjusted p-value are given for each pairwise comparison.

	LRR	Germina	ation per	centage	LRR	Time of	germina	ation	LRR	Half-gei	rminatio	n time
	diff	lwr	upr	p-value	diff	lwr	upr	p-value	diff	lwr	upr	p-value
VU-NT	0.44	-0.97	1.85	0.835	-0.16	-0.9	0.58	0.936	-0.23	-0.92	0.47	0.813
EN-NT	2.31	0.42	4.2	0.012^{*}	-0.88	-1.87	0.11	0.093 [.]	-1.03	-2	-0.07	0.032*
CR-NT	0.03	-1.76	1.82	0.999	0.13	-0.81	1.07	0.982	0.04	-0.87	0.95	0.999
EN-VU	1.87	0.2	3.55	0.024*	-0.72	-1.6	0.15	0.135	-0.81	-1.7	0.09	0.089 [.]
CR-VU	-0.41	-1.97	1.15	0.893	0.29	-0.53	1.11	0.776	0.27	-0.56	1.1	0.818
CR-EN	-2.28	-4.29	-0.27	0.021*	1.01	-0.04	2.07	0.062 [.]	1.07	0.01	2.14	0.048^{*}



Figure S1. Cumulative germination percentage for each of the 39 rare and 32 widespread (indicated by *) species in control pots without stratification.

Figure S1 (continued).



Figure S1 (continued).



0

60



Figure S2. Cumulative germination percentage for each of the 39 rare species. The grey dots represent the control pots without stratification, the black dots represent the pots with stratification.

Figure S2 (continued).



Chapter 3

Experimentally assessed heritabilities of plant traits do not indicate reduced evolutionary potential of 31 rare and endangered species of Switzerland, regardless of their degree of rarity

Hugo Vincent, Anne Kempel and Markus Fischer

Abstract

Rare plant species are expected to occur in more isolated or smaller populations than widespread species, and thus in less genetically diverse populations. Accordingly, heritability of plant traits, which reflects the evolutionary potential of populations, can also be expected to be lower in populations of the rarer and more endangered species. Investigating the evolutionary potential of rare and endangered species is particularly important in the context of adaptation to future environmental changes, and for developing adequate ex-situ conservation measures or re-introductions to the wild. However, the majority of studies investigating genetic variation in rare species used molecular markers which do not relate to adaptive variation, and compared rare and widespread species, without distinguishing between different degrees of rarity and endangerment. We used a quantitative-genetic trait-variation approach to test whether rarer, including very rare and endangered ones, and more endangered plant species harbour less heritable variation than less rare and less endangered ones. We grew offspring of different seed families of 31 rare and endangered species of Switzerland in a common garden experiment from April to August 2012. The study species differed in three measures of rarity, i.e. their IUCN threat category, priority for conservation, and range size in Switzerland, ranging from very rare (minimum range size = 2 10x10 km grid cells) to widespread species (maximum range size = 155 of 431 Swiss grid cells). We measured 15 quantitative traits related to plant fitness and function and estimated narrow-sense heritabilities from genetic (between seed family) and environmental variance components. Overall mean heritability was 0.222 (95% CI = 0.169 - 0.273). We found heritabilities to be independent of all three measures of rarity and comparable to those of other rare and widespread species reported in the literature. Our results suggest that among rare and endangered species the potential to adapt to environmental changes is not necessarily reduced, not even for the particularly rare and endangered ones.

Introduction

Global biodiversity is currently experiencing unprecedented rates of global and local extinction (Pimm et al. 1995, Sala et al. 2000) and ongoing climate change, habitat loss and fragmentation, over-fertilization and pollution, biological invasions, and overexploitation pose additional threats for already endangered species by further reducing populations size and connectivity (Dirzo & Raven 2003, Helm et al. 2006). In poorly connected or small populations, as they are typical for rare and endangered species, evolutionary mechanisms such as increased inbreeding depression (i.e. reduced fitness due to mating between related individuals), genetic drift (i.e. the random fixation of alleles) and limited gene flow between-populations (Ellstrand & Elam 1993) are expected to lead to reduced genetic variation (Gilpin & Soulé 1986). A loss of genetic variation may also reduce the ability of species to adapt to environmental changes (Frankham 1999), which may compromise their ability to survive ongoing and future environmental changes (Franks et al. 2013). In a meta-analysis Spielman et al. (2004) found that most species are indeed affected by genetic factors before they go extinct. Understanding genetic variation in rare and endangered species is thus essential for conservation (Frankham 2005, Pertoldi et al. 2007).

Molecular techniques, such as the study of allozyme or DNA variation, have been widely used in recent decades to assess different aspects of genetic variation of endangered species, e.g. population differentiation, allelic richness, or inbreeding levels (Schaal et al. 1991, Frankham 1995, Frankham et al. 2014). However, most molecular markers are considered selectively neutral and variation in molecular markers is generally not well correlated with variation in ecologically important traits (Reed & Frankham 2001) and does not indicate heritable variation. Therefore, quantitative-genetic studies of variation in traits related to fitness have been advocated (Storfer 1996, Petit et al. 2001), as the evolutionary potential of populations can be inferred from measuring phenotypic variation in quantitative traits for individuals of known relatedness (Falconer & Mackay 1996, Carvajal-Rodríguez et al. 2005). The quantitative trait variation can then be separated into a component indicating additive genetic variance (V_A, the proportion of phenotypic variation determined by genetic variation) and one indicating environmental variance (V_E, the proportion of phenotypic variation determined by environmental or random variation). From these components of variance we can estimate narrowsense heritability (h^2) of a population as the proportion of phenotypic variation between individuals that is due to additive genetic variance (Falconer & Mackay 1996, Visscher et al. 2008). Heritability is expected to vary among traits, depending on the degree to which they are under selection (fitnessrelated traits) and on the strength of selection (Fisher 1930, Falconer & Mackay 1996, Geber & Griffen 2003). An increase in V_A (increased differences between genotypes) increases heritability, whereas an increase in V_E (reduced differences between genotypes) decreases heritability. Heritability is considered an extremely important parameter because it reflects the proportion of variation that responds to selection (Fisher 1930) and thus the potential of populations for adaptation.

Rare and endangered species are expected to occur in more isolated, and often smaller, populations than widespread species (Gaston 2003), and are therefore likely to experience lower within-population genetic variation (Frankham 1995, Leimu et al. 2006) and thus lower V_A . Lower levels of genetic variation in rare species than in related widespread species, based on molecular markers, indeed seem to be a general pattern (Cole 2003), although differences can be small (Karron 1987, Gitzendanner & Soltis 2000). Small or isolated populations might also experience more developmental instability, i.e. phenotypic variation due to random variation in the developmental process (Fischer et al. 2000, Kiflawi et al. 2000), which would increase V_E . We can thus hypothesize that the rarest and most endangered species should have lower narrow-sense heritabilities than less rare and less endangered species, and therefore might have a lower potential for adaptation.

Previous studies investigating differences in genetic variation related to species rarity were mostly based on selectively neutral molecular data and individual studies compared pairs or small numbers of species (e.g. Karron 1991, Gitzendanner & Soltis 2000). Further, in these studies, and more generally in the literature investigating relationships between rarity and plant traits (e.g. Murray et al. 2002), rarity was defined as a binomial variable, i.e. rare versus widespread, which only captures a fraction of the variation in species distributions and abundances (Gaston 1994).

Therefore, we performed a multi-species experiment to address general patterns by growing many species simultaneously under the same conditions (van Kleunen et al. 2014). In a common garden experiment we tested whether 31 species of different degrees of rarity and endangerment, expressed as range size, category of risk of extinction and priority for conservation in Switzerland, also differ in their quantitative-genetic trait variation. Using individuals of known maternal origin we calculated the genetic and environmental components of variation and estimated narrow-sense heritabilities for ecologically relevant traits related to size, biomass, resource use and reproduction.

Material & Methods

Study species

We obtained seeds of 31 species from 15 plant families (Table 1). These species are rare and of priority for conservation in Switzerland (Moser et al. 2002, List of Priority Species at the National Level FOEN 2011). For each species, seeds were collected on up to 10 maternal plants (hereafter seeds from the same mother are called 'seed families') in one natural population in Switzerland. With the help of local experts and botanists (Infoflora, Botanical Gardens of Geneva and Bern, Switzerland) the species were

selected to cover a wide range of habitats and different levels of rarity. Rarity and endangerment were first classified according to the Swiss Red List (Moser et al. 2002) based on the IUCN categories Near Threatened (NT), Vulnerable (VU), Endangered (EN), and Critically Endangered (CR) and second using the List of Priority Species at the National Level of Switzerland (FOEN 2011) with the priority for conservation ranging from 1 (highest priority) to 4 (lowest priority) and indicating the importance of preserving the Swiss populations of a species in a European and global context. Third, rarity was further quantified as a continuous variable, using the range size of each species in Switzerland. Range size was expressed as the number of 10 x 10 km grid cells occupied by a given species in Switzerland (data provided by Info Flora, Bern and Geneva, also see Bornand 2014). Our dataset covered a large gradient of geographical distributions, from a range size of 2 (*Carex bohemica*) to a range size of 155 (*Cyperus flavescens*) of a total of 431 10 x 10 km cells in Switzerland. We used range sizes in Switzerland because a continuous measure of European or global range sizes for our species is not yet available. Nevertheless, for a subset of 20 species, for which European range size is available, Swiss and European range sizes were positively correlated (r = 0.66, p = 0.001, Text S1).

Common garden experiment

We germinated the seeds in April 2012 and then transplanted four plants per seed family individually into 2-L pots filled with standard potting soil (Ricoter, Aarberg, Switzerland). We placed the pots in a common garden (in Muri, close to Bern, Switzerland) in four blocks. Each block contained one individual per seed family per species, and plants were randomly arranged within blocks. For most species we had seeds of at least 10 seed families and grew plants of 10 seed families in the experiment. However, due to unequal germination and some early mortality we grew plants from 9 seed families for three species and fewer than 9 for six further species; Table 1). During the experiment, plants were watered when needed.

In August 2012 we measured quantitative traits following Cornelissen et al. (2003). We counted the number of leaves, the number of stems and the number of flowers or inflorescences (for species with small flowers grouped in distinguishable inflorescences, e.g. in the Asteraceae). We measured plant height to the nearest mm; length and width of the longest leaf (hereafter called leaf length and leaf width, respectively), leaf thickness (i.e. mean leaf thickness of three randomly chosen leaves), and basal stem diameter, with a caliper to the nearest 0.1 mm; leaf greenness as a proxy for chlorophyll content (mean greenness of three randomly chosen leaves, unitless, measured with Konica Minolta Spad 502 SLA). We collected a few leaves of each plant and weighed them (to the nearest 0.1 mg), before and after drying them for 24h at 80°C to calculate leaf dry matter content (LDMC in mg.g⁻¹). We measured the area of the leaves (LI-COR 3100C area meter) and calculated their specific leaf area (SLA in m².kg⁻¹).

Because some of the plant species used in our experiment are very rare in Switzerland, and plants could be used for ex-situ cultivation and re-introduction purposes (e.g. chapter 5), we did not want to harvest them all to assess plant biomass. Therefore, we harvested all plants from block 1 and separated their aboveground biomass into stems, leaves and inflorescences. Aboveground biomass was dried at 80°C for 72h and weighed to the nearest 0.01 g. We assessed the linear relationships between the aboveground biomass of stems, leaves and inflorescences and all non-destructively measured traits for each species in block 1. This relationship was then used to estimate aboveground biomasses in the 3 other blocks from the non-destructively measured traits in these blocks. To do so we used multivariate imputation by chained equations (package *mice*, version 2.25, van Buuren & Groothuis-Oudshoorn 2011) and non-parametric missing value imputation (package *missForest*, version 1.4, Stekhoven & Buehlmann 2012). We compared these two approaches by calculating normalized root mean square errors (nrmse) on the complete data of block 1, and chose the *missForest* approach which showed the smallest error (*missForest* mean nrmse = 0.020, *mice* mean nrmse = 0.042).

The measured traits represented four categories: performance traits (biomass of leaves and stems), reproductive traits (biomass and number of flowers or inflorescences), resource-use traits (SLA, LDMC, greenness, thickness) and size traits (number of leaves, number of stems, stem diameter, plant height, leaf length and width).

Variance components and narrow-sense heritability

We estimated variance components for each trait and species using linear mixed models (*lmer*). For each species we ran one model per trait, using the particular trait as response variable, and seed family identity as a random term. From these models we extracted the variances between seed families (or genetic variance component V_G) and the variances within seed families (or environmental variance component V_E, i.e. the residual variance in the models; Falconer & Mackay 1996). According to our information on the mating system of the study species none of the species are obligatory selfers (Fryxell 1957, Julve 1998, Gaudeul & Till-Bottraud 2003, Razanajatovo 2016). Thus we assumed that our species are outbreeders, where it is likely that for each seed family (i.e., for each maternal plant) ovules were fertilized by different paternal plants. Hence we considered individuals of different seed families as half-siblings within each of the species. As in half-sibling experimental designs the additive genetic variance represents a quarter of the environmental variance (Petit et al. 2001) we calculated narrow-sense heritability h² per trait and per species as:

$$h^2 = \frac{V_A}{V_A + V_E} = \frac{4 \times V_G}{4 \times V_G + V_E}$$

Narrow-sense heritability and its variance components (see Table 1 for the mean values h^2 , V_A and V_E per species) were then further analyzed.

EN: Endangered, CR: Critically Endangered), priority for conservation in Switzerland (all 31 species are considered as priority for conservation, 1 indicates the highest priority, 4 the lowest Table 1. List of the 31 rare species of Switzerland studied in this experiment, with their plant family, number of seed families per species, IUCN category (NT: Near Threatened, VU: Vulnerable, priority), range size in Switzerland (number of 10x10 km grid cells), and the mean values of heritability h², additive genetic variance component V_A and environmental variance component V_E.

Family	Number of seed families	IUCN category	Priority for conservation	Range size	h²	$V_{A} = 4V_{G}$	VE
	6	NT	£	6	0.317	0.056	0.088
	10	NT	£	14	0.375	0.083	0.084
	10	NT	£	32	0.237	0.071	0.142
	10	EN	£	76	0.313	0.053	0.089
	10	CR	2	£	0.558	0.177	0.070
	ъ	NT	с	21	0.041	0.012	0.349
	7	NT	4	81	0.484	0.019	0.016
	10	CR	2	2	0.193	0.025	0.040
	6	NT	£	19	0.000	0.000	0.096
	4	٨U	4	11	0.167	0.012	0.065
	6	Ν	4	155	0.174	0.014	0.035
	10	٨U	4	151	0.320	0.034	060.0
	10	٨U	1	9	0.140	0.021	0.056
	S	٨U	2	29	0.478	0.029	0.036
	10	٨U	4	4	0.301	0.074	0.105
	10	٨U	2	35	0.151	0.017	0.070
	10	٨U	1	14	0.183	0.057	0.227
	10	CR	2	21	0.250	0.041	0.123
	10	EN	£	37	0.341	0.034	0.059
	10	CR	2	20	0.424	0.104	0.110
	10	NT	£	11	0.246	0.146	0.078
	ß	٨U	4	14	0.082	0.009	0.060
	10	EN	£	69	0.056	0.011	0.175
	10	EN	£	30	0.090	0.012	0.073
	10	CR	2	ъ	0.080	0.015	0.162
	ŝ	٨U	4	92	0.172	0.026	0.084
	10	NT	S	12	0.040	0.003	0.048
	10	٨U	4	47	0.064	0.004	0.064
	10	Ν	4	102	0.172	0.012	0.123
	6	٨U	4	123	0.120	0.019	0.122
	ø	٨U	1	8	0.241	0.144	0.274

Phylogenetic signal in the variance of the studied traits

We tested whether there were phylogenetic signals in V_G, V_E and h² of the studied traits for our 31 species using a dated phylogeny from the Daphne tree database (Durka & Michalski 2012). We used the function *phylosignal* from the package *picante* (version 1.6-2, see Blomberg et al. 2003). The K values were always positive, but low (mean $K(V_G) = 0.217$, mean $K(V_E) = 0.312$ and mean $K(h^2) = 0.249$, respectively), and overall not significant (Table S1). We therefore chose to control for the relatedness of our species by using the species identity and the plant taxonomic family instead of using phylogenetic correlations.

Further statistical analysis

To test whether the measured traits differed between blocks, we used analyses of variance (*anova*) applying linear mixed models (*Imer*, Ime4 package, version 1.1-6, Bates & Maechler 2014) with trait identity as the response variable, block as the explanatory variable, and seed family identity nested in species identity as the random term. As the block effect was only significant for the number of leaves, leaf greenness and biomass measurements (Table S2), we did not include block in the following analyses.

We calculated the mean overall value of h^2 , i.e. the intercept value returned by the summary of an *lmer* model including h^2 as the response variable, and species nested into plant family as the random term. We then calculated a 95% profile confidence interval (function *confint*) around the overall value of h^2 to determine the relative contribution of genetic and environmental variation to h^2 . A value of h^2 > 0.5 would indicate that $V_A > V_E$ (most of the variance for a trait is genetic) whereas a value of $h^2 < 0.5$ would indicate that $V_A < V_E$ (most of the variance for a trait is environmental).

To test whether h^2 , V_G and V_E were related to species rarity, we used *lmer* models. Three species (*Artemisia vallesiaca, Sedum villosum* and *Stachys annua*) showed extreme variances in number of flowers, due to large differences in phenology at the time of data collection, and these extreme values had a strong effect on the distribution of residuals of the models. We therefore removed these data points and further applied a square-root transformation to V_G and V_E to meet the model assumptions, while no data transformation was needed for h^2 . Data of species with missing values for h^2 , V_G and V_E were removed from the analysis for seven out of fifteen traits (number of leaves: n = 25 species analyzed; number of stems: n = 15; length and width of the longest leaf: n = 24; number of stems, n = 20; number of flowers and leaf greenness: n = 22).

We analyzed h^2 , V_G and V_E across all traits, and included trait identity as a fixed term in the models. The explanatory variable was rarity, defined as: a) IUCN category of threat (ordinal); b) priority for conservation in Switzerland (ordinal); or c) range size (continuous). As h^2 is expected to vary among traits (Geber & Griffen 2003) we also tested for an effect of the interaction between trait identity and rarity on h². Species identity nested into plant family was included as a random term to account for the relatedness of our species.

The collected data represented an opportunity to investigate the heritability of traits related to different plant functions and to plant performance on a large number of rare species. We tested whether there was a significant difference in h^2 , V_G and V_E between groups of traits (performance traits, reproductive traits, resource-use traits, size traits) using *lmer* models including the identity of the group of traits as explanatory variable, and trait identity and species identity nested into plant family as random terms.

We simplified the full models by removing non-significant terms and we determined significances using likelihood-ratio tests comparing models with and without the factor of interest. All statistical analyses were performed in R (version 3.3.2, R Core Team, 2016).

Results

Mean overall heritability h^2 was 0.222 (95% CI = 0.169 – 0.273). There was no difference in h^2 between the different groups of traits (p = 0.487, Fig. 1).

 h^2 was independent of IUCN category (Fig. 2a), priority for conservation (Fig. 2b) or range size (Fig. 2c), and there was no significant interaction between trait identity and any of the three measures of rarity and endangerment (Table 2). Moreover, neither the genetic variance component (V_G), nor the environmental variance component (V_E) were related to IUCN category (Fig. S1a, b), priority for conservation (Fig. S1c, d) or range size (Fig. S1e, f) (Table 2). There was no difference in V_G (p = 0.305) and V_E (p = 0.206) between the different groups of traits (Fig. S2a, b). These results suggest that heritability, and thus evolutionary potential, does not differ between more or less endangered species and between species of different range sizes. **Figure 1.** Comparison of h^2 between groups of traits representing plant functions and plant performance measured on 31 rare species of Switzerland. There was no difference in h^2 between the groups of traits (p = 0.487). Shown are mean values and standard errors per category calculated from the raw data.



Figure 2. Comparison of mean heritability h² between 31 rare species of Switzerland differing in a) IUCN categories (NT: Near Threatened, VU: Vulnerable, EN: Endangered, CR: Critically Endangered); b) priority for conservation (all 31 species are considered as priority for conservation; 1 indicates the highest priority, 4 the lowest priority); and c) range size. None of the three measures of rarity affected h². Shown are mean values and standard errors per category (a, b) or mean values per species (c), calculated from the raw data.



Table 2. Results of the linear mixed model testing for the relationship between heritability h^2 , the variance components V_G and V_E , respectively, and rarity of 31 rare species of Switzerland. Rarity was the explanatory variable and was defined as a) IUCN category (NT: Near Threatened, VU: Vulnerable, EN: Endangered, CR: Critically Endangered); b) priority for conservation in Switzerland (all 31 species are considered as priority for conservation; 1 indicates the highest priority, 4 the lowest priority); or c) range size. All models included trait identity as fixed term, and species identity nested into plant family to account for the taxonomic relatedness of our species. We tested for the interaction between trait identity and rarity in the models with h^2 as response variable. Variances of the random terms are given for each model. V_G and V_E were square-root transformed to meet model assumptions.

		h	2	V _G		VE	
		p-value	Chi ²	p-value	Chi ²	p-value	Chi ²
a)	Trait identity	0.013*	28.4	<0.001***	41.2	< 0.001***	102
	IUCN	0.56	2.04	0.34	3.34	0.95	0.35
	Trait : IUCN	0.40	43.7	-	-	-	-
	Family/Species	<0.0	01	<0.00	01	0.00	3
	Family	<0.0	01	<0.00	01	<0.00)1
b)	Trait identity	0.012*	28.4	<0.001***	40.4	<0.001***	00 7
U)	Priority	0.013	20.4	0.001	40.4	<0.001 0.080	6 5 1
	Trait : Priority	0.33	J.47 18 5	0.25	4.10	0.085	0.51
	Eamily/Spacios	0.25	40.5	<0.00	11	0.00	2
	Family Species	<0.0	10	<0.00	1	0.00	2
		\0.0	01	<0.00	J	<0.00)1
c)	Trait identity	0.012*	28.5	< 0.001***	40.9	<0.001***	102
	Range size	0.87	0.03	0.30	1.07	0.66	0.19
	Trait : Range size	0.74	12.9	-	-	-	-
	Family/Species	0.0	17	0.01	1	0.00	2
	Family	<0.0	01	<0.00	01	<0.00)1

Discussion

Overall heritability

The overall mean of heritability of 0.222 is comparable to the estimates of narrow-sense heritabilities of other rare and widespread species, as reported in field and experimental studies on rare (Waldmann & Andersson 1998, Petit et al. 2001) and widespread species (Johnson et al. 2008, Johnson et al. 2009, Blum 2016), and as summarized in a large data survey (Geber & Griffen 2003). This suggests that rarer and more endangered species do not necessarily have a lower evolutionary potential to respond to selection than less rare and even widespread species do.

The mean heritability indicates that the environmental component of variance was greater than the genetic component of variance. This could be due to some micro-environmental heterogeneity in our experimental garden, such as small scale variation in moisture or light availability, affecting plant traits

via phenotypic plasticity (Nicotra et al. 2010). Moreover, it may reflect developmental instability, i.e. phenotypic variation caused by random variation in the developmental process (Siikamaki & Lammi 1998, Fischer et al. 2000). Some of the sampled Swiss populations of our species - for instance Mediterranean species (e.g. *Inula spiraeifolia*) which have their northern distribution limit in Switzerland (Broennimann et al. 2005) - are even in the periphery of their species distribution, where developmental instability may be expected to be higher than in the center (Levin 1970, Kiflawi et al. 2000).

No differences in heritability among species of different degrees of rarity and endangerment

As we found heritabilities and the genetic and environmental variance components to be independent of species range size, IUCN category or priority for conservation, our results do not support the hypothesis that the rarest and most endangered species have lower heritability, and thus lower evolutionary potential, than less rare and less endangered species.

The hypothesis of reduced genetic diversity for rare species is supported by several studies investigating genetic diversity in rare and widespread species (e.g. Karron 1987, Gitzendanner & Soltis 2000, He et al. 2000, Cole 2003, Edwards et al. 2014). Species at a higher risk of extinction are often occurring in declining, smaller and more fragmented populations (IUCN 2012), potentially leading to lower levels of genetic diversity (Ellstrand & Elam 1993, Reed 2004). Broennimann et al. (2005) reported that among 118 Swiss plant species of the highest priority for conservation, the most threatened ones have restricted geographic distributions and occur in rare habitats in Switzerland, and only four of these species had more than 200 individuals as median population size. This would suggest that the more endangered species among our study species should have had reduced genetic variation. On the other hand, heritable variation can be retained even in small populations of rare species by the effects of contrasting environmental conditions and spatial structure, as shown by Widén & Andersson (1993) for small populations of the rare Senecio integrifolius. Also, natural enemies can drive rapid adaptation (Agrawal et al. 2012, Züst et al. 2012) and therefore local heterogeneity in plant-herbivore interactions might maintain heritable variation. This could explain why, even though theory and some empirical work suggests lower genetic variation for rarer species, we did not find a relationship between heritability and rarity.

Further, the vast majority of the studies demonstrating a positive relationship between genetic diversity and population size are based on allozyme and DNA markers, i.e. quantified neutral molecular variation, and the link between genetic diversity and quantitative variation, thus heritability, remains controversial. A meta-analysis (Reed & Frankham 2001) showed only a weak mean correlation between quantitative and molecular measures, and no significant relationship between heritability and molecular measures. The authors attribute this to differences in the selective forces acting on

molecular and quantitative measures. Therefore the importance of the quantitative-genetic approach has been emphasized by several authors, because it concerns traits that are directly related to fitness and thus gives direct information on the evolutionary potential of populations in response to selection (Frankham 1995, Storfer 1996, Petit et al. 2001, Carvajal-Rodríguez 2005). To our knowledge our study is the first to address heritabilities for many rare and endangered species of various range sizes, and the deviation of our results from expectations of reduced heritability for rarer species indicates that quantitative genetics is an essential tool to consider in conservation genetics.

The vast majority of studies investigating differences between species in traits, responses to abiotic or biotic factors or genetic variation in the context of rarity used comparisons between one or several pairs of rare and widespread congeners (e.g. references in Murray et al. 2002, Edwards et al. 2014). In contrast, we used species that are all considered rare and with a priority for conservation in Switzerland (FOEN 2011), and we characterized their rarity and endangerment with three different approaches, describing the rarity and endangerment of a given species in very different ways. Firstly, our species cover the whole range of IUCN threat categories from Critically Endangered to Near Threatened, and they therefore differ in their degree of having limited geographic distribution, and small, declining or isolated populations (Moser et al. 2002, IUCN 2012). Secondly, the study species span the whole range from the lowest to the highest priority for conservation, reflecting large differences in not only regional rarity within Switzerland but also global rarity (FOEN 2011). Finally, we used a continuous measure of rarity, i.e. range size in Switzerland, which covers a large gradient of differences in geographical distribution within this set of rare species. As we used many species, many traits and different measures of rarity and endangerment, we suggest our finding of similar heritabilities across gradients of rarity and endangerment as general pattern.

Our results indicate that the rarest and most endangered species may as well be able to adapt to future environmental changes as less rare and endangered species. However, to be able to adapt to such changes, populations must persist over several generations. The current tolerance of rare and endangered plant species to changing environmental conditions thus also needs to be addressed to inform efficient conservation measures (Chapter 4). Adaptive variation may be depleted in the process of adaptation to changing conditions, and it may be further reduced when species shift their ranges to track climate change (Buckley & Bridle 2014). Therefore, both ex-situ and in-situ conservation measures should aim at maintaining as high as possible levels of heritable variation in populations of endangered species. However, multi-generation cultivation in botanical gardens can reduce plant genetic variation and fitness, and potentially cause maladaptation to natural habitats (e.g. Ensslin et al. 2011, Lauterbach et al. 2012). To ensure the best evolutionary potential of ex-situ collections, knowledge of and particular care for heritable variation of rare and endangered species is needed

51

(Hamilton 1994, Cochrane et al. 2007, Ensslin et al. 2015). Moreover, high genetic variation of plant material reintroduced to the wild is thought to increase the success rates of reintroductions and translocations because it allows novel or reinforced populations to adapt to future environmental changes (Vergeer et al. 2005, Menges et al. 2008, Weeks et al. 2011). Our study suggests that material from natural populations of rare and endangered plants may serve as initial source of genetically diverse ex situ collections and introductions to the wild.

No difference in heritability between different traits of rare and endangered plant species in Switzerland

The quantitative traits measured in this study relate to plant performance, reproduction, resource use and size (Cornelissen et al. 2003). Fitness-related traits, e.g. number of flowers or biomass production, are expected to be under strong directional selection and could therefore have lower additive genetic variation (Fisher 1930, Flaconer & Mackay 1996). Alternatively, Houle (1992) suggested that fitnessrelated traits should have high additive genetic variation because of mutations at the large number of loci involved in their expression. We found no differences in heritability and in the variance components between groups of traits. To complete the picture, further studies on the relationship between heritability and rarity could also consider further types of traits, e.g. traits linked to secondary chemistry, which might have larger heritabilities (Geber & Griffen 2003) due to temporally or spatially heterogeneous plant-herbivore or plant-pathogen interactions. For the time being our results indicate that for rare and endangered plant species traits related to various plant functions all have the potential to respond to selection, and all to a similar degree.

Conclusion

To our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the relationship between narrow-sense heritability and rarity for many rare and endangered plant species of different degrees of rarity and endangerment. As we used many species in our experiment and three complementary methods to assess rarity and endangerment, we suggest that the independence of heritability from degree of plant rarity and endangerment is a general pattern. Our results indicate that populations of rarer and more endangered species do not necessarily have a reduced potential to respond to selection than the ones of less rare and endangered or even widespread species. This is encouraging for the establishment of ex-situ populations of rare species, as it suggest that they should be able to respond to selection as exposed for instance to environmental change. At the same time, however, the risk of rapid adaptation to the conditions of a botanical garden or other ex-situ site must be considered carefully and particular

attention must be paid to maintaining high heritable genetic variation in ex-situ populations, and living collections in general. Our results also suggest that rare and endangered species may be able to adapt to novel habitats in the context of introductions to the wild and that they may have the potential to adapt to ongoing global change.

Acknowledgements

We thank Adrian Möhl for collecting the seeds in the natural populations; the numerous field assistants who helped transplanting the seedlings, growing the plants and collecting data; Eric Allan, Caterina Penone and Dani Prati for their contribution to data analysis and their helpful comments on this manuscript. This study was supported by the Federal Office of the Environment, Switzerland.

Supplementary information

Text S1. To test whether range size in Switzerland is correlated with the European range size of our study species, we used map-derived area estimates from the *Atlas Europeae* (Meusel *et al.* 1978) for the 20 species for which these maps were available. We assessed the number of pixels of a species European distribution and cross referenced these using islands, for which the exact surface values are known. Range size in Europe was correlated with range size in Switzerland (r = 0.66, p = 0.001) therefore we used the latter one, which provided us with range size data of all our species.

Meusel, H., Jäger, E.J., Rauschert, S. & Weinert, E. (1978) *Vergleichende Chorologie der zentraleuropäischen Flora*. Bd. 2, Text u. Karten. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena, Germany.

Table S1. Results of the analyses testing for phylogenetic signals (function phylosignal) in V _G , V _E and h ² of the measured traits
among the 31 rare species of Switzerland. K > 0 indicates a phylogenetic signal, if more related species were more similar to
each other than expected by chance. Here, K was always positive, but overall not significant.

Trait	Phylogenetic signal	V _G	V _E	h²
Number of leaves	К	0.121	0.338	0.304
Number of leaves	p-value	0.881	0.279	0.289
Number of stems	К	0.241	0.171	0.256
Number of Sterns	p-value	0.465	0.644	0.241
Hoight	К	0.141	0.296	0.066
neight	p-value	0.619	0.148	0.990
Longth loaf	К	0.371	0.306	0.368
Lengthiea	p-value	0.351	0.471	0.178
Width leaf	К	0.478	0.332	0.310
WILLITIE	p-value	0.263	0.322	0.236
Stam diamatar	К	0.060	0.457	0.160
Stemulameter	p-value	0.832	0.104	0.578
Number flowers	К	0.39	0.408	0.149
Number nowers	p-value	0.402	0.261	0.859
Loof thicknoss	К	0.128	0.411	0.193
Lear thickness	p-value	0.935	0.066	0.767
Croonnocc	К	0.617	0.208	0.477
Greenness	p-value	0.148	0.808	0.129
CI A	К	0.194	0.240	0.249
SLA	p-value	0.753	0.552	0.518
	К	0.190	0.199	0.222
LDIVIC	p-value	0.775	0.769	0.627
Biomass loaves	К	0.086	0.208	0.175
DIOIIIASS IEAVES	p-value	0.850	0.225	0.486
Piomass flowers	К	0.110	0.532	0.211
	p-value	0.867	0.055	0.730
Biomass stoms	К	0.059	0.257	0.392
DIVITIONS SLETTIS	p-value	0.915	0.648	0.455
Piomass	К	0.064	0.323	0.200
DIUIIIdSS	p-value	0.943	0.028*	0.354

Table S2. Results of linear mixed models testing for differences in trait values between blocks in our experimental design.There was a block effect for number of leaves, greenness and estimated biomass measures (see methods).

Traits	df	Block F-value	p-value
Number of leaves	3	7.73	<0.001
Number of stems	3	0.26	0.850
Height	3	2.34	0.072
Length leaf	3	0.14	0.936
Width leaf	3	1.16	0.324
Stem diameter	3	0.84	0.471
Number of flowers	3	2.46	0.062
Thickness	3	2.49	0.058
Greenness	3	4.64	0.003
SLA	3	2.07	0.103
LDMC	3	1.49	0.214
Biomass leaves	3	6.74	< 0.001
Biomass flowers	3	5.07	0.002
Biomass stems	3	5.59	<0.001
Total biomass	3	6.45	<0.001

Figure S1. Comparison of the variance components V_A (dark grey bars and dots, plotted as $4V_G$ as in the h^2 equation) and V_E (light grey bars and dots) between 31 rare species of Switzerland differing in a, b) IUCN categories (NT: Near Threatened, VU: Vulnerable, EN: Endangered, CR: Critically Endangered); c, d) priority for conservation (all 31 species are considered as priority for conservation; 1 indicates the highest priority, 4 the lowest priority); and e, f) range size. None of the three measures of rarity affected V_G and V_E (Table 2). Shown are mean values and standard errors per category (a, c) or mean values per species (e), calculated from the raw data; and the mean residuals and standard errors per category (b, d) or mean residuals per species (f) after correcting for trait identity.











Figure S2. Comparison of V_A (dark grey bars, plotted as $4V_G$ as in the h^2 equation) and V_E (light grey bars) between group of traits representing plant functions and plant performance measured on 31 rare species of Switzerland. There was no significant difference in V_G (p = 0.305) and V_E (p = 206), respectively, between groups of traits. Shown are a) mean values and standard errors per group of traits calculated from the raw data; and b) mean residuals and standard errors per group of traits.



Chapter 4

Rare species perform worse than widespread species under changed climate

Hugo Vincent, Anne Kempel, Christophe N. Bornand and Markus Fischer

Abstract

Predicting how species, particularly rare and endangered ones, will react to climate change is a major current challenge in ecology. Rare species are expected to have a narrower niche breadth than widespread species. However, it is unknown whether they are also less able to cope with new climatic conditions. To simulate climate change, we transplanted 35 plant species varying in rarity to five botanical gardens in Switzerland, distributed along an altitudinal gradient. For each species we calculated how different the climate was between their natural habitats and the novel climate of the respective botanical garden, and investigated the relationship between rarity, climatic difference and plant performance. We found that rare species had generally lower survival and biomass production than widespread species. Moreover, fewer plants of rare species survived when the amount of precipitation differed more from the one in their natural range, indicating a higher susceptibility to climate change. Widespread species, in contrast, survived equally well under all climates and even increased their biomass under wetter or drier conditions. Our study shows that rarer species are less able to cope with changes in climate than more widespread ones, which might even benefit from these changes. Our results thus indicate that rare and endangered plant species might suffer strongly from future climate change.
Introduction

Understanding how species respond to a changing climate is one of the most important current challenges for ecologists. Particularly, information on whether rare, already endangered, and widespread species respond similarly to changes in climate is crucial. One of the most important hypotheses to explain rarity is the niche breadth hypothesis. It predicts that rare species have a smaller niche breadth, i.e. are less able to tolerate different environmental conditions, than widespread species (Brown 1984, Slatyer et al. 2013). It is therefore likely that rare species also have a lower tolerance to changes in their environment, such as changes in climate.

For plants, the predicted changes in temperature and precipitation can have profound implications for their growth and survival. An increase of 1 to 2°C in the global mean surface temperature (IPCC 2014) along with a reduction in the average amount of precipitation, and the occurrence of more extreme events such as droughts, directly impact the plants and change abiotic and biotic parameters. To survive climate change, plant populations may migrate to keep track of favorable environmental conditions, or they can tolerate and adapt to the new climate (Franks et al. 2013). However, migration may be limited, e.g. by topographic boundaries such as mountains, the increasing fragmentation of our landscapes (Jump & Peñuelas 2005), or for species with a long generation time (Aitken et al. 2008). Therefore, tolerance to climate change might be of particular importance for plants.

Many models predict that species will shift their ranges in response to climatic modifications (e.g. Bakkenes et al. 2002, Thomas et al. 2004b). They also hypothesize that a higher number of plant species will be threatened in a close future by the loss of climatically suitable areas (Thuiller et al. 2005). However, the fundamental climatic niche, i.e. the ability of species to tolerate new climates and persist in their habitat, has rarely been considered in studies predicting the future distribution of species.

Rare and widespread plant species have been shown to differ in many traits (Gaston 1994, Lavergne et al. 2004). Specifically, widespread species are generally larger (Cornwell & Ackerly 2010, Murray et al. 2002, Lavergne et al. 2003, Dawson et al. 2012), produce more and bigger flowers (Lavergne et al. 2004), are more competitive, grow faster and have more seedlings (Murray et al. 2002), and respond more positively to increased nutrient availability (Dawson et al. 2012) than rare species. However, whether rare and widespread species also differ in their tolerance to climate change is unknown, although it is likely that some species will be able to cope with new environmental conditions, whereas others will suffer if the climate becomes too different from the one they are adapted to, and that this is related to plant rarity. Hence, it is assumed that species with a greater range size, i.e. more widespread species, are more likely to occur in a wider range of habitats, and therefore to be generalists with a larger niche breadth (Brown 1984). Species with large ranges should therefore be

more able to tolerate a changed climate than rare species which have smaller range sizes. Accordingly, plant species with a larger altitudinal niche breadth responded faster to climatic changes in the past, as they recolonized suitable sites after glaciation faster than species with a smaller altitudinal niche breadth (Dullinger et al. 2012). However, we lack knowledge on whether more widespread species are more tolerant to climatic variation, i.e. whether they have a larger fundamental climatic niche, than more rare and endangered species do. This information is crucial if we want to forecast the future composition of plant communities and to detect species that are particularly sensitive to climate change. Answering this question requires experimental approaches with many plant species (van Kleunen et al. 2014), which have not yet been applied in this context, however.

In this study, we tested the response of 35 plant species differing in rarity from rare and endangered to widespread species, to different climatic conditions. We used an altitudinal gradient in Switzerland, with a dryer and warmer climate at low altitudes and a wetter and colder climate at higher altitudes, to simulate climate change (Körner 2007). By transplanting the 35 plant species to five different botanical gardens along an altitudinal gradient, we were able to follow their survival and performance under various climatic conditions, which differed from the climatic conditions of their natural range. Using this experimental multi-species multi-site approach, we addressed the following specific questions: (i) Across different climatic conditions, do rare and widespread plant species generally differ in their survival and performance? (ii) Do rare and widespread plant species respond differently to changes in climatic conditions? We hypothesize that all species should perform best when the climatic conditions match the ones of their natural range. However, given that species with a small range size should have a narrower niche breadth than more widespread species (Slatyer et al. 2013), we expect rare species to be less tolerant to changes in climatic conditions, putting them at an even higher risk of extinction with climate warming.

Material & Methods

Plant species and experimental design

We obtained seeds of 35 plant species from 16 plant families (see Table S1). Twenty-four of those species were rare species with a priority for conservation in Switzerland (FOEN 2011, Moser et al. 2002), and 11 of them were species which are widespread in Switzerland. Seeds of rare plant species were collected in natural populations (one population per species) in Switzerland. Seeds of widespread species were collected in natural populations or obtained from commercial seed suppliers (Rieger-Hofmann GmbH, Germany and UFA Samen, Switzerland).

In March 2012, we germinated the seeds and planted 50 seedlings per species individually into 2-L pots filled with standard potting soil (Ricoter, Aarberg, Switzerland). Plants were then placed in a common garden (Mur, close to Bern, Switzerland) where they grew for another two months. In May 2012, we measured plant height to account for initial size differences. In June 2012 we transported the plants to five Botanical Gardens (Botanischer Garten der Universität Basel; Conservatoire et Jardin Botaniques de la Ville de Genève; La Thomasia, Pont-de-Nant; Flore-Alpe, Champex-Lac; Alpengarten, Schynige Platte) differing in altitude and climatic conditions (Table 1). In each garden, we placed, if possible, 10 pots per species (Table S2) and distributed them randomly into garden beds. In early summer 2013 we recorded the survival of the plants and collected aboveground biomass, cutting the plants at 2cm height to allow regrowth. Aboveground biomass was dried at 80°C for 72h and weighed to the nearest 0.01 g. Since watering happened only in case of severe drought, we can assume that the observed differences in plant growth between the gardens is indeed due to differences in precipitation and temperature and is not biased by the care taken by the botanical gardens.

Botanical garden	Coordinates (CH1903)	Altitude (m)	Average annual precipitations (mm)	Average annual temperature (°C)
Basel	610797 - 267566	269.4	787.3	9.48
Geneva	500516 - 120219	372.2	909.5	9.53
Pont-de-Nant	500516 - 120219	1262.9	1451.1	5.98
Champex	574742 - 97996	1532.6	1376.9	4.19
Schynige Platte	636229 - 166947	1963.7	1630.6	1.61

 Table 1. Location, altitude and climatic conditions of the five botanical gardens.

Rarity and climatic variables

To obtain a continuous measure of plant rarity we used the range size of each species in Switzerland. Range size was expressed as the number of 10 x 10 km grid cells occupied by a given species in Switzerland (data provided by Info Flora, Bornand 2014). We used range size in Switzerland because a continuous measure of European range sizes for our species is not yet available. Nevertheless, for a subset of 21 species for which European range size is available, Swiss and European range size were positively correlated (r = 0.508, p < 0.001, Text S1).

For each species we calculated climatic values, which characterize the climatic conditions in the natural range of a species in Switzerland. We calculated the mean annual temperature and mean annual level of precipitation per species (Table S1) by extracting climatic information at all known locations of the species in Switzerland using precise coordinates (for complete details on the climate data, see Zimmermann & Kienast 1999). For each botanical garden we also extracted the mean annual temperature and mean annual level of precipitation (Table 1).

To define how different the climatic conditions between a botanical garden and a natural species range are, we calculated the temperature and precipitation differences by subtracting the climatic value of a species from the climatic value of a botanical garden. A negative value of a precipitation or temperature difference indicates that the climate is dryer or colder, respectively, in a botanical garden than in the species natural range.

The range size of our species was not related to the mean altitude (r = 0.01, p = 0.95) and the mean temperature (r = -0.08, p = 0.64) of their natural range. Species range size was positively related to the mean annual level of precipitation although the correlation was not very strong (r = 0.40, p = 0.02).

Statistical analysis

We tested whether species with a larger range size also occurred in a wider range of climates (i.e. whether they also have a larger climatic niche) correlating range size with the difference between the maximum and the minimum value of temperature and precipitation in a species natural range.

To test whether rare and widespread species generally differ in their survival and aboveground biomass production, we used generalized linear mixed effects models (*glmer*) with a binomial error distribution and linear mixed effects models (*lmer*) using the lme4 package (Bates et al. 2014) in R (R Core Team 2014), with the range size of the species as explanatory variable, the species identity nested into plant family (to account for taxonomy) and the botanical garden where the plants grew, as random factors. We also included the initial height of the plants as covariate, to control for initial size differences.

To test whether rare and widespread species respond differently in terms of their survival and aboveground biomass production to climatic differences, we used range size, temperature difference, precipitation difference, and the interaction between range size and climatic differences as explanatory variables. We also included the quadratic terms for the climatic differences as we expected a hump-shaped relationship with an optimum at a climatic difference of 0 (i.e. where the climatic conditions in a garden match the ones of a species natural range). Further, we included the interaction between the quadratic terms for the climatic difference' were correlated with each other (r = -0.64, p < 0.001), both explained a significant part of the variation and were both kept in the model.

We simplified the full models by removing non-significant terms and we determined significances using likelihood-ratio tests comparing models with and without the factor of interest. Non-significant linear terms were kept when the corresponding interaction and quadratic terms were significant. To test for the significances of main factors, we removed higher order interactions. We log-transformed the

biomass data and we scaled all continuous variables to means of zeros and standard deviations of one for an easier interpretation of the model estimates.

Results

Among species, range size was strongly correlated with the species temperature and precipitation niche breadth, i.e. with the difference between the maximum and the minimum temperature (r = 0.83, p < 0.001) and the maximum and minimum precipitation (r = 0.78, p < 0.001) in the natural range. This confirms that more widespread species occur in a wider range of climatic conditions than rarer species. Overall, species with a larger range size survived better (p = 0.049) and produced more aboveground biomass (p < 0.001) (Fig. 1), which indicates that across different climatic conditions widespread species generally performed better than rarer species.

Figure 1. Effect of range size on a) mean survival, and b) mean aboveground biomass (expressed in g on a log-scale) for 35 species planted to five botanical gardens. Each point represents the mean biomass or survival per species, the line is obtained from the predicted values of the models. Range size is calculated as the number of 10x10km grid cell occupied by a given species in Switzerland. The curved line describing the relationship between range size and survival is obtained from the transformation of the binomial survival data into a continuous distribution of the probability of survival.



Survival was highest at low precipitation differences, i.e. when the climatic conditions of a garden were the most similar to a species natural ranges. This effect was only driven by rare plant species, whose survival decreased when the amount of precipitation in a garden differed from the one of their natural range (Table 2, Fig. 2a). In contrast, more widespread species were hardly affected by differences in precipitation, maintaining a high average survival in all botanical gardens (significant range size x squared precipitation difference interaction).

Aboveground biomass of rarer species was hardly affected by differences in precipitation between a botanical garden and the species natural range. Widespread species, however, produced more biomass when the conditions were drier - and thus sunnier - and when the conditions were wetter than in their natural range (Table 2, Fig 2b). This indicates that more widespread plant species are able to plastically increase their biomass in these conditions whereas rarer plant species cannot respond in such a way and show a relatively stable biomass production.

Figure 2. a) Survival and b) biomass production of 35 species in relation to precipitation difference between natural range size and botanical garden. The surfaces represent the predicted survival, respectively biomass, from the model. Biomass is expressed in g on a log-scale. A negative precipitation difference (mm.year⁻¹) indicates that the conditions in a garden are dryer than the ones in a species natural range.



All species performed worse when the temperature in a botanical garden deviated from the mean temperature of their natural range (significant squared temperature difference effect). This effect of temperature was found for survival and biomass production, and it did not differ between rare and widespread species (Table 2, Fig. 3).

Figure 3. Effect of the temperature differences (°C) on a) mean survival and b) mean aboveground biomass of 35 species planted in five botanical gardens. Each point represents the average aboveground biomass (in g on a log-scale) or survival per species per garden in 2013. The line is obtained from the predicted values of the models. To represent the effect of temperature difference, we fixed the value of precipitation difference to its mean when calculating the predicted values of the models.



Table 2. Results of a linear mixed effects model and a generalized linear mixed effects model testing for an effect of range size, temperature difference between natural sites and botanical garden (Δ Temperature), precipitation difference (Δ Precipitation) and their interactions on biomass production and plant survival of plants of 35 species planted to five botanical gardens. We removed all non-significant terms, unless the respective quadratic or interaction term was significant. All explanatory variables are scaled. Variances of the random terms are given for each model. The parameters of the main factors were derived from models where all higher order interactions were removed.

	Biomass			Survival			
	estimate	p-value	Chi ²	estimate	p-value	Chi ²	
Range	0.24	< 0.001***	11.2	0.14	0.17	1.91	
∆ Temperature	-0.05	0.206	1.59	-0.01	0.086	2.95	
Δ Precipitations	-0.23	0.03*	11.6	-0.16	0.831	0.05	
Δ Temperature ²	-0.13	< 0.001***	67.8	-0.55	< 0.001***	32.2	
Δ Precipitations ²	0.04	0.446	0.58	-0.27	0.003**	8.85	
Range x Δ Temperature	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Range x △ Precipitations	0.01	< 0.001***	15	-	-	-	
Range x Δ Temperature ²	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Range x Δ Precipitations ²	0.09	< 0.001***	26.2	0.20	0.033*	4.54	
Family/Species		0.265			1.880		
Family	<0.001			<0.001			
Botanical Garden		0.016			0.924		

Discussion

Rare plant species are less tolerant to changes in climate than widespread plant species

Among the most important hypotheses to explain species rarity and commonness, the niche breadth hypothesis predicts that rare species have a narrower niche breadth than widespread species (Brown 1984, Slatyer et al. 2013), which is likely to reduce their climatic tolerance, i.e. their ability to cope with changing climatic conditions. In this study, using 35 plant species from different habitats, we experimentally showed that rare and widespread plant species respond differently to changed climate. Experimental tests of the environmental tolerance of multiple plant species as the ones we present in our study, and particularly of rare and widespread native species, are extremely rare (Slatyer et al. 2013). A few studies assessed the tolerance to different germination conditions (germination niche breadths) of rare and widespread plant species and found either a positive (Brändle et al. 2003, Luna et al. 2012), negative (Luna & Moreno 2010) or no relationship with range size (e.g. Gaston & Blackburn 2000, Thompson & Ceriani 2003). Our results, obtained two years after germination, show that species with restricted range sizes perform worse than more widespread species under a changed climate, and have indeed narrower physiological tolerances. Given the high number of plant species of different range size used in our study, we suggest that this is a general pattern.

Species with a greater range size may experience a larger range of ecological and climatic conditions, thus are expected to be adapted to a wider scope of climates (Gaston 2003) and have a higher physiological tolerance to temperature or water related stresses. Indeed, a larger niche breadth – based on the current distribution of a species – seems to be a general pattern in widespread species (Slatyer et al. 2013), and was also supported by our data (positive correlation between range size and the climatic breadth). A larger niche breadth can be either the result of many locally adapted populations (Olsson et al. 2009), or due to individuals genotypes within species and populations are 'generalists', and have larger environmental tolerance (Slatyer et al. 2013, Ackerly 2003). Although in our experiment we cannot entirely disentangle whether the more widespread species have a greater climatic tolerance due to locally adapted populations or individual 'generalists', the fact that we found this pattern by placing only a few individuals into different climatic conditions indicates that widespread species are more likely to be comprised of individual generalists. However, to fully understand the influence of broad tolerance and microevolution on niche breadth, experiments simultaneously comparing the climatic tolerance of many species, populations per species, and genotypes per population are needed.

Generally, plant species in our experiment survived better and had a greater biomass when the climatic conditions of the botanical gardens were similar to the ones they experience in their natural range (Fig.

3). These results reflect the existence of a climatic niche due to physiological limitations, which is a key assumption for predicting the impact of climate change on species distributions (Wiens & Graham 2005, Pearman et al. 2008, Petitpierre et al. 2012, Lee-Yaw et al. 2016). Interestingly, the higher survival at lower precipitation differences to a species origin was only driven by rare plant species – the rarer a species the more it suffered from differences in precipitation (when conditions where either dryer or wetter than the ones at their origin). In contrast, more widespread species were not affected by precipitation differences, and showed a similarly high survival at all precipitation levels, independent of the ones of their origin (Table 2, Fig. 2a). Since climate change is expected to increase wet and dry extreme events (Knapp et al. 2008) our results suggest that species that are already threatened under the current climate will suffer most from the effects of climate change. Moreover, our results demonstrate that rarer species do indeed have a smaller fundamental niche in terms of precipitation, i.e. a lower climatic tolerance due to physiological limitations, than more widespread species.

In most cases widespread species experience a wider range of climatic conditions in their natural ranges than species with a more restricted range size. Therefore, the mean altitude, mean annual precipitation and mean temperature of the 11 species widespread in Switzerland was intermediate among those of the 25 rare species, some of which only occur in alpine or lowland regions (Figure S1). This reduced the range of data points in climatic differences for widespread species and might have affected extrapolations of our models at the extreme ends of climatic differences. To control for such potential bias, we analyzed a subset of our data by keeping only those rare species that occur within the same climatic range than our widespread species (Table S3). This analysis confirmed the effects of climatic differences and their interaction with range size found for the whole dataset. We conclude that more widespread species have a wider climatic tolerance than rarer ones, which is likely to have contributed to their larger ranges.

Aboveground biomass production of rarer species hardly changed in response to differences in precipitation. In contrast, more widespread species increased their biomass particularly when the amount of precipitation was lower than in their natural range (Table 2, Fig. 2b). Possibly, a dryer climate implies a higher number of sunny days and therefore more favorable conditions for plant growth. More widespread species therefore seem to be more able to plastically increase their biomass under favorable growing conditions, whereas rarer species seem to be less able to change their phenotypes in response to environmental variation. When precipitation was higher than in their natural range, more widespread species were also able to increase their biomass. This plastic response in more widespread species indicates that, in addition to maintaining generally high survival under different climatic conditions, widespread species were able to take advantage of both drier and wetter

71

conditions. Widespread species have also been shown to be better able to take advantage of an increase in nutrient availability than rare species (Dawson et al. 2012) and, compared with species confined to river corridors, to better take advantage of benign conditions of non-river corridor conditions (Fischer et al. 2010). Our study therefore adds additional evidence that widespread species might be widespread as they are able to take advantage of favorable climatic and environmental conditions than species of small range size, and that this is a general pattern.

Under future climate change, with a predicted increase in extreme precipitation events (Easterling et al. 2000), our results indicate that more widespread species might better take advantage of the changing climatic conditions and potentially outcompete rarer species. This calls for developing measures to support rare species.

Rare plant species have lower survival and lower biomass than widespread plant species

Why some species are rare while others are widespread has fascinated ecologists for decades (Brown et al. 1996, Webb & Gaston 2003). Differences in species traits have repeatedly been suggested to explain the distribution and abundance of plant species in nature (Keddy 1992, Weiher et al. 1999). In our study, overall, rare plant species showed lower survival and lower biomass production than widespread plant species. This variation in the intrinsic general performance of plants could be a major driver of rarity and commonness at large spatial scales. Lower biomass of rare species has also been found in other studies (Murray et al. 2002, Lavergne et al. 2004, Cornwell & Ackerly 2010, Dawson et al. 2012) and indicates that rare species have slower growth rates (Cornelissen et al. 2003), a trait that is often attributed to slower nutrient uptake and hence lower competitive ability in productive habitats (Grime 1977). Concordantly, Dawson et al. (2012) showed that widespread species increased biomass more strongly in response to nutrient addition than rare species did. Usually, studies comparing rare and widespread species use pairs of species they had classified as rare and widespread. By using a continuous gradient of rarity and commonness with many species originating from different habitats, our approach suggests that a positive relationship between plant performance and plant range size is a general pattern. Future studies that take various aspects of rarity into account, including small and large populations of plant species differing in range size, are needed to ultimately test whether a lower general performance of species of small distribution range is a result of small population sizes and hence reduced genetic diversity (Leimu et al. 2006), or whether generally lower general fitness of such species is responsible for their small distributional ranges.

Conclusion

In this study, we used a gradient of range sizes and a gradient of climatic conditions to test whether rare and widespread plant species differ in their tolerance to climate change. We provide, based on a large number of species, experimental evidence that more widespread species indeed have larger climatic niches than rarer species. We showed that rare species not only have generally lower survival and biomass production than more widespread species but that they are also more susceptible to changed climate. On the contrary, more widespread species were not affected by a change in climate and even could take advantage of favorable growing conditions by plastically increasing their biomass. Our multi-species experiment suggests that this is a general pattern, and our results indicate that already rare and endangered species might suffer strongly from the forecasted climatic changes.

Acknowledgements

We thank Adrian Möhl and Christine Föhr for collecting the seeds in the natural populations; the teams of the Botanical Gardens of Basel, Champex, Geneva, Pont-de-Nant and Schynige Platte, for hosting the experiment and for their support; the numerous field assistants who helped harvesting the plants and collecting the data; Niklaus E. Zimmermann for providing the original climatic data; Eric Allan and Santiago Soliveres for their comments on an earlier draft of this manuscript. This study was supported by the Federal Office of the Environment, Switzerland.

Supplementary information

Text S1. To test whether range size in Switzerland is correlated with the European range size of our study species, we used map-derived area estimates from the Atlas Europeae (Meusel et al. 1978) for the 21 species for which these maps were available. We assessed the number of pixels of a species European distribution and cross-referenced these using islands, for which the exact surface values are known. Range size in Europe was significantly correlated with range size in Switzerland (r = 0.508, p < 0.001).

Meusel, H., Jäger, E. J., Rauschert, S. & Weinert, E. (1978). *Vergleichende Chorologie der zentraleuropäischen Flora. Bd. 2, Text u. Karten.* Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena.

Table S1. List of the 24 rare and 11 widespread species (indicated by *) studied in this experiment, including their plant family, range size in Switzerland (number of 10x10 kilometers grid cells occupied by a species in Switzerland; Bornand 2014, see Methods), mean altitude, mean annual amount of precipitation and temperature of the species natural range, and the IUCN category of threat in Switzerland (LC: Least Concern; NT: Near Threatened; VU: Vulnerable; EN: Endangered; CR: Critically Endangered).

Species	Family	Range size	Mean altitude (m a.s.l.)	Mean annual precipitation (mm)	Mean annual temperature (°C)	IUCN status
Polycnemum maius	Amaranthaceae	69	608	707	9.2	FN
Oenanthe lachenalii	Aniaceae	20	422	1177	9.0	CR
Peucedanum venetum	Aniaceae	14	635	1563	9.8	VU
Seseli annuum	Apiaceae	47	768	1005	8.0	VU
Artemisia absinthium*	Asteraceae	140	1132	907	6.4	LC
Artemisia alacialis	Asteraceae	9	2599	1291	-0.7	NT
Artemisia umbelliformis*	Asteraceae	173	2406	1568	0.0	LC
Artemisia vallesiaca	Asteraceae	14	717	820	8.7	NT
Bidens cernua	Asteraceae	76	632	1249	8.0	FN
Bidens radiata	Asteraceae	3	495	1091	8.7	CR
Bidens tripartita*	Asteraceae	118	478	1069	8.9	NT
Centaurea scabiosa*	Asteraceae	320	746	1259	7.5	LC
Inula spiraeifolia	Asteraceae	4	661	1774	9.9	VU
Senecio halleri	Asteraceae	12	2463	1356	0.0	NT
Sedum alpestre*	Crassulaceae	186	2534	1530	-1.0	LC
Sedum villosum	Crassulaceae	92	2175	1327	1.1	VU
Carex bohemica	Cyperaceae	2	429	1036	9.0	CR
Cyperus flavescens	Cyperaceae	155	374	1356	10.1	VU
Cyperus fuscus	Cyperaceae	151	433	1064	9.3	VU
Ephedra helvetica	Ephedraceae	6	612	726	9.3	VU
Astragalus leontinus	Fabaceae	32	2155	1063	1.4	NT
Stachvs annua	Fabaceae	102	489	1037	8.9	VU
Trifolium pratense*	Fabaceae	390	1193	1600	5.3	LC
Trifolium repens*	Fabaceae	386	1178	1523	5.4	LC
Juncus arcticus	Juncaceae	35	2251	1237	0.8	VU
Juncus articulatus*	Juncaceae	344	961	1495	6.6	LC
Ludwiaia palustris	Onagraceae	21	384	1171	9.8	CR
Linaria vulaaris*	Plantaginaceae	285	735	1270	7.5	LC
Bromus erectus*	Poaceae	345	889	1189	6.9	LC
Cleistogenes seroting	Poaceae	11	457	1294	10.2	VU
Rumex crispus*	Polygonaceae	274	867	1361	7.0	LC
Rumex hvdrolapathum	Polygonaceae	30	448	1013	8.8	EN
Rumex maritimus	Polygonaceae	5	431	1038	9.0	CR
Niaella arvensis	Ranunculaceae	37	667	874	8.4	EN
Potentilla multifida	Rosaceae	7	2659	1307	-1.0	VU
,		-				

 Table S2. Number of plants per species grown in each botanical garden.

	Botanical gardens						
Species	Geneva	Basel	Pont-de-Nant	Champex	Schynige Platte		
Artemisia absinthium	8	7	6	7	9		
Artemisia glacialis	9	8	9	7	9		
Artemisia umbelliformis	9	8	4	8	8		
Artemisia vallesiaca	10	10	10	10	11		
Astragalus leontinus	9	7	7	9	9		
Bidens cernua	10	10	10	10	10		
Bidens radiata	10	10	11	10	10		
Bidens tripartita	9	7	8	8	9		
Bromus erectus	7	6	9	7	7		
Carex bohemica	20	20	20	20	20		
Centaurea scabiosa	9	8	8	8	9		
Cleistogenes serotina	8	8	8	8	8		
Cyperus flavescens	9	9	10	9	9		
Cyperus fuscus	20	20	20	20	20		
Ephedra helvetica	10	9	10	10	10		
Inula spiraeifolia	10	9	10	10	10		
Juncus arcticus	20	20	20	20	20		
Juncus articulatus	8	9	5	9	8		
Linaria vulgaris	9	8	7	9	9		
Ludwigia palustris	9	10	10	9	10		
Nigella arvensis	9	11	10	9	10		
Oenanthe lachenalii	10	10	9	10	10		
Peucedanum venetum	10	10	9	10	10		
Polycnemum majus	10	10	9	10	10		
Potentilla multifida	10	10	10	10	10		
Rumex crispus	8	9	9	9	9		
Rumex hydrolapathum	10	10	10	10	10		
Rumex maritimus	10	10	10	10	10		
Sedum alpestre	9	9	9	9	9		
Sedum villosum	4	7	6	7	6		
Senecio halleri	6	7	5	6	8		
Seseli annuum	10	10	10	10	10		
Stachy annua	10	9	10	10	10		
Trifolium pratense	7	9	8	9	8		
Trifolium repens	9	9	9	9	9		

Table S3. Effect of climatic differences on the biomass production and the survival of a subset of 31 species. The rare species used in this experiment naturally occur in a wider range of climatic conditions than the widespread species used in this experiment (Fig. S1). We re-analyzed our data with a dataset including all the widespread species and a subset of 20 rare species, keeping only those which occur inside a precipitation range of 900 to 1600 mm.yr⁻¹. We considered the precipitation values to define this climatic range because it was the climatic variable which interacted with range size. The results did not differ significantly from the analysis of the entire dataset.

	Biomass			Survival		
	estimate	p-value	Chi ²	estimate	p-value	Chi ²
Range	0.19	0.006**	7.37	0.63	0.391	0.75
∆ Temperature	-0.09	0.4	0.71	1.17	0.173	1.86
Δ Precipitations	-0.28	0.017^{*}	5.73	-	-	-
Δ Temperature ²	-0.15	< 0.001***	82.8	-0.58	< 0.001***	30.8
Δ Precipitations ²	0.01	0.186	1.75	-0.18	0.778	0.08
Range x Δ Temperature	-	-	-	-	-	-
Range x Δ Precipitations	0.05	< 0.001***	11.4	-	-	-
Range x Δ Temperature ²	-	-	-	-	-	-
Range x Δ Precipitations ²	0.11	< 0.001***	30.1	0.20	0.022*	5.22
Family/Species		0.284			17.63	
Family		<0.001			<0.001	
Botanical Garden	0.018			1.818		

Figure S1. Correlations between a) mean temperature (°C) and b) mean annual level of precipitation (mm.year⁻¹) in the natural range of our 35 species, and their range size. Widespread species showed more intermediate values than rarer species, although there was no correlation between range size and mean temperature (r = -0.08, p = 0.64), and the correlation between range size and mean temperature (r = -0.08, p = 0.64), and the correlation between range size and mean temperature.



Chapter 5

Experimental introductions of eight rare and endangered plant species to the wild and the importance of genetic diversity for their success

Deborah Schäfer*, Hugo Vincent*, Anne Kempel and Markus Fischer

*equally contributing authors

Abstract

In the light of ongoing biodiversity losses the introduction of rare and endangered plant species to the wild has become a common conservation technique even though they are considered laborious, expensive and only rarely successful. It is broadly accepted that careful selection of suitable introduction sites matters largely for the success of introductions. Moreover, high genetic diversity among introduced plants is suggested to be important for the success of introductions. We tested whether it is possible to realize successful introductions with little effort and expenses when knowledge of experimental population biologists, field botanists and conservation practitioners is combined. We chose eight rare and endangered plant species of Switzerland, and introduced pregrown plantlets at one apparently suitable site per species. We planted 40 to 312 plants per site at two levels of genetic diversity, monoculture plots with offspring of single seed families per species and diversity plots with offspring of several seed families per species. After two years, four of the eight introductions appeared to be promising with 28 % - 78 % of the plant individuals surviving per introduction, whereas the other four introductions showed a very low survival of introduced plants (2 - 8 %). The low survival of the latter four introduced populations was likely due to drought and/or other stochastic events. In the early stages of the introductions, higher genetic diversity increased plant survival. However, this effect disappeared with time. Our study suggests that successful introduction to carefully selected sites are possible even for very rare and endangered species and that high genetic diversity can increase at least the initial short term success.

Introduction

Species diversity is lost at an unprecedented rate (Taberlet et al. 2012). Habitat loss and fragmentation have been termed the greatest drivers of the rapid decline in biodiversity (Sala et al. 2000) and measures to prevent further biodiversity loss have received considerable attention. Among those, habitat protection and restoration are the most important and most commonly used conservation methods (Maunder 1992). However, for plants, restored habitats often lack a sufficient seed bank, and dispersal of species into these sites is limited due to the fragmentation of our landscapes. To overcome these limitations, introductions, i.e. the deliberate release of organisms in a natural habitat (Wolf et al. 1996), have become an essential conservation technique (Vergeer et al. 2004, Menges 2008).

Introductions aim to ensure the long-term survival of populations, either by reinforcing the size and the genetic diversity of present populations, or by creating new self-sustaining populations in suitable habitats (Wolf et al. 1996). Despite their broad acceptance as an important tool to decrease inbreeding depression and genetic drift in declining populations and to overcome dispersal limitation (Vergeer et al. 2004), their use is discussed controversially as they are labour-intensive, expensive and often unsuccessful (Maunder 1992, Godefroid et al. 2011, Maschinski & Haskins 2012). Many factors can affect the success of rare plant species introductions, including the choice of a suitable habitat (Noël et al. 2011), the number and type (e.g. seeds, plants) of propagules introduced (Frankham et al. 2002) and the origin and genetic diversity of these propagules (Price & Waser 1979, Menges 2008, Maschinski & Haskins 2012). However, there is little scientific and specific knowledge on how these factors precisely contribute to the failure or success of introductions, as they are rarely performed as experiments (Godefroid et al. 2011). To assess the success of introductions, understanding plant population processes is required based on a sound experimental design, monitoring of individuals and rigorous data analysis. However, as collaborations between practitioners and scientific institutions appear to be very rare in plant introductions (Falk et al. 1996, Maschinski & Haskins 2012), most introductions are not performed as designed experiments and their success is not monitored quantitatively.

Many studies underline the importance of high genetic diversity for the fitness and survival of natural populations (Oostermeijer et al. 1994, Fischer & Matthies 1998). High genetic diversity increases the chance of having pre-adapted genotypes to future perturbations (Gamfeldt & Källström 2007), can lead to complementarity between different genotypes of a single species (Loreau & Hector 2001), decreases the impact of enemies such as herbivores or pathogens (Zhu et al. 2000, Tooker & Frank 2012), increases the probability of a population to adapt to changing environmental conditions (Mayr 1963, Ouborg & van Treuren 1994, Jump et al. 2009) and reduces inbreeding levels and thus the expression of inbreeding depression (Charlesworth & Charlesworth 1987, Barrett & Kohn 1991,

81

Ellstrand & Elam 1993, Godt et al. 1996). Therefore, high genetic diversity might be crucial for successful introductions (Lesica & Allendorf 1999, Vergeer et al. 2005, Maschinski & Haskins 2012, Prati et al. 2016). There is however only limited experimental evidence for the positive effect of genetic diversity on the introduction success of rare species. For example, introductions of individuals of several seed families (i.e. seeds originating from different mother plants) of *Arnica montana* had increased survival compared to introductions of individuals of only one seed family (Vergeer et al. 2005). Moreover, reintroductions of several genotypes of the clonal *Ranunculus reptans*, a rare plant of Switzerland, were more successful than reintroductions of only single genotypes (Prati et al. 2016). Further, in a meta-analysis, Forsman (2013) found strong evidence of increased establishment success in plants and animals with higher levels of genetic and phenotypic diversity. However, of the nine studies on plants included in this meta-analysis only seven were performed in natural conditions and none of these studies introduced rare or endangered plant species. Therefore, it remains inconclusive whether high genetic diversity increases introduction success of rare plant species under natural conditions.

Switzerland harbours a species rich flora; however, about 30 % of its native vascular plant species are considered as threatened (Moser et al. 2002, Bornand et al. 2016), which is an alarming number. Due to extensive surveys of local botanists over the years, a large database on plant records (Bornand et al. 2016), as well as comprehensive knowledge on species characteristics and requirements is available for Switzerland (Landolt et al. 2010). On this basis, a list of priority species for conservation was established, taking into account both the degree to which a species is threatened and also the responsibility Switzerland has at a global level for a particular species (FOEN 2011).

For this study, we selected eight rare and endangered plant species from this list, originating from different habitats and plant families (Table 1). We then grew seedlings from field-collected seeds, and performed introductions with plantlets into natural habitats. For each species, we introduced plants at two levels of genetic diversity by either introducing offspring of only single mother plants (monoculture plots) or offspring of different mother plants (mixture plots) and compared their survival, plant height and flowering. This allowed us, on the one hand, to perform introductions with the aim to test whether establishing viable populations is possible at all with these very rare species, and on the other hand to test whether increased genetic diversity enhances the early establishment of introduced populations of rare plants.

Material & Methods

Study species and study sites

In 2011 and 2012 seeds of the eight selected rare plant species of conservation priority in Switzerland (Table 1, Moser et al. 2002, List of Priority Species at the National Level FOEN 2011) were collected from single natural populations. The seeds were harvested from 10-20 mother plants per species, and seed families (i.e. seeds originating from the same mother plant) were stored separately. In spring 2013 we sowed the seeds (separated by species and seed family) to germination trays. The seedlings were then transplanted into pots (\emptyset 9 cm) filled with normal potting soil (Ricoter, Aarberg, Switzerland) in a common garden (Botanical Garden of Bern, Switzerland). Between July and October 2013 we introduced each species into a separate natural site (Table S1). We selected the introduction sites for each species in collaboration with botanists and local conservation practitioners to minimize geographical distance and to maximise ecological similarity with the source populations.

Table 1. List of the study species with their plant family, IUCN category of threat (VU: vulnerable, EN: endangered, CR: critically
endangered, Red List of Switzerland, Moser et al. 2002), priority for conservation in Switzerland (1: very high, 2: high, 3:
moderate, 4: low; List of National Priority Species, FOEN 2011) and their habitat preference (Lauber et al. 2012).

Species	Family	IUCN	Priority	Habitat
Allium angulosum	Amaryllidaceae	VU	4	wet meadows
Campanula cervicaria	Campanulaceae	EN	3	clay soils in shady places, changing soil humidity
Cleistogenes serotina	Poaceae	VU	4	dry grasslands
Inula helvetica	Asteraceae	VU	2	often next to bushes along water and at forests edges
Ludwigia palustris	Onagraceae	CR	2	trenches, at the margins of ponds, occasionally flooded
Oenanthe lachenalii	Apiaceae	CR	2	wet grasslands
Senecio erraticus	Asteraceae	EN	3	along moist forest paths, brooksides, and alluvial soils
Teucrium scordium	Lamiaceae	EN	3	in fens, in trenches, and on river banks

Study design

We defined two levels of genetic diversity: monoculture plots (each only with individuals of a single seed family) and mixture plots (with individuals of several seed families). We planted n (n = number of seed families per species ranging from 5 to 13) monoculture plots and n mixture plots per species. Each monoculture plot consisted of n-1 individuals of one seed family. Each mixture plot consisted of a unique combination of n-1 individuals of different seed families (Fig. 1, see Table S2 for more information on the introduction design for each species). We planted the individuals at 20 cm distance

within plots and with 40 cm distance between plants of different plots. All plants were watered after planting but no additional care was provided thereafter.

Figure 1. Design of the introduction plots, example of *Allium angulosum* (180 individuals, 10 seed families, 10 monoculture plots, 10 mixture plots). Each entry represents one individual plant and each symbol represents one seed family.



Measurements

Two months after the introductions (1st season), and in spring 2014 (seven to ten months after the introductions, 2nd season), we recorded plant survival, measured the height of the introduced plants as a non-destructive estimation of plant performance, and recorded whether plants were flowering. Flowering could only be analysed for *Ludwigia palustris* and *Oenanthe lachenalii* in the 2nd season, as the other species did not flower yet or at very low numbers. In the 1st season, individuals from three species were too small to be measured with the same precision as the other species. Thus we did not record plant height for these species at this stage (Table 2).

In autumn 2015 (two years after the introductions, 3rd season) we monitored the introduced populations again. Since some species had produced offspring by sexual reproduction in the previous year and some by clonal growth, we were not always able to identify the originally planted individuals unequivocally and therefore refrained from assigning the plants to their respective seed families or treatments at this stage. For each species we counted the number of individuals, calculated population growth relative to the number of planted individuals and we counted the total number of flowering individuals.

Statistical analysis

To test whether plant performance was affected by genetic diversity, we used generalized linear mixed effect models (*glmer*) with a binomial error distribution for the survival and flowering data and linear mixed effect models (*lmer*) for the continuous plant height data (package lme4, Bates et al. 2015). We tested for the effect of genetic diversity after the 1st season and after the 2nd season. Plant height for dead individuals was set to NA to only look at the diversity effect on surviving individuals. The models included treatment (monoculture plot, mixture plot) as fixed effect, and species, seed family, and plot

identity as random factors. We also included the time since transplantation (in days) as a covariate. We additionally carried out the analyses for each species separately, where we only included seed family and plot identity as random factors. We log-transformed plant height to account for non-normal distribution.

The effect of our treatment could not be analysed beyond the 2nd season (see above), as we were not able to assign the individual plants to their original treatment any longer. The data of the 3rd season therefore only serves as a measure of success of our introductions in the longer run.

All data were analysed using R, Version 3.3.2 (R Core Team 2016).

Results

Survival and population growth of introduced populations

By the 1st season (Table 2, Fig. 2) between 56 % and 100 % of the introduced individuals per species had survived and by the 2nd season between 41 % and 97 % of the introduced individuals per species had survived, indicating that all introductions were successful in the short term. After the 2nd season we found flowering individuals in the introduced populations of *Ludwigia palustris* (37 %), *Oenanthe lachenalii* (65 %) and *Senecio erraticus* (3 %). By the 3rd season four of the introduced populations had an overall population growth between 28 % and 78 % (*Senecio erraticus, Campanula cervicaria, Oenanthe lachenalii, Cleistogenes serotina*), while the other four populations had an overall population growth lower than 10 % (*Allium angulosum, Ludwigia palustris, Teucrium scordium, Inula helvetica;* Table 2, Fig. 2). We found 30 % of the individuals of *Campanula cervicaria* and 3.5 % of the individuals of *Cleistogenes serotina* flowering (Table 2) and observed clonal reproduction in the introduced populations of *Cleistogenes serotina* and *Senecio erraticus*.

Figure 2. Mean population growth (number of individuals counted relative to the number of individuals planted) of the individual species over the three measurements. 1st season was two month after the introductions, 2nd season was seven to ten month after the introduction, and 3rd season was two years after the introductions.



Table 2. Results of the experimental introduction of plants of eight rare species, each into a different field site. Survival denotes mean survival rate in relation to the number of introduced plants, height denotes mean plant height in cm, and flowering denotes the number of flowering individuals of the introduced populations in the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd season of the experiment.

Species	1 st season			2 nd season			3 rd season	
	Survival	Height	Flowering	Survival	Height	Flowering	Survival	Flowering
Allium angulosum	0.67	4.9	0	0.49	7.8	0	0.02	0
Campanula cervicaria	0.83	6.3	0	0.63	13.7	0	0.33	30
Cleistogenes serotina	0.98	14.1	0	0.8	7.1	NA	0.78	2
Inula helvetica	0.56	NA	0	0.41	7	0	0.08	0
Ludwigia palustris	0.96	NA	0	0.53	2.7	66	0.03	0
Oenanthe lachenalii	1	3.5	0	0.97	48	93	0.43	NA
Senecio erraticus	0.99	17.4	0	0.5	23	5	0.28	0
Teucrium scordium	1	NA	0	0.85	3.8	0	0.03	0

Figure 3. Effect of genetic diversity on a) survival rate for the 1st and b) 2nd season, and c) plant height for the 1st and d) 2nd season of all eight plant species in monoculture plots (individuals of one seed family) and mixture plots (individuals of several seed families).



Effect of genetic diversity over all species

During the 1^{st} season, over all species survival was by 5 % higher in the mixture plots than in the monoculture plots (p = 0.025, Fig. 3a, Table 3), while plant height was not affected by the genetic diversity treatment (Fig. 3c). By the 2^{nd} season overall species survival (Fig. 3b) and plant height (Fig. 3d) did not differ between mixture and monoculture plots.

Effect of genetic diversity on individual species

Analysing each species separately, we found few differences in survival and plant height between monoculture and mixture plots. During the 1st season, individuals of *Allium angulosum* survived slightly better in the mixture plots (p = 0.025, Fig. S1a, Table 3). Individuals of *Cleistogenes serotina* were taller when growing in the mixture plots (p = 0.032, Fig. S1b, Table 3). However, for both species, these effects were transient and disappeared later. In the 2nd season, individuals of *Inula helvetica* were taller in the mixture plots (p = 0.098, Fig. S1c, Table 3), while individuals of *Oenanthe lachenalii* were taller in the monoculture plots (p = 0.058, Fig. S1d, Table 3).

Table 3. Outcome of linear mixed models testing for the effect of genetic diversity (seed family monoculture vs. mixture plots) on the average survival, plant height and flowering of experimentally introduced individuals of eight rare species. In the models overall species, we included time since transplantation as a covariate and genotype, species and plot identity as random terms. In the single species models, we included seed family and plot identity as random terms. Estimates are given for the significant and marginally significant terms only.

		Mean survival rate		Pl	Plant height		Flowering	
		estimate	p-value	estim	ate p-value	estimate	p-value	
	Over all species	0.671	0.025 *	-	0.481	-	-	
	Allium angulosum	0.789	0.068 ^(*)	-	0.598	-	-	
	Campanula cervicaria	-	0.150	-	0.173	-	-	
Ę	Cleistogenes serotina	-	0.236	2.52	2 0.032 *	-	-	
aso	Ludwigia palustris	-	0.670	-	-	-	-	
st Se	Inula helvetica	-	0.598	-	-	-	-	
Ĥ	Oenanthe lachenalii	-	1	-	0.572	-	-	
	Senecio erraticus	-	1	-	0.105	-	-	
	Teucrium scordium	-	1	-	-	-	-	
	Over all species	-	0.343	-	0.654	-	-	
	Allium angulosum	-	0.241	-	0.512	-	-	
	Campanula cervicaria	-	0.759	-	0.457	-	-	
son	Cleistogenes serotina	-	0.518	-	0.707	-	-	
sea	Ludwigia palustris	-	0.337	-	0.672	-	0.915	
2 nd	Inula helvetica	-	0.679	0.41	2 0.098 ^(*)	-	-	
	Oenanthe lachenalii	-	1	-4.40	0.058 ^(*)	-	0.248	
	Senecio erraticus	-	0.701	-	0.878	-	-	
	Teucrium scordium	-	1	-	0.763	-	-	

Discussion

Introductions of rare and endangered plant species

The introduction of endangered plant species has become an increasingly important conservation method, unfortunately introductions are often not successful. In a meta-analysis including 249 plant reintroductions, Godefroid et al. (2011) assessed a mean survival rate over all introductions included in their study of approximately 52 % and a flowering rate over all introductions of about 19 % after one year, and a further decrease of survival and flowering rate with time. In our study, all eight introduced populations were still alive one year after the introduction with a survival rate from 41 % to 97 %, and three introduced populations had flowering individuals. After two years, in four out of the eight introduced populations most individuals had died (survival rate < 10 %), most likely due to the very dry summer in 2015, where sites, which are normally occasionally flooded, fell dry during the whole year (Allium angulosum, Ludwigia helvetica, Teucrium scordium) and did not meet the species requirements any more. Two species suffered from intensive duck-grazing immediately after planting (Allium angulosum) or soil erosion from water running over the plot (Inula helvetica). Nevertheless, four out of eight introduced populations still had a survival rate between 28 % and 78 % after two years, and out of those, three introduced populations had flowering individuals or clonal reproduction. These observations reflect, on the one hand, the difficulties of meeting habitat requirements of introduced species and highlight the importance of introducing large populations to overcome environmental stochasticity such as extreme weather events or disturbances. On the other hand, they show the feasibility of our approach combining population-biological knowledge and botanical knowledge on species and habitats for introductions of very rare plant species. The success of our introduction experiment, which involved even fewer introduced plant individuals (40 to 312 per site) than recently recommended in Switzerland (about 500, Info Flora 2016), is very promising for further introductions. We suggest that future plant introductions should be accompanied by both scientists and practitioners to comprehensively address questions on species biology, habitat suitability, choice of sample sizes and genetic material of founder individuals, transplant design and data analysis.

Relevance of high genetic diversity

Initially, plants growing in plots of higher genetic diversity survived better than plants growing in plots of lower genetic diversity. This is in line with general considerations on ecological consequences of genetic diversity (Hughes et al. 2008) and it is consistent with the existing literature on the effect of genotypic variation on establishment success (Vergeer et al. 2005, Forsman 2013, Prati et al. 2016). Higher genetic diversity is expected to increase the probability of having adapted genotypes (sampling effect) and leads to increased resistance to enemies such as herbivores and pathogens (Zhu et al. 2000, Tooker & Frank 2012) or decreased intraspecific competition for resources between different genotypes (complementarity effect, Loreau & Hector 2001). The latter two mechanisms might have caused the positive diversity effect on survival that we found in the very first stage of our introductions shortly after planting, where stresses due to transplantation such as water stress, root disturbance, abiotic differences, or the encountering of new enemies such as herbivores and pathogens can be particularly drastic (South & Zwolinski 1996). We showed that genetic diversity can enhance introduction success, however, this effect might only occur at particularly stressful stages, in our case the early stage of an introduction. Accordingly, Prati et al. (2016) found a positive effect of genetic diversity on introduced populations of *Ranunculus reptans* only after a severe flood, in this case several years after the introduction.

The strength of the diversity effect on survival differed between species, partly because mortality in some species was too low to show any effect of genetic diversity. Differences in the genetic diversity effect between species might in addition reflect differences in genetic variation between source populations of our species. For very rare species monoculture and diversity plots may hardly differ from each other, because populations of rare and endangered species, such as our sampling populations, are expected to show little genetic variation within populations due to their generally small size and large degree of isolation (Gaston 2003, Leimu et al. 2006). That we still found a positive effect of genetic diversity in the very first stage of establishment underlines the importance of using genetically diverse plant material to maximise the success of introductions of endangered plant species.

In the 2nd season of our experiment, the effect of genetic diversity disappeared, suggesting that other factors such as habitat suitability and environmental stochasticity are more important for the midterm to longer-term survival of introduced plant populations. Nevertheless, high genetic diversity seems to be beneficial under stressful conditions, and is expected to become particularly important at even longer time scales once the consequences of longer-term evolutionary processes become apparent (Vergeer et al. 2005). Future studies should thus address the interacting effects of population size and genetic diversity on introduction success and monitor the introduced populations as long as possible.

Height, which we measured as an additional parameter may indicate fitness as it is correlated with biomass production and associated with fecundity (Cornelissen et al. 2003), or it may indicate levels of competition for light (Falster & Westoby 2003). In our study, plant height generally suggested that the plants were growing healthy and it was not influenced by genetic diversity over all species. For the individual species the effect was variable. *Cleistogenes serotina* and *Inula helvetica* had taller plant individuals in the mixture plots than in the monoculture plots, either indicating better plant performance or increased intraspecific competition for light. In contrast, *Oenanthe lachenalii* had

smaller individuals in the mixture plots than in the monoculture plots, either indicating poorer performance or reduced intraspecific competition for light. To assess plant performance more precisely we would have needed to measure biomass or to count seeds. However, as we did not want to interfere with the introduced plants we refrained from such measures. As different species showed varying results, in both measurements survival and height, we suggest that further studies should develop more biological knowledge for many rare and endangered plant species to disentangle the effects of specific characteristics (e.g. life form, pollination system) on introduction success.

Conclusion

We introduced populations of eight rare plant species, all threatened with extinction, transplanting a relatively low number of 40 to 312 individuals. Nevertheless, half of our introductions were promising after two years, which encourages the use of introductions to preserve rare and endangered plant species. The very low survival of four of our introduced species was most likely due to unexpected events, which made the habitats unsuitable for the species. Thus, we recommend introducing many individuals to buffer those stochastic events. Further we recommend the use of genetically diverse plant material for the introduction of rare and endangered plant species. Lastly, to increase the success of introductions and to save costs associated with unsuccessful introductions we advise close collaboration between experimental plant ecologists, field botanists and conservation practitioners at all stages of introductions, during species and site selection, also taking the likelihood of extreme events into account, when designing and setting up the experiment, and during monitoring. This will enhance our understanding of the underlying factors responsible for success or failure and will thus increase the success of future introductions of endangered plant species.

Acknowledgements

We thank Info Flora, Bern and Geneva, Switzerland, and the Botanical Garden of Bern for their practical support and their advice concerning regulations, and all federal and cantonal authorities, conservation experts, and botanists for their collaboration. We also thank Judith Hinderling, Karl Kasper, Yvonne Küenzi, Stefan Blaser, Armin Komposch, Janique Bertschi and Judith Minker for their help in the field; Daniel Prati and Eric Allan for their help with the analyses. We thank the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment for financial support.

Supporting information

Table S1. List of the origins of the study species and the introduction locations. The abbreviations stand for different cantonsin Switzerland, BE = Bern, GE = Genève, TI = Ticino, VD = Vaud, VS = Valais, ZH = Zürich.

Species	Seed origin	Year of harvest	Location of introduction
Allium angulosum	Mörigenbucht, BE	2012	Mörigenbucht, BE
Campanula cervicaria Cleistogenes serotina	Chlosteralp und Forst, BE Ayent, VS	2012 2011	Chlosteralp, BE Aven, VS
Inula helvetica	Aeust am Albis, ZH	2012	Thürlerseegebiet, ZH
Ludwigia palustris	Bolle di Magadino, TI	2011	Verzasca Delta, TI
Oenanthe lachenalii	Au, ZH	2011	Au, ZH
Senecio erraticus	Aire-La-Ville, GE	2012	Commugny, VD
Teucrium scordium	Plaine des l'Orbe, VD	2012	NSG Häftli, BE

 Table S2. Details on the design of the experimental species introductions.

number of seed families included	Number of plots in total	individuals per plot	individuals introduced
10	20	9	180
13	26	12	312
6	12	5	60
7	14	6	84
10	20	9	180
9	18	8	144
10	20	9	180
5	10	4	40
	families included 10 13 6 7 10 9 10 5	families includedin total1020132661271410209181020510	families included in total individuals per plot 10 20 9 13 26 12 6 12 5 7 14 6 10 20 9 9 18 8 10 20 9 5 10 4

Figure S1. Effect of genetic diversity on mean survival rate and height in monoculture (offspring of one seed family, light grey bars) and mixture plots (offspring of several seed families, dark grey bars) for the species showing a significant or marginally significant effect of genetic diversity on survival rate or plant height. Each dot represents the mean value for a single plot. The error bars represent the standard errors.



Chapter 6

Summary and general conclusions

Most species are rare, while few are widespread (Gaston 1994, Brown et al. 1996, McGill et al. 2007). This has fascinated scientists from the time of the earliest biogeographers, and since then generations of scientists have tried to understand the drivers of species distribution and abundance. In addition to this fundamental interest in species rarity and commonness, it is also of great concern in conservation biology. Human-driven global changes such as land-cover change and associated habitat loss and fragmentation, or climate change, are threatening biodiversity, resulting in unprecedented species extinction rates (Thomas et al. 2004a, MEA 2005, Barnosky et al. 2011). Understanding why some species are rarer and more endangered than others, and the consequences of rarity for their populations is essential for developing the most efficient conservation measures.

This thesis aimed at contributing to our understanding of differences between rare and widespread species and at providing scientific knowledge informing conservation in the context of global changes. To allow us drawing general conclusions, we performed multi-species experiments (van Kleunen et al. 2014), involving dozens of plant species of various range sizes in Switzerland, from very rare and endangered to widespread.

Comparison of rare and widespread species: performance, heritability and response to climate change

A large number of studies have investigated trait differences between rare and widespread species (e.g. Murray et al. 2002, Lavergne et al. 2004, Cornwell & Ackerly 2010, Dawson et al. 2012). If traits are linked to the fitness of individuals and populations, these differences may explain why some species are rarer than others (Kunin & Gaston 1993, Gaston 1994). However, traits linked to establishment ability, which may have a direct influence on species abundance and distribution, have received little attention.

In the experiment presented in Chapter 2 we tested whether traits important for plant establishment are related to plant rarity. We weighed and germinated seeds of 32 rare and endangered and 39 widespread species of Switzerland. While seed mass and time of germination did not differ between species of different range sizes, rarer species showed significantly lower germination percentages than more widespread ones. Based on these findings we conclude that seed mass and the timing of germination are unlikely to play an important role in the explanation of rarity. Differences in germination percentages, however, might be a cause of rarity by reducing the establishment potential of populations of rare species. Lower germination percentages might also be a consequence of rarity, as rare species are expected to occur in smaller and more isolated populations than widespread species and therefore suffer more from inbreeding depression. Based on a large number of species, our results indicate that the positive relationship between range size and germination percentages is a general pattern. In this experiment, we also tested whether rarer and more endangered species. The effect of stratification on germination success was not related to the rarity or the endangerment of species, as overall all species benefited significantly from being cold-stratified.

Our results of Chapter 2 suggest that particular attention should be paid to the germination of rare and endangered species in ex-situ collections and introductions to the wild. It is encouraging for conservation that germinating large numbers of individuals of endangered plant species was possible, especially after applying a cold-stratification treatment to seeds of the rare and endangered plant species. Such stratification should therefore be considered for ex-situ collections and when preparing introductions.

As rare and endangered species are likely to occur in smaller and more isolated populations, they are expected to show lower levels of genetic diversity than less rare and less endangered species (Gaston 2003, Leimu et al. 2006). Several studies have demonstrated that it is indeed a general pattern that rare species are overall less genetically diverse than widespread ones (Karron 1987, Gitzendanner & Soltis 2000, He et al. 2000, Cole 2003, Edwards et al. 2014). However, these results were mostly based on molecular markers which are often selectively neutral and not well correlated to variation in ecologically important traits (Reed & Frankham 2011). Quantitative-genetic approaches, however, are based on trait variation of ecological relevant traits and allow us to estimate narrow-sense heritabilities, which represent the proportion of phenotypic variation due to additive genetic variance and hence indicate the evolutionary potential of populations (Falconer & Mackay 1996, Schaal et al. 1991, Storfer 1996, Petit et al. 2001). Whether the most rare and endangered plant species have lower heritabilities, and thus a lower evolutionary potential, than less rare species is uncertain, although it may have profound implications for the future of their populations which might be exposed to important environmental changes.

We aimed to fill this research gap in Chapter 3, by investigating heritabilities of quantitative traits linked to performance, sexual reproduction, resource use and size in 31 rare plant species differing in their range size, their IUCN category of threat and their priority for conservation in Switzerland. We

96

found heritabilities to be independent of any of the three measures of rarity. Moreover, our estimates of heritability were comparable to those reported in the literature for other rare and even widespread species. To our knowledge, this is the first time a study assessed quantitative genetic trait variation and heritability in a single experiment involving multiple rare species. We conclude that rarer and more endangered plant species have generally similar levels of additive genetic variation, and thus similar evolutionary potential, than less rare and less endangered species.

This work has particularly important implications for the conservation of plant species. On the one hand, the risk of rapid adaptation of ex-situ collections to the environmental conditions of botanical gardens or ex-situ sites should be considered very carefully. On the other hand our results imply the positive message that rarer and more endangered plant species may be similarly able to adapt to future environmental changes than less rare or even widespread species.

Understanding how species will respond to climate change is a challenge of major interest for ecologists, and predicting climate effects on rare and endangered species is particularly crucial to develop effective conservation measures. It has been hypothesized that more widespread species have a larger niche breadth, i.e. can cope with a wider range of environmental conditions, than rarer species (Brown 1984, Gaston 2003, Slatyer et al. 2013, Bornand 2014). Consequently, widespread species should be more tolerant to changes in climatic conditions. However, no experimental study has addressed the link between plant rarity and the tolerance of plants to altered climates, which is fundamental to predict the impact of ongoing climate change on species extinction.

In Chapter 4, we filled this research gap using a multi-species experiment with 35 rare and widespread plant species varying in their range size in Switzerland, which, to simulate climate change, we planted in five botanical gardens situated at different altitudes. We investigated the relationship between species rarity, their performance and survival, and the climatic difference between the natural range of the species and the respective gardens. Our results show that rarer species generally had fewer surviving plants and produced less aboveground biomass than widespread species. Moreover, the survival of plants of rarer species was strongly reduced when precipitation levels differed from the ones of their natural range. More widespread species, in contrast, survived equally well under all climates, and were even able to increase their biomass under dryer or wetter conditions. To our knowledge our study is the first to demonstrate experimentally, with a large number of species and at different sites, that rare species do have a narrower fundamental climatic niche than widespread ones, and that species which are already rare and endangered might suffer strongly from the forecasted climate change.

These results have important implications for ecologists and biogeographers as they help explaining rarity in plant species. They also have important implications for conservation biologists and

97

practitioners, as they will help developing relevant conservation measures focusing on species which are likely to be more affected by climate change.

Experimental introductions of rare and endangered plant species

To face the dramatic effects of human-driven global changes on plant biodiversity, the Global Strategy for Plant Conservation (SCBD 2010) recommends that not only at least three quarters of known threatened plant species should be conserved in natural populations (Target 7) and in ex-situ collections (Target 8a), but that at least a fifth of the threatened plant species should be available for recovery and restoration programs (Target 8b). In this context, endangered species introductions, i.e. the deliberate release of organisms to the wild, are a widely promoted conservation measure. However, such introductions are considered to be costly, labour intensive and often unsuccessful (Maunder 1992, Guerrant & Kaye 2007, Godefroid et al. 2011, Maschinski & Haskins 2012). Several factors can affect the success of plant species introductions, such as the number of propagules introduced, habitat suitability and genetic diversity of the introduced material (Vergeer et al. 2005, Menges 2008, Maschinski & Haskins 2012). However, as introductions of rare and endangered species are very rarely performed as experiments, scientific knowledge on the factors affecting their success is very scarce.

Hence, in Chapter 5 we investigated the feasibility and the factors affecting the success of endangered plant species introductions in a multi-species field experiment, performed in the framework of the MSc thesis of Deborah Schäfer. We introduced plants of eight rare and endangered species with a priority for conservation in Switzerland to natural habitats. For each species one habitat was carefully selected with the help of field botanists and local conservation experts, to maximize habitat similarity and minimize geographical distance to the source populations. In addition, each introduced population was established in replicate plots of two levels of genetic diversity to assess the effect of genetic diversity on the success of introductions. After two years of monitoring, four introduced populations appeared to be promising, whereas the other four were strongly and negatively affected by stochastic environmental events. Moreover, our results indicate that higher genetic diversity increased survival in the early stages of the introductions.

Despite relatively low numbers of introduced individuals, up to 312 per species, half of the experimental introductions of rare and endangered plant species were promising. We conclude from our findings that genetic diversity may increase the early success of introductions, and thus recommend the use of plant material as genetically diverse as possible. Further, we recommend introducing many individuals to buffer stochastic environmental changes that are likely to strongly
affect small populations. Finally, our study highlights the importance of the collaboration between experimental scientists, field botanists and conservation practitioners to perform successful introductions of rare and endangered plant species

Final conclusions

This thesis addresses essential questions on plant species rarity, and using experimental multi-species approaches we were able to provide answers at a general scale. On the one hand my thesis provides new insights into the differences between rare and widespread species, and on the other hand it presents scientific evidence that can be directly applied to improve the efficiency of conservation measures.

This work highlights that rare and endangered plant species are particularly under threat in the context of global changes: they germinate less profusely and have a lower biomass than more widespread species, which might be a cause of their rarity and limit their ability to shift their ranges in the future. Moreover, rare and endangered plant species are likely to suffer strongly from climate change due to their smaller fundamental niches compared to more widespread species.

On the other hand, we show that rarer and more endangered plant species do not have a reduced evolutionary potential, which gives reason to hope that they will be similarly able to adapt to future environmental changes than less rare plant species. This may be possible provided that conservation efforts ensure the current persistence of their populations to allow sufficient time for adaptation. Our work further shows that introductions of endangered plant species are a promising and effective tool in the protection of plant biodiversity, especially when experimental scientists and field practitioners work together.

The use of large numbers of species, from very rare and endangered species to widespread ones, allowed us to draw general conclusions on the performance, evolutionary potential, response to environmental changes and conservation of rare plant species. I suggest that future research should continue in this direction and combine fundamental studies with applied conservation measures in multi-species experiments, to simultaneously provide scientific knowledge and support for concrete actions for the preservation of rare and endangered plant species.

References

- Ackerly, D.D. (2003) Community assembly, niche conservatism and adaptive evolution in changing environments. *International Journal of Plant Sciences*, **164**, S165-S184.
- Agrawal, A.A., Hastings, A.P., Johnson, M.T.J., Maron, J.L. & Salminen, J.P. (2012) Insect herbivores drive real-time ecological and evolutionary change in plant populations. *Science*, **338**, 113-116.
- Aitken, S.N., Yeaman, S., Holliday, J.A., Wang, T. & Curtis-McLane, S. (2008) Adaptation, migration or extirpation: climate change outcomes for tree populations. *Evolutionary Applications*, **1**, 95-111.
- Anderson, G. J. (1980) The status of the very rare *Prunus gravesii* Small. *Rhodora*, **82**, 133-129.
- Baker, H.G. (1965) *The Genetics of Colonizing Species*. eds Baker, H.G. & Stebbins, G.L. (Academic, New York), pp 147–169.
- Bakkenes, M., Alkemade, J.R.M., Ihle, F., Leemans, R. & Latour, J.B. (2002) Assessing effects of forecasted climate change on the diversity and distribution of European higher plants for 2050. *Global Change Biology*, **8**, 390-407.
- Baraloto, C., Forget, P.M. & Goldberg, D.E. (2005) Seed mass, seedling size and neotropical tree seedling establishment. *Journal of Ecology*, **93**, 1156–1166.
- Barnosky, A.D., Matzke, N., Tomiya, S., Wogan, G.O.U, Swartz, B., Quental, T.B., Marshall, C., McGuire,
 J.L., Lindsey, E.L., Maguire, K.C., Mersey, B. & Ferrer, E.A. (2011) Has the Earth's sixth
 mass extinction already arrived? *Nature*, 471, 51-57.
- Barrett, S.C.H. & Kohn, J.R. (1991) Genetic and evolutionary consequences of small population size in plants: implications for conservation. Pages 3-30. In: Falk, D.A. & Holsinger, K.E. (eds). Genetics and conservation of rare plants. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Baskin, C.C. & Baskin, J.M. (2014) *Seeds: Ecology, Biogeography and Evolution of Dormancy and Germination*. Second edition, Academic Press.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B. & Walker, S. (2014) *Ime4: Linear mixed-effects models using Eigen and S4*. R package, version 1.1-7. Available at [http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=Ime4].
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B. & Walker, S. (2015) Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software, **67**, 1-48.
- Bevill, R.L. & Louda, M.S. (1999) Comparisons of related rare and common species in the study of plant rarity. *Conservation Biology*, **13**, 493-498.
- Blomberg, S.P., Garland, T. & Ives, A.R. (2003) Testing for phylogenetic signal in comparative data: behavioral traits are more labile. *Evolution*, **57**, 717-745.
- Blum, J. (2016) *Ecological and Evolutionary Consequences of Changing Biodiversity. A study of multiple subtropical woody plants of Southeast China*. Doctoral Thesis, University of Bern, Switzerland.

- Bornand, C.N. (2014) *Towards understanding commonness and rarity in the Swiss flora and improving field measures of plant abundance*. Doctoral Thesis, University of Bern, Switzerland.
- Bornand C.N., Gygax A., Juillerat P., Jutzi M., Möhl A., Rometsch S., Sager L., Santiago H. & Eggenberg
 S. (2016) Liste rouge Plantes vasculaires. Espèces menacées en Suisse. OFEV, Berne & Info Flora,
 Genève. L'environnement pratique n° 1621: 178 p.
- Brändle, M., Stadler, J., Klotz, S. & Brandl, R. (2003) Distributional range size of weedy plant species is correlated to germination patterns. *Ecology*, **84**, 136-144.
- Broennimann, O., Vittoz, P., Moser, D. & Guisan, A. (2005) Rarity types among plant species with high conservation priority in Switzerland. *Botanica Helvetica*, **115**, 95-108.
- Brown, J.H. (1984) On the relationship between abundance and distribution of species. *American Naturalist*, **124**, 255-279.
- Brown, J.H., Stevens, G.C. & Kaufman, D.M. (1996) The geographic rage: size, shape, boundaries, and internal structure. *Annual Review in Ecology, Evolution & Systematics*, **27**, 597-623.
- Brown, J., Enright, N.J. & Miller, B.P. (2003) Seed production and germination in two rare and three common co-occurring Acacia species from south-east Australia. *Austral Ecology*, **28**: 271–280.
- Bucharova, A., Michalski, S., Hermann, J.-M., Heveling, K., Durka, W., Hölzel, N., Kollmann, J. & Bossdorf, O. (2016) Genetic differentiation and regional adaptation among seed origins used for grassland restoration: lessons from a multispecies transplant experiment. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12645.
- Buckley, J. & Briddle, J.R. (2014) Loss of adaptive variation during evolutionary responses to climate change. *Ecology Letters*, **17**, 1316-1325.
- Burmeier, S. & Jensen, K. (2008) Is the endangered Apium repens (Jacq.) Lag. rare because of a narrow regeneration niche? *Plant Species Biology*, **23**, 111–118.
- van Buuren, S. & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, K. (2011) mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, **45**, 1-67.
- de Candolle, A.I. (1855) *Géographie botanique raisonnée, ou exposition des faits principaux et des lois concernant la distribution géographique des plantes de l'époque actuelle.* Masson, Paris.
- Carvajal-Rodríguez, A., Rolán-Alvarez, E., Caballero, A. (2005) Quantitative variation as a tool for detecting human-induced impacts on genetic diversity. *Biological Conservation*, **124**, 1-13.
- Charlesworth, D. & Charlesworth, B. (1987) Inbreeding depression and its evolutionary consequences. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, **18**, 237-268.
- Chrobock, T., Kempel, A., Fischer, M. & van Kleunen, M. (2011) Introduction bias: cultivated alien plant species germinate faster and more abundantly than native species Switzerland. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **12**, 244-250.

- Cochrane, A., Crawford, A.D. & Monks, L.T. (2007) The significance of ex situ seed conservation to reintroduction of threatened plants. *Australian Journal of Botany*, **55**, 356-361.
- Cole, C.T. (2003) Genetic variation in rare and common plants. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, **34**, 213-237.
- Cornelissen, J.H.C., Lavorel, S., Garnier, E., Diaz, S., Buchmann, N., Gurvich, D.E., Reich, P.B., ter Steege,
 H., Morgan, H.D., van der Heijden, M.G.A., Pausas, J.G. & Poorter, H. (2003) A handbook of
 protocols for standardised and easy measurement of plant functional traits worldwide.
 Australian Journal of Botany, **51**, 335-380.
- Cornwell, W.K. & Ackerly, D.D. (2010) A link between plant traits and abundance: evidence from coastal California woody plants. 2010. *Journal of Ecology*, **98**, 814-821.
- Darwin, C. (1859) On the origin of species by means of natural selection, or the preservation of favoured races in the struggle for life. John Murray, London.
- Dawson, W., Fischer, M. & van Kleunen, M. (2012) Common and rare plant species respond differently to fertilisation and competition, whether they are alien or native. *Ecology Letters*, **8**, 873-880.
- Delarze, R., Gonseth, Y., Eggenberger, S. & Vust, M. (2015) *Lebensräume der Schweiz. Ökologie Gefährdung Kennarten*. 3rd edition. Ott Verlag, Bern, Switzerland.
- Dirzo, R. & Raven, P.H. (2003) Global state of biodiversity and loss. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, **28**, 137–167.
- Donaldson, J.S. (2009) Botanic gardens science for conservation and global change. *Trends in Plant Science*. **14**, 608-613.
- Donohue, K., Rubio de Casas, R., Burghardt, L., Kovach, K. & Willis, C.G. (2010) Germination, Postgermination Adaptation, and Species Ecological Ranges. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, **41**, 293-319.
- Dullinger, S., Willner, W., Plutzar, C., Englisch, T., Schratt-Ehrendorfer, L., Moser, D., Ertl, S., Essl, F. & Niklfeld, H. (2012) Post-glacial migration lag restricts range filling of plants in the European Alps.
 Global Ecology and Biogeography, **21**, 829-840.
- Durka, W. & Michalski, S.G. (2012) Daphne: a dated phylogeny of a large European flora for phylogenetically informed ecological analyses. *Ecology*, **93**, 2297.
- Durka, W., Michalski, S. G., Berendzen, K. W., Bossdorf, O., Bucharova, A., Hermann, J.-M., Hölzel, N. and Kollmann, J. (2016) Genetic differentiation within multiple common grassland plants supports seed transfer zones for ecological restoration. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12636.
- Dyer, A.R., Fenech, A. and Rice, K.J. (2000) Accelerated seedling emergence in interspecific competitive neighbourhoods. *Ecology Letters*, **3**, 523–529.

- Easterling, D.R., Meehl, G.A., Parmesan, C., Changnon, S.A., Karl, T.R. & Mearns, L.O. (2000). Climate extremes: observations, modelling, and impacts. *Science*, **289**, 2068-2074.
- Edwards, C.E., Lindsay, D.L., Bailey, P. & Lance, R.F. (2014) Patterns of genetic diversity in the rare *Erigeron lemmoni* and comparison with its more widespread congener, *Erigeron arisolius* (Asteraceae). *Conservation Genetics*, **15**, 419-428.
- Ellstrand, N.C. & Elam, D.R. (1993) Population genetic consequences of small population size: implications for plant conservation. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, **24**, 217-242.
- Ensslin, A., Sandner, T.M. & Matthies, D. (2011) Consequences of ex situ cultivation of plants: genetic diversity, fitness and adaptation of the monocarpic *Cynoglossum officinale* L. in botanic gardens. *Biological Conservation*, **144**, 272-278.
- Ensslin, A., Tschöpe, O., Burkart, M. & Joshi, J. (2015) Fitness decline and adaptation to novel environments in ex situ plant collections: current knowledge and future perspectives. *Biological Conservation*, **192**, 394-401.
- Falconer, D.S. & Mackay, T. (1996) Introduction to Quantitative Genetics. Longmans Green, Harlow, Essex, UK.
- Falk, D.A., Millar, C.I. & Olwell, M. (1996) *Restoring Diversity: Strategies for reintroduction of endangered plants.* Island Press. Washington.
- Falster, S.D. & Westoby, M. (2003) Plant height and evolutionary games. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **18**, 337-343.
- Fenner, M. & Thompson, K. (2005) The Ecology of Seeds. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Fiedler, P.L. (1987) Life history and population dynamics of rare and common mariposa lilies (*Calochortus* Pursch: Liliaceae). *Journal of Ecology*, **75**, 977-995.
- Fischer, M. & Matthies, D. (1998) Effects of population size on performance in the rare plant *Gentianella Germanic. Journal of Ecology*, **86**, 195-204.
- Fischer, M., van Kleunen, M. and Schmid, B. (2000) Genetic Allee effects on performance, plasticity and developmental stability in a clonal plant. *Ecology Letters*, **3**, 530–539.
- Fischer, M., Burkart, M., Pasqualetto, V. & van Kleunen, M. (2010) Experiment meets biogeography: plants of river corridor distribution are not more stress tolerant but benefit less from more benign conditions elsewhere. *Journal of Plant Ecology*, **3**, 149-155.
- Fisher, R.A. (1930). *The Genetical Theory of Natural Selection*. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- FOEN (2011) List of Priority Species at the National Level. Bern, Switzerland.
- Forsman, A. (2013) Effects on genotypic and phenotypic variation on establishment are important for conservation, invasion, and infection biology. *PNAS*, **111**, 302-307.
- Frankham, R. (1995) Conservation genetics. Annual Review of Genetics, 29, 305-327.
- Frankham, R. (1999) Quantitative genetics in conservation biology. Genetical Research, 74, 237-244.

- Frankham, R., Briscoe, D.A. & Ballou, J.D. (2002) *Introduction to conservation genetics*. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA.
- Frankham, R. (2005) Genetics and extinction. *Biological Conservation*, **126**, 131-140.
- Frankham, R., Bradshaw, C.J.A. & Brook, B.W. (2014) Genetics in conservation management: Revised recommendations for the 50/500 rules, Red List criteria and population viability analyses. *Biological Conservation*, **170**, 56-63.
- Franks, S.J., Weber, J.J. & Aitken, S.N. (2013) Evolutionary and plastic responses to climate change in terrestrial plant populations. *Evolutionary Applications*, **7**, 123-139.
- Fricke, E. C. & Wright, S. J. (2016) The mechanical defence advantage of small seeds. *Ecology Letters*, **19**, 987–991.
- Fryxell, P.A. (1957) Mode of reproduction of higher plants. *The Botanical Review*, **23**, 135-233.
- Gamfeldt, L. & Källström, B. (2007) Increasing intraspecific diversity increases predictability in population survival in the face of perturbations. *Oikos*, **116**, 700-705.
- Gaston, K.J. (1994) Rarity. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Gaston, K.J. & Blackburn, T.M. (2000) Pattern and process in macroecology. Blackwell Science Ltd.
- Gaston, K.J. (2003) The structure and dynamics of geographic ranges. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Gaudeul, M. & Till-Bottraud, I. (2003) Low selfing in a mass-flowering, endangered perennial, *Eryngium alpinum* L. (Apiaceae). *American Journal of Botany*, **90**. 716-723.
- Geber, M.A. & Griffen, L.R. (2003) Inheritance and natural selection on functional traits. *International Journal of Plant Science*, **164**, 21-42.
- Gilpin, M.E. & Soulé, M.E. (1986) Minimum Viable Populations: Processes of Species Extinction.
 Conservation Biology: The Science of Scarcity and Diversity. Sinauer, Sunderland, Mass. pp. 19–34.
- Gitzendanner, M. & Soltis, P. (2000) Patterns of genetic variation in rare and widespread plant congeners. *American Journal of Botany*, **87**, 783-792.
- Godefroid, S., Piazza, C., Rossi, G., Buord, S., Stevens, A.D., Aguraiuja, R., Cowell, C., Weekley, C.W.,
 Vogg, G., Iriondo, J.M., Johnson, I., Dixon, B., Gordon, D., Magnanon, S., Valentin, B., Bjureke, K.,
 Koopman, R., Vicens, M., Virevaire, M. & Vanderborght, T. (2011) How successful are plant
 species reintroductions? *Biological Conservation*, 144, 672-682.
- Godt, M.J.W., Johnson, B.R. & Hamrick, J.L. (1996) Genetic diversity and population size in four rare southern Appalachian plant species. *Conservation Biology*, **10**, 896-805.
- Grime, J.P. (1977) Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. *American Naturalist*, **111**, 1169-1194.
- Grime, J.P., Mason, G., Curtis, A.V., Rodman, J. & Band, S.R. (1981) A comparative study of germination characteristics in a local flora. *Journal of Ecology*, **69**, 1017-1059.

- Guerrant, E.O & Kaye, T.N. (2007) Reintroduction of rare and endangered plants: common factors, questions and approaches. *Australian Journal of Botany*, **55**, 362-370.
- Guo, Q., Brown, J. H., Valone, T. J. & Kachman, S. D. (2000) Constraints of seed size on plant distribution and abundance. *Ecology*, **81**, 2149–2155.
- Hamilton, M.B. (1994) Ex situ conservation of wild plant species: time to reassess the genetic assumptions and implications of seed banks. *Conservation Biology*, **8**, 39-49.
- Hanski, I., Kouki, J. & Halkka, A. (1993) Three explanations of the positive relationship between distribution and abundance of species. *Species diversity in ecological communities: historical and geographical perspectives.* (eds. Ricklefs, R.E. & Schluter, D.) University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp. 108–116.
- He, T., Rao, G., You, R., Ge, S. & Zhang, D. (2000) Genetic diversity of widespread Ophiopogon intermedius (Liliaceae s.l.): a comparison with endangered O. xylorrhizus. Biological Conservation, 96, 253-257.
- Helm, A., Hanski, I. & Pärtel, M. (2006) Slow response of plant species richness to habitat loss and fragmentation. *Ecology Letters*, **9**, 72–77.
- Hooper, D.U., Adair, E.C., Cardinale, B.J., Byrnes, J.E.K., Hungate, B.A., Matulich, K.L., Gonzalez, A., Duffy, J.E., Gamfeldt, L. & O'Connor, M.I. (2012) A global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. *Nature*, **486**, 105-108.
- Houle, D. (1992) Comparing evolvability and variability of quantitative traits. *Genetics*, **130**, 195-204.
- Hoyle, G.L., Steadman, L.H., Good, R.B., McIntosh, E.J., Galea, L.M.E. & Nicotra A.B. (2015) Seed germination strategies: an evolutionary trajectory independent of vegetative functional traits. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6, 731.
- Hughes, A.R., Inouye, B.D., Johnson, M.T.J., Underwood, N. & Vellend, M. (2008) Ecological consequences of genetic diversity. *Ecology Letters*, **11**, 609–623.
- Info Flora (2016) Empfehlungen zur ex situ-Erhaltung und Ansiedlung gefährdeter Pflanzen Version: 2017. Available at [https://www.infoflora.ch/de/assets/content/documents/Exsitu_Introduction_D_F_I/InfoFlora_Empfehlungen_Ansiedlung.pdf].
- IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Isbell, F., Calcagno, V., Hector, A., Connolly, J., Harpole, W.S., Reich, P.B., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Schmid,
 B., Tilman, D., van Ruijven, J., Weigelt, A., Wilsey, B.J., Zavaleta, E.S. & Loreau, M. (2011) High
 plant diversity is needed to maintain ecosystem services. *Nature*, 477, 199-202.
- IUCN (2012). *IUCN Red List Categories and Criteria: Version 3.1*. Second edition. Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK.

- Johnson, M.T.J., Agrawal, A.A., Maron, J.L. & Salminen, J.-P. (2009) Heritability, covariation and natural selection on 24 traits of common evening primrose (*Oenothera beiennis*) from a field experiment. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, **22**, 1295-1307.
- Johnson, M.T.J., Dinnage, R., Zhou, A.Y. & Hunter, M.D. (2008) Environmental variation has stronger effects than plant genotype on competition among plant species. *Journal of Ecology*, **96**, 947-955.
- Julve, P. (1998) *Baseflor: index botanique, écologique et chorologique de la flore de France*. Version: 2015. Available at [http://perso.wanadoo.fr/philippe.julve/catminat.htm].
- Jump, A.S. & Peñuelas, J. (2005) Running to stand still: adaptation and the response of plants to rapid climate change. *Ecology Letters*, **8**, 1010-1020.
- Jump, A.S., Mátyás, C. & Peñuelas, J. (2009) The altitude-for-latitude disparity in the range retractions of woody species. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **24**, 694-701.
- Karron, J.D. (1987) A comparison of levels of genetic polymorphism and self-compatibility in geographycally restricted and widespread plant congeners. *Evolutionary Ecology*, **1**, 47-58.
- Karron, J.D. (1991) Patterns of genetic variation and breeding systems in rare plant species. In: *Genetics and conservation of rare plants*. Oxford University Press. Eds: Falk & Holsinger. pp. 87-98.
- Keddy, P.A. (1992) Assembly and response rules: two goals for predictive community ecology. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **3**, 157-164.
- Kiflawi, M., Enquist, B.J. & Jordan, M.A. (2000) Position within the geographic range, relative local abundance and developmental instability. *Ecography*, **23**, 539-546.
- van Kleunen, M., Dawson, W., Bossdorf, O. & Fischer, M. (2014) The more the merrier: multi-species experiments in ecology. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **15**, 1-9.
- Knapp, A.K., Beier, B., Briske, D.D., Classen, A.T., Luo, Y., Reichstein, M., Smith, M.D., Smith, S.D., Bell,
 J.E., Fay, P.A., Heisler, J.L., Leavitt, S.W., Sherry, R., Smith, B. & Weng, E. (2008) Consequences of more extreme precipitation regimes for terrestrial ecosystems. *BioScience*, 58, 811-821.
- Körner, C. (2007) The use of 'altitude' in ecological research. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **22**, 569-574.
- Kunin, W.E. & Gaston, K.J. (1997) *The biology of rarity. Causes and consequences of rare-common differences.* Chapman & Hall, London.
- Lande, R. (1993) Risks of population extinction from demographic and environmental stochasticity and random catastrophes. *American Naturalist*, **142**, 911-927.
- Landolt, E., Bäumler, B., Erhardt, A., Hegg, O., Klötzli, F., Lämmler, W., Nobis, M., Rudmann-Maurer, K., Schweingruber, F.H., Theurillat, J., Urmi, E., Vust, M. & Wohlgemuth, T. (2010) *Flora indicativa, ecological indicator values and biological attributes of the flora of Switzerland and the Alps.*

Haupt Verlag, Bern. Edition des Conservatoire et Jardin botaniques de la Ville de Genève, Genève.

Lauber, K., Wagner, G. & Gygax, A. (2012) *Flora Helvetica*. 5th edition. Haupt Verlag, Bern, Switzerland.

- Lauterbach, D., Burkart, M. & Gemeinholzer, B. (2012) Rapid genetic differentiation between ex situ and their in situ source populations: an example of the endangered *Silene otites* (Caryophyllaceae). *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, **168**, 64–75.
- Lavergne, S., Garnier, E. & Debussche, M. (2003) Do rock endemic and widespread plant species differ under the Leaf-Height-Seed plant ecology strategy scheme? *Ecology Letters*, **6**, 384-404.
- Lavergne, S., Thompson, J.D., Garnier, E. & Debussche, M. (2004) The biology and ecology of narrow endemic and widespread plants: a comparative study of trait variation in 20 congeneric pairs. *Oikos*, **107**, 505-518.
- Lebrija-Trejos, E., Reich, P. B., Hernández, A. & Wright, S. J. (2016) Species with greater seed mass are more tolerant of conspecific neighbours: a key driver of early survival and future abundances in a tropical forest. *Ecology Letters*, **19**, 1071–1080.
- Lee-Yaw, J.A., Kharouba, H.M., Bontrager, M., Mahony, C., Csergő, A.M., Noreen, A.M.E., Li, Q., Schuster, R. & Angert, A.L. (2016) A synthesis of transplant experiments and ecological niche models suggests that range limits are often niche limits. *Ecology Letters*, **19**, 710–722.
- Leimu, R., Mutikainen, P., Koricheva, J. & Fischer, M. (2006) How general are positive relationships between plant population size, fitness and genetic variation? *Journal of Ecology*, **94**, 942-952.
- Leishman, M.R., Wright, I.J., Moles, A.T. & Westoby, M. (2000). The Evolutionary Ecology of Seed Size. Seeds: the ecology of regeneration in plant communities, 2nd edition. (ed. Fenner, M.) CAB International.
- Lesica, P. & Allendorf, F.W. (1999) Ecological genetics and the restoration of plant communities: mix or mismatch? *Restoration Ecology*, **7**, 42-50.
- Levin, D.A. (1970) Developmental instability and evolution in peripheral isolates. *The American Naturalist*, **104**, 343-353.
- Lokesha, R., Hegde, S.G., Shaanker, R.U. & Ganeshaiah, K.N. (1992) Dispersal mode as a selective force in shaping the chemical composition of seeds. *American Naturalist*, **140**, 520-525.
- Loreau, M. & Hector, A. (2001) Partitioning selection and complementarity in biodiversity experiments. *Nature*, **421**, 72-76.
- Luna, B. & Moreno, J.M. (2010) s. *Plant Ecology*, **210**, 85-95.
- Luna, B., Pérez, B., Torres, I. & Moreno, J.M. (2012) Effects of incubation temperature on seed germination of Mediterranean plants with different geographical distribution ranges. *Folia Geobotanica*, **47**, 17-27.

Maschinski, J. & Haskins, K.E. (2012) *Plant reintroduction in a changing climate – Promises and Perils*. Island Press, Washington. Covelo, London.

Maunder, M. (1992). Plant reintroduction: an overview. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 1, 51-61.

Mayr, E. (1963) Animal species and their Evolution. Belknap Press, Cambridge.

- McGill, B.J., Etienne, R.S., Gray, J.S., Alonso, D., Anderson, M.J., Benecha, H.K., Dornelas, M., Enquist,
 B.J., Green, J.L., He, F., Hurlbert, A.H., Magurran, A.E., Marquet, P.A., Maurer, B.A., Ostling, A.,
 Soykan, C.U., Ugland, K.I. & White, E.P. (2007) Species abundance distributions: moving beyond
 single prediction theories to integration within an ecological framework. *Ecology Letters*, 10, 995–1015.
- MEA (2005) *Millennium ecosystem Assessment: Synthesis Report on Biodiversity*. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.
- Melbourne, B.A. & Hastings, A. (2008) Extinction risk depends strongly on factors contributing to stochasticity. *Nature*, **454**, 100-103.
- Menges, E.S. (2008) Turner Review no. 16: Restoration demography and genetics of plants: when is a translocation successful? *Australian Journal of Botany*, **56**, 187-196.
- Metz, J., Liancourt, P., Kigel, J., Harel, D., Sternberg, M. & Tielbörger, K. (2010) Plant survival in relation to seed size along environmental gradients: a long-term study from semi-arid and Mediterranean annual plant communities. *Journal of Ecology*, **98**, 697–704.
- Moles, A.T. & Westoby, M. (2004) Seedling survival and seed size: a synthesis of the literature. *Journal of Ecology*, **92**, 372–383.
- Moser, D.M., Gygax, A., Bäumler, B., Wyler, N. & Palese, R. (2002) *Rote Liste der gefährdeten Arten der Schweiz. Farn- und Blütenpflanzen*. BUWAL, Bern.
- Muller-Landau, H.C. (2010) The tolerance-fecundity trade-off and the maintenance of diversity in seed size. *PNAS*, **107**, 4242-4247.
- Murray, B.R., Thrall, P.H., Malcom Gill, A. & Nicotra, A.B. (2002) How plant life-history traits and ecological traits relate to species rarity and commonness at varying spatial scales. *Austral Ecology*, **27**, 291-310.
- Nicotra, A.B., Atkin, O.K., Bonser, S.P., Davidson, A.M., Finnegan, E.J., Mathesius, U., Poot, P., Purugganan, M.D., Richards, C.L., Valladares, F. & van Kleunen, M. (2010) Plant phenotypic plasticity in a changing climate. *Trends in Plant Science*, **12**, 684-692.
- Noël, F., Prati, D., van Kleunen, M., Gygax, A., Moser, D. & Fischer, M. (2011) Establishment success of
 25 rare wetland species introduced into restored habitats is best predicted by ecological distances to source habitats. *Biological Conservation*, **144**, 602-609.
- Olsson, K., Stenroth, P., Nyström, P. & Granéli, W. (2009) Invasions and niche width: does niche width of an introduced crayfish differ from a native crayfish? *Freshwater Biology*, **54**, 1731-1740.

- Oostermeijer, J.G.B., van Eijck, M.W. & den Nijs, J.C.M. (1994) Offspring fitness in relation to population size and genetic variation in the rare perennial plant species *Gentiana penumonanthe* (Gentianaceae). *Oecologia*, **97**, 289-296.
- Ouborg, N.J. & van Treuren, R. (1994) The significance of genetic variation in the process of extinction.
 IV. Inbreeding load and heterosis in relation to population size in the mint *Salvia pratensis*.
 Evolution, **48**, 996-1008.
- Pakeman, R.J., Garnier, E., Lavorel, S., Ansquer, P., Castro, H., Cruz, P., Doležal, J., Eriksson, O., Freitas,
 H., Golodets, C., Kigel, J., Kleyer, M., Lepš, J., Meier, T., Papadimitriou, M., Papanastasis, V.P.,
 Quested, H., Quétier, F., Rusch, G., Sternberg, M., Theau, J.-P., Thébault, A. & Vile, D. (2008)
 Impact of abundance weighting on the response of seed traits to climate and land use. *Journal of Ecology*, **96**, 355–366.
- Pearman, P.B., Randin, C.F., Broennimann, O., Vittoz, P., van der Knaap, W.O., Engler, R., Lay, G.L., Zimmermann, N.E. & Guisan, A. (2008) Prediction of plant species distributions across six millennia. *Ecology Letters*, **11**, 357-369.
- Pertoldi, C., Bijlsma, R. & Loeschcke, V. (2007) Conservation genetics in a globally changing environment: present problems, paradoxes and future challenges. *Biodiversity Conservation*, **16**, 4147-4163.
- Petit, C., Fréville, H., Mignot, A., Colas, B., Riba, M., Imbert, E., Hurtrez-Boussés, S., Virevaire, M. & Olivieri, I. (2001) Gene flow and local adaptation in two endemic plant species. *Biological Conservation*, **100**, 21-34.
- Petitpierre, B., Kueffer, C., Broennimann, O., Randin, C., Daehler, C. & Guisan, A. (2012). Climatic niche shifts are rare among terrestrial plant invaders. *Science*, **355**, 1344-1348.
- Pimm, S.I, Russell, G. J., Gittelman, J. L. & Brooks, T. M. (1995) The Future of Biodiversity. *Science*, **269**, 347-350.
- Pimm, S.L., Jenkins, C.N., Abell, R., Brooks, T.M., Gittleman, J.L., Joppa, L.N., Haven, P.H., Roberts, C.M.
 & Sexton, J.O. (2014) The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. *Science*, **344**, 1246752.
- Pitman, N.C.A & Jørgensen, P.M. (2002) Estimating the size of the wolrd's threatened flora. *Science*, **298**, 989.
- van der Plas, F., Manning, P., Allan, E., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Verheyen, K., Wirth, C., Zavala, M.A., Hector, A., Ampoorter, E., Baeten, L., Barbaro, L., Bauhus, J., Benavides, R., Benneter, A., Berthold, F., Bonal, D., Bouriaud, O., Bruelheide, H., Bussotti, F., Carnol, M., Castagneyrol, B., Charbonnier, Y., Coomes, D., Coppi, A., Bastias, C.C., Dawud, S.M., de Wandeler, H., Domisch, T., Finér, L., Gessler, A., Granier, A., Grossiord, C., Guyot, V., Hättenschwiler, S., Jactel, H., Jaroszewicz, B., Joly, F.X., Jucker, T., Koricheva, J., Milligan, H., Müller, S., Muys, B., Nguyen, D.,

Pollastrini, M., Raulund-Rasmussen, K., Selvi, F., Stenlid, J., Valladares, F., Vesterdal, L., Zielínski, D. & Fischer, M. (2016) Jack-of-all-trades effects drive biodiversity-ecosystem multifunctionality relationships in European forests. *Nature Communications*, **7**, doi:10.1038/ncomms11109.

- Pons, T.L. (2000) Seed responses to light. *Seeds: the ecology of regeneration in plant communities, 2nd edition*. (ed. Fenner, M.) CAB International.
- Prati, D., Peintinger, M. & Fischer, M. (2016) Genetic composition, genetic diversity and small-scale environmental variation matter for the experimental reintroduction of a rare plant. *Journal of plant ecology*, **9**, 805-813.
- Price, M.V. & Waser, N.M. (1979) Pollen dispersal and optimal outcrossing in *Celphinium nelson*, *Nature*, **277**, 294-297.
- R Core Team (2014) *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available at [https://www.R-project.org].
- R Core Team (2016). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available at [https://www.R-project.org].
- Razanajatovo, M., Maurel, N., Dawson, W., Essl, F., Kreft, H., Pergl, J., Pyšek, P., Weigelt, P., Winter, M.
 & van Kleunen, M. (2016) Plants capable of selfing are more likely to become naturalized. *Nature Communications*, 7, doi:10.1038/ncomms13313.
- Reed, D.H. & Frankham, R. (2001) How closely correlated are molecular and quantitative measures of genetic variation? A meta-analysis. *Evolution*, **55**, 1095–1103.
- Reed, D.H. (2004) Extinction risk in fragmented habitats. Animal Conservation, 7, 181-191.
- Rees, M. (1996) Evolutionary ecology of seed dormancy and seed size. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences*, **351**, 1299-1308.
- Ross, M.A. & Harper, J.L. (1972) Occupation of biological space during seedling establishment. *Journal of Ecology*, **60**, 77-88.
- Sala, O.E., Chapin, F.S., Arnesto, J.J., Berlow, E., Bloompeld, J., Dirzo, R., Huber-Sanwald, E., Huenneke,
 L.F., Jackson, R.B., Kinzig, A., Leemans, R., Lodge, D.M., Mooney, H.A., Oesterheld, M., Poff, N.L.,
 Sykes, M.T., Walker, B.H., Walker, M. & Wall, D.H. (2000) Global biodiversity scenarios for the
 year 2100. *Science*, 287, 1770-1774.
- SCBD (2010) *Global Strategy for Plant Conservation*. Updated Strategy 2011-2020. Available at [http://www.cbd.int/gspc/about.shtml].
- Schaal, B.A., Leverich, W.J. & Rogstad, S.H. (1991) A comparison of methods for assessing genetic variation in plant conservation biology. In: *Genetics and Conservation of Rare Plants* (ed. D.A. Falk, K.E. Holsinger). New York: Oxford University Press. pp. 123-134.
- Siikamaki, P. & Lammi, A. (1998) Fluctuating asymmetry in central and marginal populations of *Lychnis viscaria* in relation to genetic and environmental factors. *Evolution*, **52**, 1285-1292.

- Simon, M.F. & Hay, J.D.V. (2003) Comparison of a common and rare species of Mimosa (Mimosaceae) in Central Brazil. *Austral Ecology*, **28**, 315-326.
- Slatyer, R.A., Hirst, M. & Sexton, P.J. (2013) Niche breadth predicts geographical range size: a general ecological pattern. *Ecology Letters*, **16**, 1104-1114.
- Smith, S.E., Riley, E., Tiss, J.L. & Fendenheim, D.M. (2000) Geographical variation in predictive seedling emergence in a perennial desert grass. *Journal of Ecology*, **88**, 139–149.
- South, D.B. & Zwolinski, J.B. (1996) Transplant Stress Index: A proposed method of quantifying planting check. *New Forests*, **13**, 311-324.
- Spielman, D., Brook, B.W. & Frankham, R. (2004) Most species are not driven to extinction before genetic factors impact them. *PNAS*, **101**, 15261-15264.
- Stekhoven D. J., & Buehlmann, P. (2012). MissForest non-parametric missing value imputation for mixed-type data. *Bioinformatics*, **28**, 112-118.
- Storfer, A. (1996) Quantitative genetics: a promising approach for the assessment of genetic variation in endangered species. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **11**, 343-348.
- Taberlet, P.N., Zimmermann, E., Englisch, T., Tribsch, A., Holderegger, R., Alvarez, N., Niklfeld, H., Coldea, G., Mirek, Z., Moilanen, A., Ahlmer, W., Marsan, P.A., Bona, E., Bovio, M., Choler, P., Cieslak, E., Colli, L., Cristea, V., Dalmas, J.P., Frajman, B., Garraud, L., Gaudeul, M., Gielly, L., Gutermann, W., Jogan, N., Kagalo, A.A., Korbecka, G., Küpger, P., Lequette, B., Letz, D.R., Manel, S., Nansion, G., Marhold, K., Martini, F., Negrini, R., Niño, F., Paun, O., Pellecchia, M., Perico, G., Piekos-Mikrowa, H., Prosser, F., Pusças, M., Ronikier, M., Schuerer, M., Schneeweiss, G.M., Schönswetter, P., Schratt-Ehrendorfer, L., Schüpfer, F., Selvaggi, A., Steinmann, K., Thiel-Egenter, C., van Loo, M., Winkler, M., Wohlgemuth, T., Wraber, T., Gugerli, F., IntraBioDiv Consortium & Vellend, M. (2012) Genetic diversity in widespread species is not congruent with species richness in alpine plant communities. *Ecology Letters*, **15**, 1439-1448.
- Thomas, J.A., Telfer, M.G., Roy, D.B., Preston, C.D., Greenwood, J.J.D., Asher, J., Fox, R., Clarke, R.T. & Lawton, J.H. (2004) Comparative losses of British butterflies, birds, and plants and the global extinction crisis. *Science*, **303**, 1879-1881.
- Thomas, C.D., Cameron, A., Green, R.E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L.J., Collingham, Y.C. Erasmus, B.F.N.,
 Ferreira de Siqueira, M., Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L., Huntley, B., van Jaarsveld, A.S.,
 Midgley, G.F., Miles, L., Ortega-Huerta, M.A., Peterson, A.T., Phillips, O.L. & Williams, S.E. (2004).
 Extinction risk from climate change. *Nature*, 427, 145-18.
- Thompson, K. & Ceriani, R.M. (2003) No relationship between range size and germination niche width in the UK herbaceous flora. *Functional Ecology*, **17**, 335-339.
- Thuiller, W., Lavorel, S., Araújo, M.B., Sykes, M.T. & Prentice, C. (2005) Climate change threats to plant diversity in Europe. *PNAS*, **102**, 8245-8250.

- Tooker, J.F. & Steven, D.F. (2012) Genotypically diverse cultivar mixtures for insect pest management and increased crop yields. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **49**, 974-985.
- Turkington, R., Goldberg, D.E., Olsvig-Whittaker, L. & Dyer, A.R. (2005) Effects of density on timing of emergence and its consequences for survival and growth in two communities of annual plants. *Journal of Arid Environments*, **61**, 377-396.
- Verdú, M. & Traveset, A. (2005) Early emergence enhances plant fitness: a phylogenetically controlled meta-analysis. *Ecology*, **86**, 1385–1394.
- Vergeer, P., Sonderen, E. & Ouborg, J. (2004) Introduction Strategies put to the test: Local adaptation versus heterosis. *Conservation Biology*, **18**, 812-821.
- Vergeer, P., van den Berg, L.J.L., Roelofs, J.G.M. & Ouborg, N.J. (2005) Single-Family versus Multi-Family introductions. *Plant Biology*, **7**, 509-515.
- Visscher, P.M., Hill, W.G. & Wray, N.R. (2008) Heritability in the genomics era concepts and misconceptions. *Nature Review Genetics*, **9**, 255-266.
- Waldmann, P. & Andersson, S. (1998) Comparison of quantitative genetic variation and allozyme diversity within and between populations of *Scabiosa canescens* and *S. columbaria*. *Heredity*, **81**, 79-86.
- Webb, T.J. & Gaston, K.J. (2003) On the heritability of geographic range sizes. *American Naturalist*, **164**, 553-566.
- Weeks, A.R., Sgro, C.M., Young, A.G., Frankham, R., Mitchell, N.J., Miller, K.A., Byrne, M., Coates, D.J.,
 Eldridge, M.D.B., Sunnucks, P., Breed, M.F., James, E.A. & Hoffmann, A.A. (2011) Assessing the
 benefits and risks of translocations in changing environments: a genetic perspective.
 Evolutionary Applications, 4, 709–725.
- Weiher, E., van der Werf, A., Thompson, K., Roderick, M., Garnier, E. & Eriksson, O. (1999). Challenging
 Theophrastus: A common core list of plant traits for functional ecology. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **10**, 609-620.
- Weiner, J. (1985) Size hierarchies in experimental populations of annual plants. *Ecology*, **66**, 743-752.
- Widén, B. & Andersson, S. (1993) Quantitative genetics of life-history and morphology in a rare plant, Senecio integrifolius. Heredity, 70, 503-514.
- Wiens, J.J. & Graham, C.H. (2005) Niche conservatism: integrating evolution, ecology and conservation biology. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution & Systematics*, **36**, 519-539.
- Willis, J.C. (1922) *Age and Area. A study in geographical distribution and origin of* species. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Witkowski, E.T.F. & Lamont, B.B. (1997) Does the rare *Banksia goodii* have inferior vegetative, reproductive or ecological attributes compared with its widespread co-occurring relative *B. gardneri? Journal of Biogeography*, **24**, 469-482.

- Wolf, C.M., Griffith, B., Reed, C. & Temple, S.A. (1996) Avian and mammalian translocations: update and reanalysis of 1987 survey data. *Conservation Biology*, **10**, 1142-1154.
- Zhu, Y., Chen, H., Fan, J., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Chen, J., Fan, J., Yang, S., Hu, L., Leung, H., Mew, T.W., Teng,
 P.S., Wang, Z. & Mundt, C.C. (2000) Genetic diversity and disease control in rice. *Nature*, 406, 718-722.
- Zimmermann, N.E. & Kienast, F. (1999) Predictive mapping of alpine grasslands in Switzerland: species versus community approach. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **10**, 469-482.

Züst, T., Heichinger, C., Grossniklaus, U., Harrington, R., Klienbenstein, D.J. & Turnbull, L.A. (2012) Natural ennemies drive geographic variation in plant defenses. *Science*, **338**, 116-119.

Acknowledgements

A PhD represents a huge amount of personal work and investment, however none of this would have happened without the contributions and the support of many people throughout the years, and I would like to express my most sincere gratitude to them.

First of all, I am very thankful to my supervisor Markus for giving me the opportunity to join such an exciting and motivating project in a great working group. Coming from an evolutionary biology background, the adaptation to an ecology group was not easy at the start but I am more than happy to have discovered so many new and interesting topics and approaches. Moving to Bern has led to major changes in both my professional and personal life, for the better, and the starting point of this new life is a phone call from you, asking me "what do you do on October 19th, want to come for an interview?". Thank you for leading the way towards autonomy, and for all your advice which I think greatly improved my writing and scientific skills.

I am very grateful to my supervisor Anne for all the support during these long years. A large part of the work I have done would probably not exist without your investment in this project. Thank you for your help in designing and performing all the experiments, at a point where I was not quite autonomous and serious enough, it's your motivation and your energy which made us achieve so much work. Thank you for your helpful comments and all the time and efforts you have put into my manuscripts, for the 'heads up' Skype meetings, for your patience and your kindness.

I thank all the colleagues, students and the technical assistants who contributed to the success of our experiments for their help and their enthusiasm, no matter at what time we would start, how interesting and fun or boring and difficult the work would be, or if we had to travel half the country to finally turn back because the pond wasn't deep enough for these picky rare species, you made these long sowing, transplanting or harvesting days some of the best memories of my PhD.

I owe the transformation from being a young student not attending most of his lessons to being about to complete a PhD, to all the people who shared their passion with me in the last ten years. I would like to thank my teachers in Toulouse, and the team of the Botanical Garden Henri Gaussen, for making me discover the wonderful world of plants. I am also very thankful to my teachers and supervisors in Montpellier, for all they have taught me, for raising my interest in understanding general patterns in ecology and evolution, and for sowing in me the crazy idea of continuing my studies with a PhD.

Working in a research institute would not be possible without all the work done by its staff, from the house keepers preventing the whole thing to fall apart and the cleaning team enlightening every morning with a smile, to the secretaries who have one of the most difficult job dealing with us scientists. I am particularly grateful to

Helga, for always being present when we need you and always having answers to our questions, thank you for your kind and motivating words.

Our institute, located in the Botanical Garden of Bern, is by far the nicest I have visited, and I would like to thank the whole BOGA team, not only for taking care of some of my experiments but also for providing us with such a pleasant work environment. It is also a great thing to share the Botanical Garden with Info flora, thank you for the discussions about our project, all the data and help you provided. Your work and your efforts to promote botany and the conservation of plants species are remarkable.

One thing I will certainly remember from these years at the Institute of Plant Sciences, is the wonderful atmosphere in our group, and I am very, very grateful to all my colleagues. As my PhD lasted a little bit longer than the average, I have met and worked with many amazing and inspiring people, too many so I don't dare to write all the names without being afraid to forget someone. Thank you all, for your support and your energy, for the scientific discussions and emulation, for all the fun, the parties, the swims in the Aare, and for everything else.

From the IPS, I would like to thank a few people in particular: Christophe, for your passion and for our discussions about plant rarity and much more, your PhD thesis is among the most interesting and comprehensive work I have read on this topic; Dani, for your great help with my analyses, for always answering all my questions, for the discussions and the relaxing silences during our smoking breaks on the balcony; Caterina, for all your help with R, for listening to my complaints and being always so motivating and reassuring; Andi, Gemma, Juliet, Lisanna, Marion, Noémie and Rubén for the balcony and coffee-room discussions, for all these moments sharing our latest adventures, our anger and worries, for the laughter, things would have been a lot harder without you; my office mates Anne, Malte, Petr and Tobias for such a nice atmosphere, for your interest in my work and for your support, with very special thoughts for Steffen, I miss you here; Santi, for all the strength and self-confidence you gave me, for the best Christmas eves I've ever had, and for bringing so much happiness in this Institute by simply being here and being yourself; Eric, thank you for being such a friend, for all the help with my PhD, for your support which helped me a lot handling the difficult times I've been through at work and in my private life, for triggering the change which allowed me to finish, and for all the 'final ones'.

I would like to thank all the people out of the IPS who contributed a lot to make my life in Bern as good as it is, and in particular: Philip, it was really great to share with you my first years here; Romy, Carmen and Fritz for your support, your kindness and for making me feel part of your family; Diana and Pawel, thank you so much for your support, and all the good times we have spent together since my very first day in Bern; Sylvain, for the many ski touring days we had together and those to come, and for all these great moment shared with you; Adrien, for always being around and supportive, for your generosity and for being such a motivating and positive person.

I am immensely grateful to the mountains, for being the most wonderful metaphor of life, for accepting me without any major incident so far, for all they have given to me, teaching me patience, how to become a stronger

person, how to deal with fear and failure, for so many moments of pure happiness and so many dreams. I would like to thank my climbing, skiing and alpinism partners for our adventures, in particular: Thomas, with whom I shared some of the most beautiful and some of the most miserable days out there, thank you for your strength, and for your support regarding my PhD; Heike, for sharing your love of frozen waterfalls and for pushing me to dream big and believe in myself; and all the people who give me the opportunity to work as an outdoor photographer, in particular Isabelle, thank you for being so motivating and for your trust.

I thank my friend Mathieu. Since I know you, I have been through a lot of good and hard times and none of them would have been the same without you by my side. Thank you for all the laughter, for the neurons we have forever lost, for all our discussions about plants, science, spirituality, human nature and everything else, for your help and support during my PhD and all these years.

I thank my family, in particular: Adrien and Jean for your presence, for your interest in my work and your support, and simply for being family; Jean-Baptiste, for our maybe too rare but vital contacts, for your motivating and very supportive words; Liam, for showing me that no matter what happens, life goes on.

Lastly, I want to express my deepest feelings and gratitude to Debi. Thank you so much for everything you've done for me, for all the love and care you have given me. Thank you for your unbelievable support in the hardest times of these last four years, for not giving up when I was about to, for doing all you could to stand strong when I couldn't anymore, for telling me how much you believe in me. And thank you for all the wonderful moments we share, for all the happiness and sunshine you bring into my life.

Declaration of consent

on the basis of Article 28 para. 2 of the RSL05 phil.-nat.

Name/first name:	Vincent Hugo
Matriculation number:	12-126-520
Study program:	Ecology & Evolution
Title of the thesis:	Experimental comparisons among very rare to widespread species of Switzerland
Supervisors:	Prof. Dr. Markus Fischer
	Dr. Anne Kempel

I declare herewith that this thesis is my own work and that I have not used any sources other than those stated. I have indicated the adoption of quotations as well as thoughts taken from other authors as such in the thesis. I am aware that the Senate pursuant to Article 36 para. 1 lit. r of the University Act of 5 September, 1996 is authorised to revoke the title awarded on the basis of this thesis. I allow herewith inspection in this thesis.

Bern, 25.04.2017

Hugo Vincent

Curriculum vitae

Name: Vincent First name: Hugo Date of birth: February 15th 1989 Nationality: French

Education:

2012-2017 University of Bern, Switzerland PhD thesis "Experimental comparisons among very rare to widespread plant species of Switzerland" Supervisors: Markus Fischer and Anne Kempel

2009-2011 University of Montpellier, France Master in Biodiversity, Ecology and Evolution Research projects: "Maintain of the flower color polymorphism in *Iris lutescens*" Supervisor: Eric Imbert "Variability of the mating systems in a constitutive tolerant species to heavy metals, *Noccaea caerulescens*" Supervisors: Isabelle Olivieri, Agnès Mignot, Christophe Petit and Ophélie Ronce

- 2006-2009 University Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, France
 Bachelor in Biology of Organisms, Populations and Ecosystems
 Research project:
 "Evolution of the mating systems in rare and endangered Anchusa species"
 Supervisor: Angélique Quilichini
- Publication: Imbert, E., Wang, H., Conchou, L., Vincent, H., Talavera, M. & Schatz, B. (2014) Positive effect of the yellow morph on female reproductive success in the flower colour polymorphic *Iris lutescens* (Iridaceae), a deceptive species. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 27, 1965-1974.